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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Annual Report on Form 1 0-K includes forward-looking statements witlhin the meaning of Section 27 A of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and Section 21£ of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), 
that relate to future events or our future financial performance regarding, among other things, the plans; strategies and prospects; both 
business and financial, of the Company. These statements are based on the beliefs and assumptions of our management team. 
Although we believe that our plans, intentions and expectations reflected in or suggested by these forward-looking statements are 
reasonable, we cannot assure you that we will achieve or realize these plans, intentions or expectations. Forward-looking statements 
are inherently subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Generally, statements that are not historical facts, including statements 
concerning possible or assumed future actions, business strategies, events or results of operations, are forward-looking statements. 
These statements may be preceded by, followed by or include the words "believes," "estimates," "expects," "projects," "forecasts," 
"may," "will," "should," "seeks," "plans," "scheduled," "anticipates" or "intends" or similar expressions. Forward-looking statements 
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, statements about: 

• the success, cost and timing of our product development activities; 

• the commercialization and adoption of our existing products and the success of our future product offerings, including the 
degree to which our products and services are accepted and used by healthcare professionals; 

• the potential attributes and benefits of our products and services, including the clinical evidence supporting those benefits, 
and our ability to generate clinical evidence of the benefits of our products and services; 

• our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval for our products, and any related restrictions and limitations of any 
approved product; 

• our intellectual property rights; 

• our ability to identify, in-license or acquire additional technology; 

• our ability to maintain our existing licensing, manufacturing and supply agreements and to obtain adequate supply of 
products; 

• our ability to compete with other companies currently marketing or engaged in the development of magnetic resonance 
imaging technologies, many of which have greater financial and marketing resources than us; 

• the size and growth potential of the markets for our products and services, and the ability of our products and services to 
serve those markets, either alone or in partnership with others; 

• our expansion plans and our ability to grow and manage growth profitably; 

• the pricing of our products and services and reimbursement for medical procedures conducted using our products and 
services; 

• changes in applicable laws or regulations; 

• our estimates regarding expenses, revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional fmancing; 

• our ability to raise fmancing in the future and the effects of future raises; 

• our future perfonnance, including our financial performance; 

• our success in retaining or recruiting, or changes required in, our officers, key employees or directors; 

• intense competition and competitive pressures from other companies in the industry in which we operate; 

• market conditions and global and economic factors , such as inflation , geopolitical conflicts, and instability; 

• the effect of legal, tax and regulatory changes; 

• anticipa ted National Institutes of Health funding pressures; and 
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• the expected effect from U.S. export controls and tariffs. 
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These and other factors that could cause actual results to differ from those implied by the forward-looking statements in this Annual 
Report on form lO-K are more fully described in Item lAunder the heading "Risk Factors." The risks described under the heading 
"Risk Factors" are not exhaustive. Other sections of this Annual Report on Fom1 I 0-K, such as the description of our Business set 
forth in Item I and our Management's Discussion and Analysis of financial Condition and Results of Operations set forth in Item 7 
describe additional factors that could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. New risk factors 
emerge from time to time, and it is not possible to predict all such risk factors, nor can we assess the impact of all such risk factors on 
our business or the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause actual results to differ materially from those 
contained in any forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of perfonnance. You should not put 
undue reliance on these statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. A ll forward-looking statements attributable to the 
Company or persons acting on the Company's behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the foregoing cautionary statements. 
We undertake no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new infonnation, 
future events or otherwise, except as required by law. 

5 



SUMMARY OF RISK FACTORS 

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that you should consider before investing in our securities. Some of the 
principal risk factors are summarized below: 

• We are an early-stage health technology company with a history of net losses, which we expect to continue, and we may not 
be able to generate meaningful revenues or achieve and sustain profitability in the future. 

• We may need to raise ad!ditional capital to fund conunercialization plans for our products, including manufacturing, sales and 
marketing activities, expand our investments in research and development, develop clinical evidence, and commercialize new 
products and applications. 

• Our success depends upon market acceptance of our products and services, our ability to develop and commercialize existing 
and new products and services and generate revenues, and our abili ty to identify new markets for our technology. 

• Health technology development is costly and involves continual teclmological change, which may render our current or 
future products obsolete. 

• We will be dependent upon the success of our sales and customer acquisition and retention strategies. 

• If we do not successfully manage the commercialization of our products and services, including continuing to build our sales 
force, and the development and launch of new products and services, we will not meet the long tenn forecasts and our 
business, operating and financial results and condition could be adversely affected. 

• If we are unable to attract, recruit, train, retain, motivate and integrate key personnel and expand our organization, our 
operations may be disrupted, and we may not achieve our goals. 

• We have limited experience in marketing and selling our products and related services, and if we are unable to successfully 
commercialize our products and related services, our business and operating results will be adversely affected. 

• We rely on a single contract manufacturer, Benchmark Electronics, Inc. ("Benchmark"), to test, assemble and supply our 
finished products. If Benchmark fails to fulfi ll its obligations under its existing contractual arrangements with us or does not 
perform satisfactorily, our ability to source our devices could be negatively and adversely affected. 

• We rely on a limited number of suppliers for our products. A loss of any of these suppliers could negatively affect our 
business. 

• We have experienced and may continue to experience pricing pressures from contract suppliers or manufacturers on which 
we rely. 

• If we do not successfully optimize and operate our sales and potential future distribution channels or we do not effectively 
expand and update our infrastructure, our operating results and customer experience may be negatively impacted. 

• The market for our products and services is new, rapidly evolving, and increasingly competitive, as the healthcare industry in 
the United States is undergoing significant structural change, whicb makes it difficult to forecast demand for our products 
and services. 

• As international expansion of our business occurs, it will expose us to market, regulatory, political, operational, fmancial and 
econom.ic risks associated with doing business outside of the United States. 

• Unfavorable global economic conditions could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. 

• We are subject to extensive government regulation, which could restrict the development, marketing, sale and distribution of 
our products and could cause us to incur significant costs. 

• There is no guarantee that the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA") will grant 510(k) clearance or premarket 
approval of our future products, and failure to obtain necessary clearances or approvals for our future products would 
adversely affect our ability to grow our business. 
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• If we fail to obtain regulatory authorizations in other countries for existing products or products under development, we will 
not be able to commercialize these products in those countries. 

• We may be subject to enforcement action if we engage in improper or off-label marketing or promotilon of our commercial 
medical device products, including fines, penalties and injunctions. 

• Because we do not require extensive training for users of our current products, although they are limited under the FDA's 
marketing clearances to use by, and that images generated from the scanner be interpreted by, trained healthcare practitioners, 
there exists a potential for misuse of these products, misinterpretation of images by untrained professionals or misuse of these 
products by untrained professionals, which could ultin1ately harm our reputation and business. 

• We are subject to complex and evolving U.S. and foreign laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection, and other 
matters. Many of these laws and regulations are subject to change and uncertain interpretation, and could result in claims or 
monetary penalties, changes to our business practices, increased cost of operations, or declines in customer growth or 
engagement, or otherwise harm our business. 

• Security breaches, loss of data and other disruptions could compromise sensitive information related to our business or 
prevent us from accessing critical information and expose us to liability, which could adversely affect our business and our 
reputation. 

• If we are unable to obtai11 and maintain amd enforce sufficient inteJaectual property protection for our products and 
technology, or if the scope of the intellectual property protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could 
develop and commercialize products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our products 
may be impaired. 

• We currently rely on licenses from third parties, and in the future may rely on additional licenses from other third parties, and 
if we lose any of these licenses, then we may be subjected to future litigation. 

• We face the risk of product liability claims and may be subject to damages, fines, penalties and injunctions, among other 
things. 

• If we experience material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting or otherwise fail to maintain an effective 
system of internal controls in the future, we may not be able to report our financial condition or results of operations 
accurately or in a timely mrurner and we may be unable to maintain compliance with applicable stock exchange listing 
requirements, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and, as a result, materially and adversely affect our 
business and the value of our Class A corrunon stock. 

• Future sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock, or the possibility that such sales could occur, could 
adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock. 

• Because we are a "controlled company" within the meaning of the Nasdaq listing mles, our stockholders may not have 
certain corporate governance protections t hat are available to stockholders of companies that are not controlled companies. 

• The dual class structure of our conunon stock has the effect of concentrating voting power with Jonathan M. Rothberg, Ph.D., 
the Founder of Legacy Hyperfme and Liminal and a member of our board of directors, which limits an investor's ability to 
influence the outcome of important transactions, including a change in control. 

These and other material risks we face are described more fully in Item 1 A, Risk Factors, which investors should carefully review 
prior to making an investment decision with respect to the Company or its securities. 
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PART I 

All brand names or trademarks appearing in this report are the property of their respective holders. Use or display by us of other 
parties' trademarks, trade dress, or products in this report is not intended to, and does not, imply a relationship with, or endorsements 
or sponsorship of, us by the trademark or trade dress owners. Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this report to the 
"Company," "we, " "us," and "our" refer to Hypetjine, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, including Hypetjine Operations, Inc., 
("Legacy Hyperjine") and Liminal Sciences, Inc., ("Liminal"), as the case may be. 

Item 1. BUSINESS 

Overview 

We are an innovative health technology business with a mission to revolutionize patient care globally through accessible, affordable, 
clinically relevant artificial intelligence ("AI")-powered portable ultra-low-field ("ULF") magnetic resonance ("MR.") brain imaging. 
Our Swoop® Portable MR Imaging® System ("Swoop® system") produces high-quality images at a lower magnetic field strength 
than conventional magnetic resonance imaging ("MRI") sca1mers. Our Swoop® system is designed to transfonn brain MR for the 
patient, the clinician and the provider, enabling a highly differentiated experience for patients, timely imaging for clinicians, and 
favorable economics for hospital administrators. The Swoop® system is a portable, ULF MRl device for producing images that 
display the internal structures of the head where full diagnostic examination is not clinically practical. When interpreted by a trained 
physician, these images provide information that can be useful in determining a diagnosis. Healthcare professionals can use the 
Swoop® system to make effective clinical diagnoses and decisions in various care settings where conventional MRI devices are 
inaccessible or when they are not readily available. The easy-to-use interface and portable design of our Swoop® system make it 
easily and readily accessible anywhere in a hospital, clinic, or patient care site and it does not require any special facilities 
accommodations nor specialized personnel to operate safely. ULF MR. does not expose patients to harmful ionizing radiation and 
compares favorably in this regard to X-ray computed tomography ("CT") or positron emission tomography ("PET"). 

The demand for MR in1aging has been increasing due to the aging population and the rising prevalence of neUiological, 
neurodegenerative, and cardiovascular conditions, recent approval of new Alzheimer's medications, as well as the trends towards 
decentralized healthcare in mature, as well as low- and middle-income countries. Healtbcare professionals and insurers recognize 
imaging as an effective, non-invasive diagnostic tool for evaluation and ongoing monitoring. The Swoop® system is the next 
generation brain imaging device designed to increase access to MRI in a cost-effective manner. We believe our market opportunity is 
significant across the multiple sites of care where the Swoop® system brings clinical and economic value. We estimate in the United 
States alone that our total addressable market for Swoop® system device placements is more than $16 billion. 

Despite their advantages, many healthcare institutions worldwide lack the facilities, specialized operators, and! capital necessary to 
acquire, maintain and staff expensive conventional MRI devices. The Swoop® system is the frrst FDA-cleared, portable, ULF, MR. 
brain imaging system and is capable of providing imaging at multiple sites of care, such as intensive care units, clinics, emergency 
departments or physicians' offices, and can inform the timely detection, diagnosis, monitoring, and treatment of acute and chronic 
conditions inside and outside the hospital. We designed the Swoop® system to address the limitations of conventional imaging 
technologies and make brain MR imaging accessible nearly anytime and anywhere across professional healt11care settings. We believe 
the adoption of the Swoop® system by healthcare professionals has clinical and economic benefits throughout healthcare communities 
in both high and low resource settings. 

The Swoop® system is AT-powered and integrates deep learning, a fonn of AI in the reconstruction pipeline ofTl , T2, diffusion­
weighted imaging ("DWI"), and fluid-attenuated inversion recovery ("FLAIR") sequences. The integration of deep leaming does not 
require any additional steps from the user. As a result, deep learning can enhance the image quality and, consequently, the diagnostic 
value of images generated with ULF imaging. The algorithms are designed to improve ULF image quality, while reducing the impact 
of scan artifacts. The in1ages created with these algorithms were validated by expert radiologists. The Swoop® system is used 
clinically every day as the first mover in the field of AI-powered portable MR1, and the install base continues to expand. The learnings 
from this market experience have served to improve our software, AI, and denoising algorithms resulting in tl1e image quality and 
performance improvements of OUI product over the nine generations of software since our initial clearance. As we move forward, we 
are continuously investing in improving our Al-powered image quality and leveraging each imaging-focused software release to 
further improve the Swoop® system performance. Furthermore, as of Febmary 15, 2025, we possess a portfolio of 185 issued patents 
worldwide and 150 patents pending. 

Our Swoop® system received initial 51 O(k) clearance for brain imaging from FDA in 2020. In February and October 2023, we 
received 51 O(k) clearances from the FDA for our Swoop® system Al-powered software. The combination of these two software 
updates incorporated deep-learning based denoising in the post-processing of images for crisper images, and improved image quality 
for all Swoop® system sequences. In July 2024, we received 51 O(k) clearance from the FDA of the nint11-generation AI -powered 
Swoop® system software. This latest software update released to date significantly reduces scan times across multiple MR. sequences 
without sacrificing image quality. Outside of the United States, the Swoop® system has received marketing authorization for brain 
imaging in several countries, including the European Union ("CE Mark"), tbe United Kingdom (UK Conformity Assessment ("UKCA 
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Mark")), Canada, Australia and New Zealand. In October 2024 and Febmary 2025, we received CE Mark and UKCA Mark approval 
for the latest generation of software. 

Our initial commercial focus has been in the U.S. market and with customers that use the Swoop® system inside the hospital setting 
primarily in critical care in pediatric and adult applications. To support these use cases, we have parmered with leading institutions to 
collect clinical evidence. There have been a large number of presentations at medical meetings and publications on the use of the 
Swoop® system in these hospital settings. We have nm several st11dies in these areas including SAFE-MRI ECMO (Assessing the 
Safety and Feasibility of bedside portable low-field brain Magnetic Resonance imaging in patients with ECMO) which was published 
in the September 2024 Issue of Circulation and HOPE PMR (Portable MRI for Children with Neurological Inj ury-A Pilot Study 
using Hydrocephalus as an Index Condition). We have also completed a market adoption study ACTION PMR (ACuTe Ischemic 
strOke detectioN), which is a clinical study to validate the use of the Swoop® system for patients with acute ischemic stroke where the 
Swoop® system could be used. The ACTION PMR study is a prospective, international, multi-site observational study that aims to 
examine the value and role of brain imaging with the Swoop® portable MR brain imaging system in acute ischemic stroke diagnosis 
and treatment. Enrollment in the study is complete with 100 patients at four leading institutions in the United States and Europe and 
data has been presented at multiple leading conferences throughout the study progression, including the 2024 European Society of 
Neuroradiology, 2024 Radiological Society of Nor th America, and 2025 International Stroke Conference. Furthermore, we have 
started a utility study CARE PMR (Capturing ARIA Risk Equitably with Portable MR) for the use of the Swoop® system for t:he 
monitoring of A[zheimer's patients for Amyloid related Imaging Abnormalities ("ARIA"), associated with the novel Amyloid targeted 
therapies being commercialized by biophannaceutical companies. The FDA-approval of these new drugs requires multiple and. 
frequent patient MR.Is to monitor for ARIA throughout the course of treatment. The CARE PMR study is assessing the clinical utility 
and workflow benefits of using Swoop® system images to detect ARIA in Alzhein1er's patients receiving amyloid-targeting therapy 
and initial data has been presented at multiple leading Alzheimer's meetings in 2024, including the Alzheimer's Association 
International Conference ("AAIC") in Philadelphia, AAIC in Tokyo, and the Clinical Trials on Alzheimer's Disease conferenc·e in 
Madrid. We believe the portable Swoop® system could offer a highly differentiated, cost effective, and accessible solution for this 
new use case. 

The ability to place and use the Swoop® system in any professional care setting can significantly simplify the care navigation for 
these patients. The compact and versatile Swoop® system is designed for use in any professional healthcare setting, including medical 
offices. We plan to expand our business by making the Swoop® system available beyond critical care in the hospitals, and in the 
neurology office setting. The Swoop® system will allow physicians to obtain diagnostic-quality MR brain images within their offices, 
providing patients with timely and convenient MRl access at the point of care. In support of this expansion, new MRI standards issued 
by the Intersocietal Accreditation Commission ("lAC") in November 2024 a llow for accredited neurology offices to secure Centers 
for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS") reimbursement for MRI scans using the Swoop® system. We also see incremental 
growth opportunities deploying the Swoop® system beyond our initial focus of critical care units in the hospital and into the hospital 
emergency departments and hospital-based neurology clinics. Further, we are executing on a global expansion strategy, broadening 
access to MR brain imaging in regions with large populations, low penetration of MRI, and significant tmmet healthcare needs. 

We have built our direct commercial infrastructure in the United States and have third-party distributors responsible for 
commercialization efforts in Canada and select markets in Europe, Asia, Oceania, and t:he Middle East. 

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Liminal was founded in 2018. In December 2022, we suspended our Liminal program to develop a 
device to non-invasively measure key vital signs in the brain. 

We were founded in 2014 by Dr. Jonathan Rothberg, a serial entrepreneur who received the Presidential Medal ofTeclmology and 
Innovation in 2016 for inventing a novel next-generation DNA sequencing method and has founded more than ten healthcare and 
technology companies, including 454 Life Sciences, Ion Torrent, CuraGen, Butterfly Network, and Quantum-Si. We have raised 
equity from investments and partnership milestones from leading institutional investors, including GV (formerly Google Ventures), 
and grants, including the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (the "BMGF"). 

Our Core ComJ>etitive Strengths 

We believe that our competitive strengths include the following: 

There is a large and gr owing MRl market, and we have the potential to augment conventional MRI capacity to bring 
benefit to p·atients, clinicians and providers. around the world. We believe our solution addresses a vast u11111et need across the 
global market by adding a portable, accessible and affordable brain MR system to increase the existing capacity of conventional 
high-field MRI scrumers as imaging rates continue to grow across the aging population and patients with neurological and 
neurodegenerative conditions and as efficient and readily available MRI sca1mers deployed in different sites of care become 
increasingly valuable in high, middle and low resources cmmtries globally. Our solution is designed to complement conventional 
MRI and searnlessly integrates into the hospital workflow, by processing orders from the Hospital lnfonnation Systems ("HIS") 
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and allowing users to upload images into their picture archiving and communication system ("PACS"), or directly onto our cloud 
PACS, which then makes images easily available for diagnostic purposes. To support information security reviews with 
customers we have obtained several certifications, including HITRUST CSF® v9.4 Risk-based, 2-year, SOC2 Type I and SOC2 
Type 2. 

We estimate in the United States alone that our total addressable market for Swoop® system device placements is more than $16 
billion. We .intend to make MRI available to a broader set of patients in both developed and emerging markets, as well as improve 
the utilization of conventional MRI scanners through decreased wait times and more efficient patient flow. Our initial focus has 
been on patients in intensive care units, where timeliness of MRI is critical, as well as pediatric patients where minimizing 
exposure to ionizing radiation from CT is important. An MRI scan can be essential for diagnosis and urgent intervention. The 
Swoop® system can be wheeled directly to a patient's bedside and offers a prompt solution for those patients who require an MRI 
scan but are too critically ill to be transported to a conventional MRI scanner and who may otherwise be forced to forego a scan, 
wait until a scanner is available, or wait until their condition stabilizes. 

Hyperfine has a unique ULF AI-powered portable MR brain imaging system that aims to improve brain health globally 

A First for Brain Health 

Hyperfine, Inc. has a unique ultra-low-field 
portable MR brain imaging system that aims 
to improve brain health globally. 

• Designed to improve access, equity, 
and affordability for clinicians and 
patients in mult iple professional healthcare 
settings (from critical care to offices and 
resource settings). 

• Enables clinicians to make timely and early 
diagnosis of crit ical brain conditions. 

• Potential to reduce the burden to healthcare 
systems of widespread and devastating 
neurological conditions, such as stroke and 
A lzheimer's disease. 

• Our innovative technology can potentially improve the quality of care for patients worldwide. We believe our portable, 
affordable, brain MRI scanner can broaden access to quality care, leading to better brain health. In many cases, other imag ing 
modalities, such as CT scanners, are used due to the lack of availability of MRI scanners or their lower cost profile, even though 
CT provides lower soft tissue contrast for evaluating abnormalities in the brain. Our portable Swoop® system is significantly 
more affordable than conventional MRI and CT scanners, helping to make the Swoop® system accessible for hospitals and care 
centers that are not financially able to acquire a conventional MRI or CT scanner. Compared to CT, MRI has a greater range of 
soft tissue contrast, depicts anatomy in greater detail, and is more sensitive and specific for abnormalities within the brain itself. 

The Swoop® system does not emit ionizing radiation and therefore reduces the risk of cancer that comes with CT imaging. The 
absence of ionizing radiation can benefit patients with conditions that require frequent follow-up with multiple scans per year, 
such as pediatric hydrocephalus. In certain circumstances, such as in the management of patients with delirium or altered mental 
status, familiarity or keeping the surrounding environment as similar as possible can be critical, which we believe makes portable 
devices like our Swoop® system particularly valuable since patients do not need to move to distant radiology suites for 
conventional MRI scans. Studies show that 37% of patients report anxiety-related reactions in an isolated room for imaging. With 
our Swoop® system, we can offer a quieter, calmer and more comfortable experience with the option of a family member or other 
caregiver being present by the patient' s side during the scanning process. 

Our portable Swoop® system also helps avoid the risk of patient injury during transport through the ability to bring tl1e system to 
the patient. By performing scans for urgent and critically ill patients at the bedside, we can help prevent the adverse incidents that 
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occur with approximately 26- 79% of critically ill patients during transport. The Swoop® system can eliminate the labor-intensive 
and high-risk process of transporting patients on ventilators or collllected to other life-sustaining devices, which can be especially 
valuable in the staff shortage environment that many healthcare institutions continue to experience. 

• Our llroprietary, disru1Jtive, and re\'Olutionary product is designed with healthcare professionals in mind. We have 
commercially launched our Swoop® system, a portable Al-powered brain MRI device capable of producing diagnostic quality 
images at a lower magnetic field strength than conventional MRI sca•mers. Using an ultra-low-field magnetic force significantly 
reduces proj ectile safety concerns and, therefore, should reduce the length of pre-safety checks typically conducted by healthcare 
professional s. We designed our product with the physician workflow in mind, reducing the average 11.7 hours required for the 
conventional MRI process to as little as 0.5 to 5.3 hours of workflow time witl1 our Swoop® system. Typically, with a 55% or 
greater reduction in total workflow time, physicians can reduce t11e time to diagnoses for timely treatment, potentially resulting in 
improved health outcomes for the patient. 

Conventional MRI scanners require specially trained technicians fully dedicated to operating those systems and increase the time 
and cost related to nurses and porters transporting patients to the MRI unit. Our Swoop® system is designed to simplify the image 
acquisition process. We have designed our system to be user-friendly and require minimal training to be operated, including a 
simple user interface accessed tlrrough a Hyperfme provided tablet. The Swoop® system's portability and accessibility at tl1e 
bedside can further allow more time for healtbcare professionals to focus on other important activities related to patient care, 
diagnosis, and treatment. 

• Our first in its class product can provide an attractive r eturn on investment for various care settings. We created the 
Swoop® system not to replace conventional MRI devices but to complement them and enable additional brain MR exams for 
patients and in settings not traditionally serviced by conventional MRI scanners, such as critical care units, emergency 
departments, clinics and physician offices. By facilitating imaging in a timely manner by bringing the Swoop® system to the 
patient, patients can potentially be treated earlier and discharged sooner, potentially leading to increased hospital savings 
consistent with t11e growing shift to value-based care. In addition, by conducting more in-patient MRI scans at the bedside, our 
Swoop® system can help free up capacity in tl1e MRI suite for additional outpatient procedures, which can generate higher 
revenues for hospitals or other healthcare faci lities than in-patient imaging. In studies we have conducted in hospital settings, the 
use of our Swoop® system has helped to make capacity available that has resulted in 20% increased usage of the existing MRI 
suite for additional outpatienr procedures. 

As healthcare costs continue to rise, we believe our Swoop® system has the potential to allow for significant potential cost 
reductions that can benefit the entire imaging ecosystem. Our Swoop® system has reduced hardware costs, using modern 
computational power and deep learning advances. The cost benefits of our Swoop® system are not limited to a customer's. initial 
purchase of the system. Our customers can benefit by not having to spend on additional cooling, power, and high maintenance 
expenses typically required throughout the lifetime of conventional MRI scanners. Unlike conventional MRI scanners, the use of 
the Swoop® system also does not require a specialized radio frequency (RF) room to safely house ilie MRI scanner, which can 
result in a lower total cost of installing an MRI and allow flexibility in t11e use of space for other essential patient care activities. 

• Our office strategy has been launched with the Intersocietal Accreditation Commission ("lAC") accreditation of our 
portable Swoop® system for use in neurology offices. The new MRI standards issued by the lAC in November 2024 open the 
door for accredited neurology offices to secure CMS reimbursement for MRI scans using tl1e Swoop® system. The new standards 
do not require MRJ technologists to operate the Swoop® system in the office setting. This will expand om ability to offer tl1e 
portable Swoop® system into new sites of care, including neurology offices-representing nearly 2,400 potential locations in t11e 
United States alone. By bringing advanced MR brain imaging directly to t11ese professional healthcare settings, we allow for 
significantly enhanced patient access and convenience by enabling MR brain imaging during routine clinic visits. 

• Our Swoo1)® system is strategically llositioned to be integrated into the emergency departments, critical care units and 
hOSilitals workflows. We are focusing on market expansion and are targeting over 9,600 potential sites of care in the United 
States alone, including 4,000 critical care units and 5,600 emergency departments. Our portable Swoop® system enables 
clinicians to take neurological images of critically ill patients in intensive care units and emergency departments with less 
movement, shorter wait times and witl1 high-quality images produced at a lower magnetic field strength than standard MRI 
scanners. 

• Our latest generation of AI-powered Swoop® system software is CE Mark approved. Since receiving CE Mark approval, we 
believe we are positioned for broader European commercial expansion of the Swoop® system, bringing cutting-edge brain 
imaging technology to new global markets. 

• Our validated platform and business model allows for potential widespread adoption. Over 250 conference presentations 
and peer reviewed journal articles, perspectives, case studies, and editor ials on the Swoop® system have discussed the potential 
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clinical benefits of portable, ULF MRl for patients with stroke, hydrocephalus, hematom.a, multiple sclerosis and tumor resection. 
We generate sales revenue by selling the Swoop® system primarily through one business model, which is ownership 
accompanied by an annual service and support agreement. In this model, the Swoop® system is typically sold with a service and 
support agreement that begins after one year of warranty and is sold initially in either 36- or 60- month terms. In certain cases, the 
Swoop® system is sold without an accompanying service and support agreement. As more healthcare professionals adopt our 
technology, we anticipate improvements in gross margin due to increased volume, increased average selling prices resulting fTom 
annual pricing increases, and the recurring service and support agreements. 

• We have a strong, experienced and lean executive leadership team with deep exper tise in health technology. We have a 
world-class management team, including our executive officers and other senior management, with decades of cumulative 
experience in healthcare and consumer end-markets. Our team is comprised of leaders with deep leadership experience in health 
technology research and development, manufacturing, and commercialization. 

Our Strategies 

Our strategies include the following: 

• Focus our development and commercialization efforts on the SwOOJJ® system. Our current focus is AI-powered portable 
brain MRl with the Swoop® system and the advancement of our brain MR teclmology and its proprietary Al-powered software 
for multiple clinical applications in different sites of care. Our initial commercial focus has been in our beachhead markets inside 
the hospital for critical care and pediatric patients. Expansion of our business will come from our plans to make the Swoop® 
system available beyond critical care in the hospital, and in the neurology office setting. 

Blueprint for Anticipated Growth 
The Swoop System Designed to Expand the Global fmaging Market to fncrease Access and Equity 

2024+ 
Beadlhead 

Hospital 

2025+ 
Large Neuro Market 

ED I CUnics I Offices 

Alzheimer's 

Stroke 

202G+ 
Bra1 n Health 

Primary Care I Community 

~ -• 
Remote Care 

WeU Brain ---"""'-I Office Expansion Wrth Aocredtation & CMS 

Global Expansion 

• Focus on supporting customers through implementation programs. We believe the Swoop® system can represent a valuable 
tool in the screening and monitoring of patients. The Swoop® system is designed to make the customer experience as easy as 
possible through our easy-to-use interface accessed through a Hyperfine-provided tablet. In addition, we have a field team 
dedicated to support programs, who can help integrate the Swoop® system into hospital and clinic work flows. 

• Demonstrate our commitment to continuous technical innovation a nd leadership across the care continuum. Our advanced 
teclmology has been developed by an internal team of engineers and AI scientists dedicated to continuous itmovation. Our pace of 
Al-powered software iterations allows further improvements of image quality, consistency, and itnage sequences for the clinical 
uses of our technology. As the Swoop® system becomes integrated into intensive care units and other care workflows and care 
sites across medical practices, we are dedicated to gaining more insights into our product's usability and clinical applications. We 
plan to continue developing our technology to expand into new itnaging applications to enable us to reach the broader care 
continuum through diagnosis and treatment. 
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• Expand clinical validation data and publications. There are numerous conference presentations and peer reviewed journal 
articles, perspectives, case studies, and editorials on the Swoop® system discussing the clinical benefits of our Swoop® system. 
We have nm several studies in these areas including SAFE-MRI ECMO which was published in the September 2024 Issue of 
Circulation and HOPE PMR. We have also completed market adoption study ACTION PMR, which is a study at four global sites, 
including Massachusetts General Hospital and SUNY Buffalo, to examine the use of the Swoop® system to assess acute ischemic 
stroke in the emergency department setting. 

We have also partnered with thought leaders to initiate the CARE PMR utility study to evaluate the use of the Swoop® system in 
screening and monitoring Alzheimer's patients on the novel Amyloid Targeted Therapies. Alzheimer's disease represents a 
potential large incremental and growing global market opportunity for our teclmology. We believe the Swoop® system can 
significantly streamline the care navigation and lower the burden for these patients and their clinicians and meaningfully increase 
the reach of Alzheimer's diagnosis and treatment across patients of diverse demographics and income levels. 

Eleven clinical studies presented at Radiology Society of North America in 2024 highlighted the growing clinician experience 
with the Swoop® system for imaging diverse patient groups in emergency departments and neuro intensive care units. 
Contributions from 11 leading institutions-early adopters of point-of-care MR brain imaging teclmology-underscore the 
increasing utility of AI-powered portable MR. imaging and the growing physician experience with its application, particularly for 
acute stroke diagnosis. The clinical studies presented clinician experience using Swoop® system images for intracerebral 
hemorrhage monitoring, acute ischemic stroke detection, and advanced imaging techniques for multiple sclerosis. These studies 
highlighted the potential of the Swoop® system to expand access to critical diagnostic imaging for acute ischemic stroke and 
other neurological conditions, providing actionable insights where conventional high-field MRI may not be feasible. 

• Expand sales in international markets. We are executing on our international expansion plans by entering into agreements with 
experienced and accomplished distributors. We have distribution partners covering several countries across Europe, Asia Pacific, 
and the Middle East, as well as in Canada. With the Swoop® system's transformative, affordable, and accessible platform, we 
aim to serve more clinicians and patients needing brain imaging across the globe. The Swoop® system bas received marketing 
authorization for brain imaging in several countries, including the European Union (CE Mark), the United Kingdom (UKCA 
Mark), Canada, Australia and New Zealand. Additionally, we have started the regulatory approval process in India through 
Central Drugs Standard Control Organization. 

Industry and Market 

MRI is a non-ionizing radiation risk imaging modality widely used by healthcare professionals across various clinical settings for the 
medical diagnosis of patients, staging of disease, and continued assessment following treatment. MRI is noninvasive, sometimes 
eliminates the need for surgical intervention or invasive procedures when used correctly, and offers superior soft tissue contrast 
resolution compared to other imaging modalities like CT. It is a more sensitive and potentially objective measure of brain tissue and 
injury. MRI is used to examine central nervous system, musculoskeletal, and other diseases. The prevalence and incidence rates of 
these diseases continue to increase across the globe. According to a United Nations report, up to one billion people, nearly one in six 
of the world's population, suffer from neurological disorders, including Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease, stroke, multiple 
sclerosis, epilepsy, migraine, brain injuries, and neuro infections, with some 6.8 million dying of these disorders each year. 

The aging population and rising prevalence of stroke, neurodegenerative, cardiovascular, and neurological conditions have augmented 
the demand for MRI. Healthcare professionals and insurers recognize imaging as a cost-effective and non-invasive diagnostic for 
prevention, early detection and ongoing monitoring. We estimate in the United States alone that our total addressable market for 
Swoop® system device placements is more than $16 billion. Given the significant patient populations needing diagnostic imaging, we 
have positioned ourselves in an underpenetrated market with substantial room for growth. While the current imaging market is mainly 
limited to high-resource countries, we believe our system can help make MRI imaging more accessible in mature and low resource 
settings globally, leading to an increase in both MRI penetration rates and the size of the overall market opportunity. 

Market needs 

Despite MRI's advantages to diagnose and monitor patients tJuough treatment, access to MRI scanners can be challenging. Numerous 
challenges are associated with the use of conventional MRI devices: 

• High cost: The average cost of new conventional MRI scanners is $1 .2 million and could cost as high as $3 million, significantly 
more than our Swoop® system. Conventional MRJ is not readily available in low resource settings. There is wide disparity in the 
MRI units per inhabitant ratio across the globe, making equity in access to MRI a challenge for healthca re systems in developed 
and low- and middle-income countries. The Swoop® system has the potential to address equity disparities as a portable and 
affordable brain imaging system that offers versatility for deployment. 

13 



• Complex site requirements and upgrades: Due to the use of strong (1.5-3.0T (Testa)) magnetic fields in conventional MRI 
scanners, there are various requirements and restrictions on imaging facilities size, location, and ongoing maintenance, including 
the need to build a specialized radio frequency room to house the MRI scanner safely. 

• Scheduling delays: A high level of coordination is required between the MRI facility and patients scheduled for a conventional 
MRI scan. Coordination is further complicated with patients who are unstable in critical care and require multiple medical 
procedures in a timely manner. Conventional MRI devices are not available in the same clinic settings where clinical monitoring 
and follow up for neurological conditions takes place, requiring additional appointments for patients and potentially delaying 
assessments. 

• Risk of adverse events during transportation: Patients in the ICU are often connected to life-sustaining devices that complicate the 
transportation to a conventional MRI scanner. According to Glavis et al., the conventional MRI workflow for imaging an ]CO 
patient can take as long as 11.7 hours at their hospital, with other hospitals anecdotally reporting up to 24 hours. Intrahospital 
transport of patients is associated with cardiovascular and respiratory risks that may limit timely and safe neuroimaging for 
critically ill patients. Even under the supervision of a well-trained team, adverse events may still occur in 26-79% of critically ill 
patients during transport. Martin et al. reported that ventilator asynchrony was the most frequent adverse event and put patients at 
a higher risk for pneumothorax, atelectasis, and ventilator-associated pneumonia. Difficulties occur with lhardware, challenges 
with lifts to move the patient, issues with infusion lines, and a lack of battery life for equipment needed to support the patient. In 
addition to patient impact, tJ1ere are expenses associated with each adverse event. According to a study by Mello et al. , the 
average hospital-borne cost of an adverse event is $6,255 (adjusted for inflation). 

• Consumption of valuable personnel resources: One of the challenging aspects of transporting an ICU patiient is coordinating a 
specialized team to manage the patient as they move from the lCU to the MRI. Such a team typically includes two to six staff 
members. With hospitals often being short-staffed, taking staff away from ilie TCU to assist in imaging a patient could put other 
patients at risk. Additionally, each patient transport for imaging complicates the ICU workload, creating time-intensive patient 
care interruptions that require specialized nurses to remove and reattach life-sustaining equipment. 

Due to these challenges, the adoption of conventional MRI scmmers has been limited across medical settings iin the United States a11d 
globally, especially in rural locations where many individuals only have access to small clinics. Conventional MRI scanners also 
include additional costs of establishing an MRI suite, patient support areas, machine installation and servicing, including costly or 
inaccessible cryogens for cooling, software upgrading, and maintenance that burden hospitals and clinics witJ1limited ongoing 
funding. 

There are significant benefits to dliagnosing a disease at multiple sites of care in its early stages, which can reduce the time to treatment 
and improve the quality of life for those patients. We have taken advantage of technological advances in electronics, computing and 
AT to develop an MRI device iliat is not only portable but also uses an ultra-·low-field 64mT (0.064T) permanent magnet, which is 
much lower than the 1.5T or higher field strength of conventional MRl scanners, and does not require cryogenic cooling. Our 
advanced teclmology allows healthcare professionals to conduct an MRI scan at the patient' s bedside in the hospital or any clinical 
setting to begin early diagnosis, intervention, and ongoing treatment. 

According to a 2008 report from the World Health Organization, 90% ofilie world does not have access to MRI technology, primarily 
due to socioeconomic factors. Many low-resource countries recognize the benefit of investing in their healthcare infrastructure, and it 
is expected to cause a spur in growth for the g lobal MRI market. For exan1ple, India and China are two of the fastest-growing markets 
building its healthcare infrastructure in rural areas. The ability of these countries to build the facilities needed to house these large 
systems and train highly specialized persormel to operate conventional MRI scanners presents a challenge. 

Our office strategy is enabled by the new MRJ standards issued by the lAC in November 2024. These new standards open the door for 
accredited neurology offices to secure CMS reimbursement for MR1 scans using the Swoop® system. We believe this will 
significantly enhance patient access and convenience by enabling MR brain imaging during routine visits. 
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Products and Services 

Our Swoop® AJ- Powered Portable MR Imaging® System 

We designed our Swoop® system to address an urunet need in accessible, affordable, ponable medical imaging through a unique 
combination of hardware and AI-powered software services. Our hardware is powered using modem computational power and deep 
learning advances. Our software £s designed to address the traditional ease-of-use and integration challenges often presented by 
specialized medical teclmologies. Our system operates from a Wi-Fi-capable tablet and integrates with PACS to enable fast and 
confident clinical decision-making. 

The Portable Swoop System Serves Patients and Clinicians 
Where and When They Need Brain Imaging 

0 Diagnostic-quality images 0 Broad FDA-clearancel for brain 
with ultra-Low-field MRI imaging of patients of all ages 

0 
First mover with p roprietary 

0 Commerdally available in the 
technology (150+ patent s) 
and Al-powered software US through direct sales channel 

0 
Platform technology 0 Reimbursement in place in t he US 
designe<J formultiple under existing CPT codes in both 
brairn imaging applications hospital and office settings 

8 
New ultra-low-field brain imaging 

0 
Global footprint through 

paradigm-disrupts access and international distributors supporte<J 
economics and expands the MRI by recent CE approval of latest 
market software 

Features 

Portable Brain Neuroimaging- FDA-Clearedfor MRI of the Brain and Head in Patients of All Ages 

Portable brain imaging has only been possible using cr. CT can visualize bones, blood vessels with contrast agents, and hemorrhage 
well, but is not as sensitive as MRI at imaging the brain's anatomy. Additionally, CT delivers a significant amount of ionizing 
radiation. Exposing patients to radiation increases the risk of developing cancer, which limits CT's use for critically ill patients and 
makes it particularly hazardous for pediatric patients. 

The gold standard for neuroimaging is MRI, which can provide excellent high-resolution linages of the soft tissues of the brain 
without being obscured by the skull. MRI can provide critical insight into brain trauma and disease but historically has not been 
portable and not available at multiple sites of care. Because of their size, weight, and safety issues, conventional MRI scanners were 
only available in hospitals, major medical centers, and outpatient imaging providers, meaning that patients typically must be 
transported to the MRI scrumer. 

We have developed a new category of medical imaging, AI-powered portable MRI, that is smaller, lighter weight, and lower cost than 
conventional MRI scanners yet maintains the soft tissue visualization capabilities critical for brain imaging. Since launching our FDA­
cleared portable Swoop® system in 2020, brain imaging is now available for patients of all ages at practically any site of patient care 
in the United States. 

Ultra-Low-Field System 

To engineer this new category of ponable MRI, we made several significant design changes with respect to conventional MRI, 
particularly the magnetic field strength. Over the past 40 years, the goal for improving conventional MRI scmmers has been to attain 
higher magnetic field strength. In 2017, the FDA cleared the first 7T MRI, after 20 years of development. It was noted that the added 
field strength allows for better visualization of smaller structures and subtle pathologies that may improve disease diagnosis. We have 
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taken a different approach by developing our Swoop® system to have an ultra-low-field magnet of0.064T, which enables MRl to 
become portable because, mllike conventional MRl scanners, the field strength of the magnet in our system does not require a 
specialized room to house or use the MRI scanner safely. This field strength and form factor comes from a unique optimization of the 
magnet size, weight, field tUlifom1ity, and patented design of the pennanent magnet structure that provides sufficient image clarity for 
diagnostic purposes. 

There are additional benefits to operating an MRI system with an ultra-low-field magnet. Il reduces the risk of iron-containing objects 
becoming projectile and injuring patients or operators, a typical concern of conventional MRl scanners. Furthermore, the 
radiofrequency pulses used in conventional MRJ are responsible for 55% of the FDA-reported adverse events from MRI, causing skin 
and internal burns in some patients. Operating at 0.064T means using lower energy radiofrequency pulses and significantly reducing 
associated safety risks. 

Motion Correction 

Portable MRJ at the point of care can provide MRI insights to more patients than previously possible. All MRJ scans regularly suffer 
from quality problems due to patient motion, with approximately 30% of all scans from inpatient or emergency department exams 
having moderate or severe image quality issues. We have developed software that compensates for subtle motion to improve image 
quality in the most challenging, and often most in need, patients. We believe that with continued development, our technology can 
produce diagnostic scans without requiring the operator to make expert adjustments to the scanning procedure due to typical patient 
movements. 

Noise-Cancellation Technology 

Designing an ultra-low-field magnet is not sufficient to enable portable MRI. Portable MRI must also address the electromagnetic 
interference surrounding us. Electromagnetic interference makes conventional MRI outside of a shielded room unsafe and impossible. 
Conventional MRl scanners are pennanently installed in a special room where the walls, floor, and ceiling are encased in copper or 
aluminum to provide an environment for conventional MRI machines to operate, in which all man-made and natural electromagnetic 
interference is prevented from entering. Installation of these shielded rooms typically costs more than $100,000. 

We have developed proprietary, patented AI-powered noise-cancellation technology to enable portable MRI. Our technology 
measures the external electromagnetic interference and subtracts that from the interference that swamps the MRI signals. 

Delive1y of Multiple Sequences with Tissue Contrasts 

MRI can provide images with different soft tissue contrasts through various sequences that can highlight a range of pathologies. These 
contrasts are standard in conventional MRI and allow for the differentiation of various tissue types aiding in establishing the diagnosis. 
Our Swoop® system generates images with contrast weightings with which physicians are most familiar and which are most clinically 
useful for the target use cases: Tl , T2, FLAIR, and DWl with apparent diffusion coefficient maps. 

Image Quality 

We deliver diagnostic-quality images to healthcare professionals. The images from our Swoop® system are higher in contrast 
resolution than other portable medical brain imaging systems, such as portable CT scanners. Our portable Swoop® system also 
delivers images that are diagnostic and clinically relevant in many use cases when high field .MRl is not available. Our MRI signal is 
produced at 0.064T compared to 1.5T or higher produced by conventional, fixed MRI scanners. We believe that the Swoop® system 
provides the potential to improve the quality of care for patients who have limited or no access to conventional MRI, which includes 
90% of the world's population. 

Controlled by an Easy-to-Use Wireless Tablet 

As we seek to reach new markets and users with our Swoop® system, we have sought to make the operation of the device as intuitive 
and easy to use as possible. We believe it is important to consider usability when significantly changing how a medical device is used, 
specifically in MRI, where conventionally, the operator is required to have several years of training. We believe this is particularly 
important when used in hospital environments, including with unstable patients in the critical care and emergency situations such as 
stroke, where speed is essential. 

The interfaces to the Swoop® system are simple, intuitive buttons, joystick controls to drive ·the system, and a. familiar tablet 
controller for image acquisition and viewing. The user interface provided on the tablet offers a playlist of protocols based on the use 
case that can be started, stopped, and rearranged as needed. In addition to being easy to use and the consequential acceleration of 
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hospital workflows that can result, our system provides standardized images across all placement sites due to our uniform 
manufacturing specifications and a consistent set of sequences that individual operators do not customize. Conventional MRl scatmers 
are operated by highly-trained technologists and can have variations in image resolution and contrast weighting across sites due to 
institutional policies and radiologist preferences. We believe the standardization of images across scanners and sites will significantly 
benefit the ability of radiologists and other healtbcare professionals to read our images efficiently and ultimately build a data 
repository of images that can serve as training sets to further improve our image quality and the Swoop® system user experience. 

Integration with Picture Archiving and Communication System and Secure Image Upload to the Cloud 

Simjlar to other medical devices un hospitals, we designed our Swoop® system to seamlessly integrate with the hospital in:fom1ational 
technology ("IT") infTastructure, such that scans can be ordered easily and sent to PACS to be read by a radiologist. For applications 
where access to such infrastructure is unavailable, we also offer a secure cloud based P ACS where healthcare professionals, including 
teleradiology service providers, can view images from anywhere in the wod d. We believe the combination of portable MRI, wlhere 
scans can be obtained outside the conventional MRI suite, and teleradiology can signHicantly improve patient care and increase 
access. 

Design 

Location Flexibility 

Despite the weight of our Swoop® system being 1 ,400 pounds, its powered drive system means operators cat1 move the system around 
the hospital with minimal effort. The Swoop® system can be moved from bed-to-bed and easily positioned in tight spaces because it 
turns on the spot with a zero-tum radius. 

Open Layout Designed to Improve the Patient Experience and Potentially Reduce Patient Anxiety 

For an MRI scan in a traditional setting, a patient arrives at the radiology department of a hospital and typically enters through a door 
covered with radiation warnings and other hazard symbols. The patient then proceeds to a waiting room where they undergo a lengthy 
safety questionnaire and are asked to remove all jewelry and clothes and put on a hospital gown. Wait times vary from a half hour to 
several hours before the patient enters the console room and is led through a large metal door into the RF screen room by themselves. 
Typical conventional MRI scam1ers are long tubes where the patient is positioned on a motorized bed, and RF coils are attached 
around the patient who has been instructed to lay still. The MR1 technician uses the motorized bed to push the patient into the long 
tube of the large superconducting magnet, leaves the room, closes the metal door to the scan room, and tells the patient over an. 
intercom that the scan is about to start. The patient experiences an extremely loud environment throughout the scruming experience. 
The conventional MRI procedure is often a daunting experience for the patient that cat1 cause significant anxiety, especially for 
pediatric patients who are separated from their families during this time. 

Unlike conventional MRI, our Swoop® system is entirely contained in a system that is just 55 inches tall and 34 inches wide and is 
designed to scan patients in their beds. Parents, family, or caregivers can be close to the patient as they are scanned, with just their 
head in the transparent head RF coil. The system is quiet enough to allow constant verbal contact with the patient, which can create a 
considerably less distressing experience for the patient compared to that of a conventional MRI scam1er. 
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Powered Using a Standard Wall Outlet 

Transportable throughout any hospital environment, our Swoop® system plugs into a standard wall outlet (I 00-230 YAC, 50/60Hz, 
15A) and uses less than 900W of electricity. This is achieved with low-power electronics, including efficient power supplies and 
power amplifiers, coupled with a zero-power consumption permanent magnet. Our Swoop® system does not require many of the 
components of conventional MRI, including the liquid helium used in conventional MRl superconducting magnets or the associated 
safety and supporting infrastructuJre, the chilled water-cooling systems for the power electronics and gradient coils, and the room air 
conditioning needed to extract the heat generated in the separate electronics machine room, or the special480 V, 3-phase, 200A power 
supply. 

The Swoop System is Transforming Brain Imaging 

Safe for dinJcian~. patients. and 
caregivers across mul~Le sites of care 

~rtable through standard doors 
and elevators Intuitive Fadlased interface 

Our Swoop® system service and support program includes support and teclmical assistance with hardware and software issues. A 
combination of remote and onsite support in collaboration with onsite technical staff can better solve software issues. In addition, it 
also includes our Hyperfme Image Viewer, a cloud PACS that users can use to upload images for storage purposes. The service and 
support program also grants access to our future software upgrades. Recent 11.1pgrades include our FDA-cleared image quality 
improvements that enhances the quality of images in the presence of subtle motion and other potential future upgrades designed to 
improve the patient workflow and diagnosis. 

Our People 

Legacy Hyper fine was founded in 20 14 by Dr. Jonathan Rothberg. Our mission is to provide accessible and affordable imaging 
through MRI to revolutionize healthcare for people armmd the world. 

As offebruary 15, 2025, we had 111 employees, all of whom were full-time employees and of whom 26 work in sales, marketing, 
and commercial support, 63 work in research, development, clinical and operations, and 22 work in general and administrative 
capacities. As ofFebruary 15, 2025, 107 of our employees were located in the United States and, internationally, four were located in 
the United Kingdom and Europe. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or are subject to a collective bargaining 
agreement. 

Dr. Rothberg and our business have been recognized for leadership. Legacy Hyperfine was founded in 2014 by Dr. Jonathan 
Rothberg, a serial enu·epreneur that received the Presidential Medal ofTechnology and Innovation in2016 for inventing a novel next 
generation DNA sequencing method and has founded more than I 0 healthcare and technology companies, including 454 Life 
Sciences, Ion Torrent, CuraGen, Butterfly Network and Quantum-Si. 
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Information About Our Executive Officers and Directors 

The following persons were our executive officers and directors as of February 15, 2025: 

Name Position 
Executive Officers 
Maria Sainz President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
Brett Hale Chief Administrative Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Corporate Secretary 
Thomas Teisseyre, Ph.D. Chief Operating Officer 
Directors 
R. Scott Hue1mekens ChairPerson of the Board of Directors 
Jonathan M. Rothberg, Ph.D. Founder of Legacy Hyperfme and member of the Board of Directors 
John Dahldorf rhiefFinancial Officer, Adagio Medical 
Ruth Fattori Independent Consultant 
Daniel J. Wolterman Chief Executive Officer Wolterman Consulting LLC 

Governance Practices, Sustainability, and Human Capital 

Our board of directors is committed to robust corporate governance practices, risk oversight, stockholder rights, corporate 
sustainability, ethics and compliance in order to protect the long-term interests of our company, stockholders and the patients we 
serve. Our board of directors adopted corporate governance principles applicable to us, including responsible oversight and 
management of the Company, effective controls and processes, compliance with SEC and Nasdaq Stock Market rules and regulations, 
maintaining an engaged board of directors and a board structure that recognizes the importance of compliance, appropriate 
compensation practices, and succession planning, among other matters. 

We are committed to delivering products and solutions that build a healthier and more sustainable world for this and future 
generations. We recognize the importance of taking measures to reduce our environmental footprint. The Swoop® system is a low­
footprint MR-based device that can be deployed in a variety of settings including low- and middle-income countries. The Swoop® 
system is powered from a standard electrical outlet and does not require any special construction at site of care like conventional MRI 
requires. 

We believe that our people are tl1e reason for our success and we have organized ourselves to maximize productivity and performance. 
Critical to achieving our strategic goals is our ability to build and retain an exceptional team in which each member plays a unique and 
important role. We recognize that maintaining an engaged and high performing workforce and a connection with the communities we 
serve are critical to our success. Comradery and conmmnity are at the core of who we are as a company and are integral components 
of our human ca[pital management strategy. We are inspired by each other and the possibilities of what we can achieve together. We 
understand that in order to drive innovation, we must continuously improve our human capital management strategies and find ways to 
foster engagement and growth within our organization. To this end, below are some of our initiatives: 

Professional Development Programs and Opportunities: Our greatest asset is our employees and we aspire to provide them with 
opportunities so they can continue to grow and excel in tlleir functions and our company. Professional growth of our employees leads 
to engagement, development and allows us to leverage opportunities so we can hire and promote key talent from within. Through 
development planning, we strive for employees at all levels to focus on strengthening the skills required in their current role and 
potentially tl1eir next role. We are focused on building a culture of continuous coaching, feedback and open communication between 
managers and tl1eir direct reports tlrroughout the entire year. We provide managers and employees with training on how to conduct 
effective forward-looking performance conversations and to set effective goals that are realistic, measurable, attainable, relevant and 
timebound. 
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Compensation, Equity and Benefits: We have designed a broad-based compensation program that is designed to attract, retain and 
motivate our employees to deliver sustainable long-term value. We seek to deliver performance-driven, market competitive reward 
opportunities commensurate with company and individual performance. Many of our employees receive equity grants and cash 
bonuses in addition to base salaries and our benefits package. We believe that providing employees with an ownership interest in our 
company further strengthens the level of employee engagement. furthermore, equity awards help align the interests of our employees 
with the long-tenn interests of our stockholders. We also offer employees a health insurance package. 

We maintain and will continue to improve our corporate governance practices and strengthen our sustainability efforts and hmnan 
capital management strategies. 

Marketing, Sales and Pricing 

Marketing 

Our marketing efforts are focused on accelerating awareness of our products and capabilities in order to create a strong reputation with 
clinicians and healthcare administrators. Our go-to-market approach features a targeted sales organization complemented by an array 
of promotional activities including media coverage, tradeshow exhibition, advertising, and live product demonstration. We principally 
target intensive care units, neurology offices, emergency departments and comprehensive and primary stroke accredited faciliti.es. In 
the future, we plan to leverage thus approach for both our Swoop® system and our future products that have similar end markets. 

We recognize the role of education in accelerating clinical adoption of our products across the patient care pathway, including 
healthcare professionals who currently may not themselves be primary users of MRI teclmology. To support adoption of our product 
and in addition to our simplified product interface, we have built a team of clinically trained clinical support specialists to guide and 
coach clinicians on the m1ique features of our device and on the specific clinical application of our technologies. 

Sales and Pricing 

The Swoop® system is commercially available in the United States, Canada, United Kingdom, certain European and Middle Eastern 
markets, Australia, and New Zealand. We have built our direct commercial infrastructure in the United States and sell our products in 
other countries through distributors. 

We are primarily commercializing our device through one business model, which is ownership accompanied by an am1Ual service and 
support agreement. In this model, the Swoop® system is typically sold with a service and support agreement that begins after a one­
year warranty and is sold initially in either 36- or 60-month terms. In certain cases, the Swoop® system is sold without an 
accompanying service and support agreement. We offer our customers payment term options that include, among others, either an 
upfront payment for the Swoop® system and annual payment for service and support or an annual payment option for the term of their 
agreement. The annual payment option contains a portion of interest for the Swoop® system over the term. 

To help ensure our customers receive the highest level of customer service, we plan to continue to sell directly to customers and 
provide ongoing customer support. However, as we expand intemationally subject to regulatory authorization in those countries, we 
will continue to leverage distributors to sell our product depending on the commercial strategy for each country assessed on a country­
by-country basis. Through our business model, we aim to provide portable MRI systems that are more affordable than conventional 
MRI systems and achieve our vision of increasing access to MR1 systems at different sites of care worldwide. 

Suppliers and Manufacturing 

Our Swoop® system is built using both custom-made and off-the-shelf components supplied by outside manufacturers and vendors 
located in the United States, Europe and Asia. One key custom-made component in our Swoop® system is the magnet, which is 
manufactured by a single source supplier in Europe. The majority of the other components for the Swoop® system are off-the-shelf or 
made using standard processes. 

We purchase some of our components and materials used in manufacturing, including magnets, field programmable gate arrays 
("FPGAs"), central processing units ("CPUs") and molded plastics, from single sources. Although we believe that alternative sources 
of these components and materials would be available, it would take time to identify and validate replacement components, which 
could negatively affect our ability to supply the Swoop® system on a timely basis. We cannot give assurances that any alternative 
supplier would be able to recreate the manufacturing processes currently in use. To mitigate this risk, we typically carry a significant 
inventory of critical components. We are also working with our Swoop® system device manufacturer, Benchmark, to add an 
additional magnet supplier to the manufacturing process to mitigate the risk to supply of our magnets by the current use of a single 
supplier. 
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All of our Swoop® system devices are manufactured, tested, shipped and supported by Benchmark from its facilities in Nashua, NH. 
We believe that this manufacturing strategy is efficient and conserves capital. However, in the event it becomes necessary to utilize a 
different contract manufacturer for our Swoop® system products, we would experience additional costs, delays and difficulties in 
doing so, and our business could be harmed. 

Key Agreements 

Manufacture (lnd Supply Agreement with Benchmark Electronics, Inc. 

In October 2018, Legacy Hyperfme entered into a Manufacture and Supply Agreement with Benchmark (the "MSA"). Under the 
MSA, Benchmark agreed to manufacture our products pursuant to binding purchase orders. Each month, we have agreed to provide 
Benchmark with a binding purchase order for a period specified by the MSA, as well as a non-binding forecast for each month within 
such period. If we do not provide the monthly purchase order and forecast update, then the first forecast montlh of the then-current 
forecast becomes binding so that a rolling binding commitment to purchase product for the specified period is maintained. The parties 
have agreed to meet periodically regarding any minimum order quantities of components under the MSA. We also have certain 
inventory related obligations, including the obligation to purchase excess and obsolete components from Benchmark. Excess 
components are detem1ined based upon the amount of component inventory that exceeds the build plan for the specified period 
discussed above. We would be required to purchase such excess inventory and be credited back against future purchases of fmished 
products as the inventory of components is reduced to the amount needed to meet the rolling build plan. Obsolete materials are 
immediately invoiced once identified. 

Under the terms of the MSA, we granted Benchmark a non-exclusive, non-transferable, revocable, f11lly-paid, royalty-free license, 
without the right to sublicense, to use our technology solely to manufacture our products. The MSA provides that we will own any 
right, title and interest in any improvements or modifications to our teclmology made in the course ofperfonmmce of Benchmark' s 
obligations under the MSA. We and Benchmark also agreed to indemnify each other against certain third-party claims. 

Following the MSA's initial three-year term, the MSA renews automatically for additional two-year tenns unless either party gives 
180 days' prior written notice before the end of the then-current term to the other party electing not to renew the agreement. The MSA 
or any purchase order under the MSA may be tenninated by either party for convenience upon 90 days' prior written notice to the 
other party. The MSA may also be terrllinated by either party by written nohce upon the occurrence of(i) a breach by the other party 
under the agreement which is not cured within 30 days after written notice by the terrninating party, (ii) the other party becomes 
insolvent, dissolves, liquidates or ceases to conduct business or (iii) the occurrence of payment-related breaches. Benchmark may a lso 
terminate the agreement upon the filing of any petition against us under bankruptcy or similar laws, where such petition is not vacated 
within I 0 days via court order. 

Competition 

Several large companies, such as General Electric, Siemens, Philips, Hologic, Fuji, Toshiba, Canon and Hitachi currently dominate the 
medical imaging market. We expect that the existing market participants wm remain key players in the future. 

As a general matter, we view competition on two levels: 

• Computed tomography ("CT"), particularly non-contrast computed tomography, both portable and/or at the point of care setting. 
CT systems, while providing valuable infonnation about hemorrhage and fractures, provide less soft tissue differentiation to 
inform clinical decisions when compared to MRJ. As such, the Swoop® system is well positioned to augment critical care and 
emergency departments with existing CT capabilities; and 

• Portable ultra-low field brain MRI systems with similar attributes are currently in development. Neuro42 announced receipt of 
FDA clearance of its portable MRI system in February 2024 with future plans to commercialize. In addition, there are several 
companies currently in the process of developing this technology, including, for exan1ple, DeepSpin and Multiwave. 

We view high-field MRI more as a complementary rather than a competitive technology. Particularly in the United States, we see 
substantial interest among our customers for the implementation of Swoop® system to augment traditional, high-field MRI workflows 
and increase throughput of high-field scanners. 

U.S. Reimbursement, CoYerage, Coding, and Payment 

In the United States, healthcare providers that purchase medical equipment such as the Swoop® system generally rely on government 
and private third-party payors for reimbursement for the healthcare treatment and services they provide. Examples of these types of 
payors include Medicare, Medicaid, private health insurance plans, and health maintenance organizations, which reimburse all or a 
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portion of the cost of treatment, as well as related healthcare services. Reimbursement involves three components: coverage, coding 
and payment. 

There are currently no National Coverage Determinations in place under Medicare for diagnoses provided on a Swoop® system. 
Medicare coverage criteria for diagnoses performed on a Swoop® system is outlined in Loca l Coverage Detenninations or, in the 
absence of a fonnal policy, diagnoses is covered as long as it is considered reasonable and necessary. Commercial payor policies vary 
with respect to coverage for diagnoses including many of the indications covered by Medicare, though coverage criteria may differ. 
The codes that are used to report diagnoses delivery in 2024 for the hospital outpatient department are Current Procedural 
Terminology ("CPT") codes 70551 , MRl BRAIN STEM. Payment rates under the Medicare fee-for-service methodology are 
established based on cost data submitted by hospitals. CMS pays separately for ancillary procedures. Payment for diagnoses with 
Swoop® system are a lso available in the freestanding center setting. 

The new accreditation standards issued by the lAC, a leading CMS approved accrediting body, in November 2024 include ultra-low­
field MR1 teclmology and allow for accredited neurology offices to secure CMS reimbursement for MR1 scans using the Swoop® 
system. 

The federal government reviews and adjusts rates annually, and from time to time considers various Medicare and other healthcare 
reform proposals that could significantly affect both private and public reimbursement for healthcare services, including diagnostic 
examination, in hospitals and free-standing clin.ics. 

Intellectual Property 

Protection of our intellectual property is a strategic priority for our business. We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks, trade 
secrets and other intellectual property rights protections and contractual restrictions to protect our proprietary technologies. 

The patents owned and in-licensed by us are generally directed to the architecture ofMRI systems and related technology. We have 
developed a portfolio of issued patents and pending patent applications directed to commercial products and technologies for potential 
development. We believe that our intellectual property is a core strength of our business, and our strategy includes the continued 
development of our patent portfolio. 

Our Swoop® System and Related Technology 

As of February 15, 2025, we held a portfolio of 185 U.S. and foreign patents, and 150 U.S. and foreign patent applications. These 
issued patents and patent applications cover various aspects of our research and development efforts, as well as commercial aspects of 
our Swoop® system. Our patent estate covers various components and techniques incorporated into, and generally directed to our 
Swoop® system and its development, including: magnet design and manufacturing, electronics and circuitry, mechan.ical aspects, 
safety features, noise compensation, imaging, analysis software, and various other aspects of MRI systems. These pending and issued 
patents have expected expiration dates ranging between 2034 and 2045. We cannot be certain that any patents will be issued from any 
of our pending patent applications, nor can we be certain that any of our existing patents or any patents that may be granted to us in 
the future will provide us with protection. 

License Agreements 

We have entered into licenses in the ordinary course of business relating to our teclmologies or other intellectual property rights or 
assets. 

Government Regulation 

Diagnostic and therapeutic medical devices like those we develop and distribute are subject to regulation by numerous regulatory 
bodies, including the FDA and comparable international regulatory agencies. These agencies require developers of medical devices to 
comply with applicable laws and regulations governing the development, testing, manufacturing, packaging, labeling, marketing and 
distribution of medical devices. Devices are generally subject to varying levels of regulatory control, the most comprehensive of 
which requires that a clinical evaluation program be conducted before a device can be approved for marketing and commercial 
distribution. In addition, healthcare regulatory bod.ies in the United States and around the world impose a range of requirements 
related to paying for medical devices and the procedures in which they are used, including laws intended to prevent fraud, waste, and 
abuse of healthcare dollars. 

U.S. Laws am/ Regulations 

In the United States, medical devices are subject to extensive regulation at the federal level by the FDA under the Federal Food, Drug, 
and Cosmetic Act ("FDCA") and its implementing regulations. The laws and regulations govern, among other things, medical device 
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design and development, nonclinical and clinical testing, pre-market clearance, authorization or approval, establishment registration 
and product listing, product manufacturing, product packaging and labeling, product storage, advertising and promotion, product 
distribution, recalls and field actions, servicing and post-market clinical surveillance. A number of U.S. states also impose licensing 
and compliance regimes on companies that manufacture or distribute prescription devices into or within the state. 

Some of our products are also subject to the Radiation Control for Health and Safety Act, administered by the FDA, which imposes 
performance standards and record keeping, reporting, product testing and product labeling requirements for electronic products that 
emit radiation, such as magnetic resonance imaging systems. 

In addition, the commercialization and use of our devices in the United States is subject to regulation by the U .S. Department of 
Health and Human Services ("HHS") and state agencies responsible for reimbursement and regulation of payment for healthcare items 
and services. Federal laws and regulations apply primarily in connection with government payer programs such as the Medicare and 
Medicaid programs, but state laws apply more broadly, encompassing healtbcare items and services covered by private payers. At the 
state and federal level, the govenunent's interest is in regulating the quality and cost ofhealthcare and protecting the independent 
clinical judgment of licensed healthcare providers. 

The Federal Trade Commission (" FTC") also oversees the advertising and promotion of our products pursuant to broad authormty to 
police deceptive advertising for goods or services within the United States. Under the Federal Trade Commission Act, the FTC is 
empowered, among other things, to (a) prevent unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting 
commerce; (b) seek monetary redress and other relief for conduct injurious to consumers; and (c) gather and compile information and 
conduct investigations relating to the organization, business, practices, and management of entities engaged in commerce. In the 
context of performance claims for products such as our goods and services, compliance with the FTC Act includes ensuring that there 
is scientific data to substantiate the claims being made, that the advertising is neither false nor misleading, and that any user or expert 
testimonials or endorsements we or our agents disseminate related to the goods or services comply with applicable disclosure rules 
and other regulatory requirements. In addition, with respect to our commercial products and any future products that are marketed as 
clinical products, FDA's regulations applicable to medical device products prohibit them from being promoted for uses not within the 
scope of a given product's authorized intended use(s), among other promotional and labeling rules applicable to products subject to 
the FDCA. 

Further, medical device systems that include wireless radio frequency transmitters and/or receivers are subject to equipment 
authorization requirements in the United States. The Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") requires advance clearance of all 
radio frequency devices before they can be sold or marketed in the United States. These clearances ensure that the proposed products 
comply with FCC radio frequency emission and power level standards and will not cause interference. 

FDA Regulation of Medical Devices 

Medical devices must undergo pre-market review by and receive clearance, authorization, or approval from the FDA prior to 
commercialization, unless the device is of a type exempted from such review by statute, regulation, or an FDA exercise of 
enforcement discretion. The FDA classifies medical devices into three classes based on risk. Regulatory control increases from Class I 
(lowest risk) to Class III (highest risk). The FDA generally must clear or approve the commercial sale of most new medical devices 
that fall within product categories designated as Class II and III. Conunercial sales of most Class II and III medical devices within the 
United States must be preceded either by pre-market notification and FDA clearance pursuant to Section 51 O(k) of the FDCA (Class 
II) or by the granting of a pre-market approval ("PMA") (Class III), after a pre-market application is submitted. Both 51 O(k) 
notifications and PMA applications must be submitted to FDA with significant user fees, although reduced fees for small businesses 
are available. Class I devices are generally exempt from pre-market review and notification, as are some moderate-risk Class Jl 
devices. Manufacturers of all classes of devices must comply with FDA's Quali ty System Regulation ("QSR"), establislm1ent 
registration, medical device listing, labeling requirements, and medical device reporting ("MDR") regulations, which are collectively 
referred to as medical device general controls. Class II devices may also be subject to special controls such as perfonnance standards, 
post-market surveillance, FDA guidelines, or particularized labeling. Some C lass I and Class II devices may be exempted by 
regulation from the requirement of compliance with substantially all of the QSR. 

51 O(k) Clearance Pathway 

A 510(k) pre-market notification must contain information sufficient to demonstrate that the new device is substantially equivalent to 
a predictive device. A predicate device is a legally marketed device that is not subject to a PMA, meaning, (i) a device that was legally 
marketed prior to May 28, 1976 C'preamendments device") and for which a PMA is not required, (ii) a device that has been 
reclassified from Class III to Class II or I, or (iii) a device that was found substantially equivalent through the 51 O(k) process. To 
obtain 51 O(k) clearance for a non-exempt Class II device, the FDA must determine that the device is substantially equivalent to such a 
predicate device based on the information submitted by the product developer in the pre-market notification. The FDA's 51 O(k) 
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clearance process generally takes from three to 12 months from the date the application is submitted, but it may take significantly 
longer if FDA has significant questions or needs more information about the new device or its manufacturing or quality controls. 

As part of the 51 O(k) notification process for Class Jl devices that have an existing classification regulation available for purposes of 
the reg11iatory filing, the FDA typically requires the following: 

• Development of comprehensive product description and indications for use. 

• Completion of extensive non clinical tests and/or animal studies, performed in accordance with the FDA' s good laboratory 
practice ("GLP") regulations, as well as testing to demonstrate that the device meets applicable perfom1ance standards or other 
testing requirements established by FDA through regulations or device-specific guidance. 

• Comprehensive review of one or more predicate devices and development of data supporting the new product's substantial 
equivalence to such predicate devices. 

Assuming successful completion of all required testing, a detailed 510(k) notification is submitted to the FDA requesting clearance to 
market the product. This premarket notification includes all relevant data from pertinent nonclinical studies and clinical trials (if 
applicable), together with detailed information relating to the product's proposed labeling, and other relevant documentation. The 
FDA evaluates all 51 O(k) submissions prior to filing for substantive review based on specific acceptance criteria and may issue a 
refuse-to-accept notification if the submission is deficient with respect to any of the established criteria. If after substantive review the 
FDA determines that the applicant's device is substantially equivalent to the identified predicate device(s), the agency will issue a 
51 O(k) clearance letter that authorizes commercial marketing of the device for one or more specific indications for use. If the FDA 
determines that the applicant's device is not substantially equivalent to the predicate device(s), the agency will issue a not­
substantially-equivalent letter stating that the new device may not be commercially distributed. 

After a new medical device receives 51 O(k) clearauce from the FDA, any modification that could significantly affect its safety or 
effectiveness, or that would constitute a major change in its intended use, requires a new 510(1<) clearance or could require the 
submission of a PMA application. The FDA requires each manufacturer to make tl1e determination of whether a device modification 
requires a new 5 I O(k) notification or PMA application in the first instance, but the FDA may review any such decision. Tf the FDA 
disagrees with a manufacturer's decision not to seek a new 51 O(k) clearance or PMA for a particular change, the FDA may 
retroactively require the manufacturer to submit a 51 O(k) pre-market notification or a PMA application. The FDA may also require tbe 
manufacturer to cease U.S. marketing and/or recall any distributed units of the modified device until 51 O(k) clearance or a PMA for 
tl1e modification is obtained. 

De Novo Classification 

If a previously unclassified new medical device does not qualify for the 51 O(k) pre-market notification process because no predicate 
device to which it is substantially equivalent can be identified, the device is automatically classified into Class III. However, if such a 
device would be considered low or moderate risk (in other words, it does not rise to tl1e level of requiring a PMA), it may be eligible 
for the De Novo classification process. The De Novo classification process allows a device developer to request that tlw novel medical 
device be reclassified as either a Class I or Class II device, rather than having it regulated as a high-risk Class III device subject to the 
PMA requirements. If the manufacturer seeks reclassification into Class II, the classification request must include a draft proposal for 
special controls that are necessary to provide a reasonable assurance of the safety and effectiveness of tl1e medical device. 

Under the FDCA, the FDA is required to classify a device within 120 days following receipt of the De Novo classification request 
from an applicant; however, the FDA attempts to issue a decision on the majority of De Novo requests within 150 days of receipt. De 
Novo classification requests are s11bject to user fees , tmless a specific exemption applies. 

As with the 510(k) pre-market notification process described above, any modification to a device authorized through the De Novo 
process that coul d significantly affect the safety or effectiveness of such dev ice, or that would constitute a major change in its intended 
use, requires a new 51 O(k) clearance or could require the submission of a PMA application. 

As an alternative to the De Novo classification process, a company could also file a reclassification petition seeking to change the 
automatic Class III designation of a novel post-amendment device under Section 513(f)(3) of tl1e FDCA. FDA can also initiate 
reclassification of an existing device type on its own initiative. In December 2018, FDA issued a final rule to clarify the administrative 
process through which the FDA reclassifies a medical device. To reclassify a device under Section 513(e) of the FDCA, the FDA must 
ftrst publish a proposed reclassification order that includes a stmlffiary of the valid scientific evidence that supports the 
reclassification; convene a device classification panel meeting; and consider comments to the public docket before it then publishes a 
final reclassification order in the Federal Register. 

Pre-market Approval Pathway 
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Our point-of-care MR1 systems have been classified and are regulated as Class II devices, although future products that we develop 
may be classified as Class ill devices. Products classified by FDA as Class Ill generally require marketing approval via the PMA 
process. A PMA application must be supported by valid scientific evidence, which typically requires extensive data, including 
technical, nonclinical, clinical, manufacturing and labeling data, to demonstrate to the FDA's satisfaction the safety and efficacy of the 
device for its intended use(s). A PMA application also must include a compkte description of the device and uts components, a 
detailed description of the methods, facilities and controls used to manufacture the device, and proposed labeling. After a PMA 
application is submitted and found to be sufficiently complete, it is considered "filed" and the FDA begins an in-depth review of the 
submitted information. During this substantive review period, the FDA may request additional infom1ation or clarification of 
infom1ation already provided. Also, during the review period, an advisory panel of experts from outside the FDA may be convened to 
review and evaluate the application and provide recommendations to the FDA. In addition, the FDA generally will conduct a pre­
approval inspection of the manufacturing facil ity to evaluate compliance with the QSR, which requires manufacturers to implement 
and follow design, testing, control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures. 

FDA review of a PMA application is required to be completed within 180 days of the application's filing date although the process 
generally takes between one and three years and may take significantly longer. The FDA can delay, limit or deny approval of a PMA 
application for many reasons, including: 

• the product may not be safe or effective for its intended use(s) to the FDA's satisfaction; 

• the data from the applicant's nonclinic.al studies and clinical trials may be insufficient to support approval; 

• the manufacturing process or facilities that the applicant uses may not meet applicable requirements; and 

• changes in FDA approval policies or adoption of new regulations may require additional data to demonstrate the safety or 
effectiveness of the device. 

If FDA evaluations of the PMA application and the applicable manufacturing facilities are favorable, the FDA will either issue an 
approval letter, which authorizes conunercial marketing of the device for specific indications for use, or an approvable letter, which 
usually contains a number of conditions which must be met in order to secure fmal approval of the PMA app!Ecation. When and if the 
conditions of the approvable letter have been fulfinled to the satisfaction of the FDA, t11e agency will issue a PMA approval letter 
authorizing commercial marketing of a device, subject to the conditions of approval and the limitations established in the approval 
letter. 

If the FDA's evaluation of the PMA application or the applicable manufacturing facilities is not favorable, t11e FDA will deny 
approval of the PMA or issue a not approvable letter. The FDA may also detem1ine that additional clinical trials are necessary, in 
which case t11e PMA approval may be delayed for several months or years while the trials are conducted, and data is submitted in an 
amendment to the PMA. The PMA process can be expensive, uncertain and lengthy. PMA approval may also be granted with post­
approval requirements such as the need for additional clinical trials or patient follow-up for an indefinite period of time. 

New PMA applications or PMA supplements may be required for modifications to the manufacturing process, labeling, device 
specifications, materials or design of a device that is approved through the PMA process. PMA supplements often require submission 
of the same type of information as an initial PMA application, except that the supplement is Limited to infonnation needed to support 
any changes from t11e device covered by the approved PMA application and may or may not require as extensive clinical data or the 
convening of an advisory panel. 

Predetermined Change Control Plans for Medical Devices 

As part of the Consolidated Appropriations Act for 2023, Congress amended the FDCA to give FDA the authority to authorize certain 
potential, future changes to a medical device in a p redetenni.ned change control plan ("PCCP") as part of a PMA application or 51 O(k) 
premarket notification for a medical device, including a device that incorporates artificial intelligence or machine learning technology. 
A PCCP must describe the specific proposed modWcations and provide sufficient information to demonstrate that the device will 
remain safe and effective for its intended use, and in the case of a 51 O(k) cleared device that the device will remain substantially 
equivalent to t11e predicate device, if the applicant implements t11e proposed modifications to the device as described in the PCCP. If 
FDA authorizes a PCCP for a device, any modification to the device within the authorized scope of the PCCP will not require the 
submission and authorization of a new PMA application, PMA supplement, or new 51 O(k) premarket notification. However, 
modifications to a previously autl1orized PCCP will generally require submission of a PMA supplement or new 51 O(k) premarket 
notification, depending on the original authorization pathway for the device, with the modified PCCP. 

Clinical Investig ations Using Devices in Development 

Clinical trials are almost always required to support a PMA application and are sometimes required for a De Novo classification 
request or 51 O(k) pre-market notification. In order to conduct a clinical investigation involving human subjects for the purpose of 
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demonstrating the safety and effectiveness of a medical device, an investigator acting on behalf of the company must, among other 
things, apply for and obtain institutional review board ("IRB") approval of the proposed investigation. In addition, if the clinical trial 
involves a "significant risk" (as defined by the FDA) to human health, the company sponsoring the trial (referred to as the "sponsor") 
must also submit and obtain FDA approval of an investigational device exemption ("IDE") application. An IDE application must be 
supported by appropriate data, such as animal and laboratory testing results, showing that it is safe to test the device in humans and 
that the testing protocol is scientifically sound. The IDE application must be approved in advance by the FDA for a specified number 
of trial participants, unless the product is deemed a non-significant risk device and eligible for abbreviated IDE requirements. 
Generally, clinical trials for a significant risk device may begin once the IDE application is approved by the FDA and the trial protocol 
and informed consent are approved by a duly-appointed IRB for each site. FDA's IDE regulations govern investigational device 
labeling, prohibit promotion, and specify an array of good clinical practice ("GCP") requirements, which include, among other things, 
recordkeeping, reporting and monitoring responsibilities of trial sponsors and study investigators. Clinical trials must further comply 
with the FDA's regulations for lRB approval and for informed consent and other human subject protections, all of which are 
considered part of GCP requirements. Required records and reports are subject to inspection by the FDA. The results of clinical testing 
may be unfavorable or, even if the intended safety and efficacy success criteria are achieved, may not be considered sufficient for the 
FDA to grant approval or clearance of a product. 

Information about certain clinical trials, including details oftbe protocol and eventually results, also must be submitted within specific 
timeframes to the National Institutes of Health ("NIH"), for public dissemination on the ClinlicalTrials.gov data registry. Information 
related to the product, patient population, phase of investigation, trial sites and other aspects of the clinical trial is made public as pan 
of the registration process. Sponsors are obligated to disclose the results of their clinical trials after completion. Disclosure of results 
can be delayed in some cases for up to two years after the date of completion of the trial. Failure to timely register a covered clinical 
trial or to submit results as provided for in the law can give rise to civil monetary penalties and also prevent the non-compliant party 
from receiving future grant funds from the federal govemment. The NIH Final Rule on ClinicalTrials.gov registration and reporting 
requirements became effective in 2017, and both NIH and FDA have brought enforcement actions against non-compliant sponsors. 

The commencement or completion of any of our clinical trials may be delayed or halted, or be inadequate to support approval of a 
PMA application (or FDA's grant of a De Novo classification request or clearance of a 51 O(k) notification, as applicable), for 
numerous reasons, including, but not limited to, the following: 

• the FDA, the IRB(s), or other regulatory authori ties do not approve a clinical trial protocol or a clinical trial, or place a clinical 
trial on hold; 

• participants do not enroll in clinical trials at the expected rate; 

• participants do not comply with trial protocols; 

• participant follow-up is not at the expected rate; 

• patients experience adverse side effects; 

• participants die during a clinical trial, even though their death may not lbe related to the investigational products; 

• IRBs and third-party clinical investigators may delay or reject the sponsor's trial protocol; 

• third-party clinical investigators decline to participate in a trial or do not perform a trial on the sponsor' s anticipated schedule or 
consistent with the clinical trial protocol, GCPs or other FDA requirements; 

• the sponsor or third-party organizations do not perform data collection, monitoring and analysis in a timely or accurate manner or 
consistent with the clinical trial protocol or investigational or statistical plans; 

• third-party clinical investigators have significant financial interests related to the sponsor or the trial that the FDA deems to make 
the trial results unreliable, or the sponsor or investigators fail to disclose such interests; 

• unfavorable regulatory inspections of the sponsor's clinical trial sites or manufacturing facilities, which may, among other things, 
require the sponsor to undertake corrective action or suspend or tenninate the sponsor's clinical trials; 

• changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions applicable to the sponsor's trial protocols; 

• the interim or final results of the clinica l trial are inconclusive or unfavorable as to safety or effectiveness; and 

• the FDA concludes that the results from the sponsor' s trial and/or trial design are inadequate to demonstrate safety and 
effectiveness of the product. 
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ln the Consolidated Appropriations Act for 2023, Congress amended the FDCA to require the sponsor of any pivotal clinical trial to 
support marketing authorization of a medical device to develop a diversity action plan for such trial, and if submission of an IDE 
application is required, to submit such diversity action plan to the FDA. The action plan must include the sponsor' s diversity goals for 
enrollment, as well as a rationale for the goals and a description of how the sponsor will meet them. The FDA may grant a waiver for 
some or all of the requirements for a diversity action plan. Jt is unknown at this time how the diversity action plan may affect device 
clinical trial planning and timing, but if FDA objects to a sponsor's diversity action plan and requires the sponsor to amend the plan or 
take other actions, it may delay trial initiation. 

Ongoing Post-Market Regulatory Requirements and FDA Enforcement 

Our Swoop® system received initial 51 O(k) clearance for brain imaging from FDA in 2020. In Feb mary and October 2023, we 
received 51 O(k) clearances from the FDA for our Swoop® system Al-powered software. The combination of these two software 
updates incorporated deep-learning based denoising in the post-processing of images for crisper images, and improved image quality 
for all Swoop® system sequences. In July 2024, we received 510(k) clearance from the FDA of the ninth-generation At-powered 
Swoop® system software. This latest software update released to date significantly reduces scan times across multiple MR. sequences 
without sacrificing image quality. Outside of the United States, the Swoop® system has received marketing authorization for brain 
imaging in several countries, including the European Union (CE Mark), the United Kingdom (UKCA Mark), Canada, Australia and 
New Zealand. In October 2024 and Febmary 2025, we received CE Mark and UKCA Mark approval for the latest generation of 
software. 

In the United States, after a medical device is authorized for marketing and p laced in commercial distribution (or, for 510(k)-exempt 
products, placed into conunerce without first obtaining FDA clearance or approval), numerous regulatory requirements apply. These 
general controls that must be met for all device classes include: 

• establishment registration and device listing; 

• the QSR, which requires manufacturers, including third-party manufacturers, to follow design, testing, control, storage, 
supplier/contractor selection, complaint hand I ing, documentation and other quality assurance procedures; 

• labeling regulations, which govern the mandatory elements of the device labels and packaging (including Unique Device 
Identifier markings for certain categories of products); 

• FDA's prohibitions against tlhe promotion of products for uncleared, unapproved or "off-label" uses and other requirements 
related to promotional activities; 

• the MDR regulations, which require that mani!Jfacturers report to the FDA if a device may have caused or contributed to a death or 
serious injury or malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if the malf1mction were 
to recur; 

• voluntary and mandatory device recalls to address problems when a device is defective and/or could be a risk to health; 

• correction and removal reporting regulations, which require that manufacturers report to the FDA field corrections and product 
recalls or removals if undertaken to reduce a risk to health posed by the device or to remedy a violation of the FDCA that may 
present a risk to health; and 

• post-market surveillance regulations, which apply to certain Class ll or III devices when necessary to protect the public health or 
to provide additional safety and effectiveness data for the device. 

FDA's MDR requirements also extend to healthcare facilities that use medical devices in providing care to patients, or "device user 
facilities," which include hospitals, ambulatory surgical facilities, nursing homes, outpatient diagnostic facilities, or outpatient 
treatment facilities, but not physician offices. A device user facility must report any device-related death to both the FDA and the 
device manufacntrer, or any device-related serious injury to the manufacturer (or, if the manufacturer is unknown, to t11e FDA) within 
10 days of the event. Device user facilities are not required to report device malfunctions that would likely cause or contribute to death 
or serious injury if the malfunction were to recur but may voluntarily report such malfunctions through MedWatch, the FDA's Safety 
Information and Adverse Event Reporting Program. 
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To ensure compliance with regulatory requirements, medical device manufacturers are subject to market surveillance and periodic, 
pre-scheduled and tmannmmced inspections by the FDA and certain state authorities. Failure to comply with applicable regulatory 
requirements can result in enforcement action by the FDA, which may lead to any of the following sanctions: 

• Warning Letters or Untitled Letters that require corrective action; 

• fmes and civil penalties; 

• unanticipated expenditures; 

• delays in approving/clearing or refusal to approve/clear any of our fuhrre products; 

• FDA refusal to issue certificates to foreign governments needed to export our products for sale in other countries; 

• suspension or withdrawal of FDA approval or clearance (as may be applicable); 

• product recall or seizure; 

• partial suspension or total shutdown of production; 

• operating restrictions; 

• injm1ctions or consent decrees; and 

• civil or criminal prosecution. 

We and any of our contract manufacturers, and some suppliers of components or device accessories, are required to manufachlre 
medical device products in compliance with current good manufacturing practice requirements set forth in the QSR, unless explicitly 
exempted by regulation. The QSR requires a quality system for the design, manufacture, packaging, labeling, storage, installation and 
servicing of marketed devices, and includes extensive requirements with respect to quality management and organization, device 
design, buildings, equipment, purchase and handling of components or services, production and process controls, packaging and 
labeling controls, device evaluation, distribution, installation, complaint handling, servicing, and record keeping. The FDA evaluates 
compliance with the QSR tlu-ough periodic pre-scheduled or unannounced inspections that may include registered manufacturing 
facilities of our manufacturer. Following such inspections, the FDA may issue reports known as Fonns FDA 483 or Notices of 
lnspectional Observations, which list instances where the FDA investigator believes the manufacturer has failed to comply with 
applicable regulations and/or procedures. If the observations are sufficiently serious or the manufacturer fails to respond appropriately, 
the FDA may issue Warning Letters, which are notices of intended enforcement actions against the manufacturer. For less serious 
violations that may not rise to the level of regulatory significance, the agency may issue Untitled Letters. The FDA may take more 
significant administrative or legaM action if a manufacturer continues to be ir1 substantial noncompliance witl1 applicable regulations. 

For example, if the FDA believes we or any of our contract manufacturers or regulated suppliers are not in compliance with these 
requirements and patients are being subjected to serious risks, it can shut down manufacturing operations, require recalls of our 
medical device products, refuse to approve new marketing applications, initiiate legal proceedings to detain or seize products, enjoin 
future violations, or assess civil and criminal penalties against us or our officers or other employees. Any such action by the FDA 
would have a material adverse effect on our business. We may be tmable to comply with all applicable FDA regulations. 

U.S. Frau(/ and Abuse Laws and Other Compliance Requirements 

Successfully commercializ ing a medical device or technology depends not on only FDA approval, but also on broad health insurance 
or third-party payor coverage. Govemment and private payors institute coverage criteria to ensure the appropriate utilization of 
products and services and to control costs. Limited third-party payor coverage for a technology or procedure may limit adoption and 
con1mcrcial viability, while broader coverage supports optimal market uptake. Favorable coverage decisions by government payors 
like Medicare or Medicaid is critical because private payors typically follow the government's lead regarding reimbursement. 
However, manufacrurers whose teclmology is reimbursed by government payors are subject to various U.S. federal and state laws 
pertaining to healthcare fraud and abuse. These laws can be implicated by inappropriate sales and marketing arrangements with 
healthcare providers. Many commonly accepted commercial practices are il[egal in tile healthcare industry and violations of these laws 
are ptmishable by criminal and civil sanctions, including, in some instances, exclusion from participation in U.S. federal and state 
healthcare programs, including Medicare and Medicaid. 
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Anti-kickback Laws. The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering 
or providing remtmeration directly or indirectly to induce either tl1e referral of an individual, or tile furnishing, recommending, or 
arranging of a good or service, for which payment may be made under a government healthcare program such as Medicare and 
Medicaid. The definition of"remuneration" has been broadly interpreted to include anything of value, including such items as gifts, 
discounts, the furnishing of supplies or equipment, credit arrangements, waiver of payments, and providing anything at less than its 
fair market value. The Office of the Inspector General for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, has issued regulations, 
conunonly known as safe harbors, which set forth certain provisions that, if satisfied in their entirety, will assure healthcare providers 
and other parties t11at they will not be prosecuted tiDder the federal Anti-Kicikback Statute. The failure of a transaction or arrangement 
to fit precisely within one or more safe harbors does not necessarily mean that it is illegal or that prosecution will be pursued. 
However, conduct and business arrangements that do not fully satisfy each applicable safe harbor element may result in increased 
scrutiny by government enforcement authorities or invite li tigation by private citizens under federal whistleblower laws. The Anti­
Kickback law is broadly interpreted and aggressively enforced with tl1e result t11at beneficial commercial arrangements can be 
criminalized in the healthcare industry because of the Anti-Kickback law. 

The penalties for violating tile federal Anti-Kickback Statute include imprisonment for up to 10 years, fines ofup to $100,000 per 
violation and possible exclusion fTom government healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. Many states have adopted 
prohibitions similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, some of which apply to the referral of patients for healthcare services 
reimbursed by any source, not only by the government programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. 

Federal False Claims Act. The federal False Claims Act prohibits knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false or 
fraudulent claim for payment or approval by a federal healthcare program, knowingly making or using, or causing to be made or used, 
a false statement or record to obtain payment from the federal government, or avoiding, decreasing or concealing an obligation to pay 
money to tl1e federal government. When an entity is determined to have violated tl1e False Claims Act, it must pay three times tile 
actual damages sustained by the government, plus mandatory per-claim civil penalties and attorneys' fees. Violation of the False 
Claims Act also can result in exclusion from government healthcare programs. Suits filed under the False Claums Act, known as "qui 
tan1" actions, can be brought by any individual on behalfofthe government and such individuals (known as "relators" or, more 
commonly, as "whistleblowers") may share in any ammmts paid by tl1e entity to tl1e government in fines or settlement. In addition, 
certain states have enacted laws modeled after the federal False Claims Act. Qui tam actions have increased significantly in recent 
years, causing greater numbers of healtllcare companies to have to defend false claim actions, even before the validity of the claim is 
established and even if the government decides not to intervene in the lawsuit. Healthcare companies may decide to agree to large 
settlements witll the government and/or whistleblowers to avoid tile cost and negative publicity associated with litigation. In addition, 
tl1e Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of20l0 amended federal law to provide t11at a violation of tile federal Anti-Kickback 
Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal civil False Claims Act. Criminal prosecution is possible for 
knowingly making or presenting a false or fictitious or fraudulent claim to the federal government. 

Various states have enacted false claims laws analogous to the False Claims Act. Some of these state laws apply where a claim is 
submitted to any commercial payor, and not merely a government healthcare program, and some authorize private citizens to bring 
suit on tl1e state's behalf. 

Federal Physician Self-Referral Law. The Federal Physician Self-Referral Law, also referred to as tile Stark Law, prohibits a 
physician (or an immediate family member of a physician) who has a financial relationship witl1 an entity from referring patients to 
that entity for certain designated health services, including durable medical equipment and supplies, payable by Medicare, unless an 
exception applies. The Stark Law also prohibits such an entity from presenting or causing to be presented a claim to the Medicare 
program for such designated health services provided pursuant to a prohibited referral, and provides that certain collections related to 
any such claims must be ref1mded in a timely manner. Exceptions to the Stark Law include, among other things, exceptions for certain 
fmancial relationships, including both ownership and compensation arrangements. The Stark Law is a strict liability statute: to the 
extent that the statute is implicated and an exception does not apply, the statute is violated. In addition to the Stark Law, many states 
have implemented similar physician self-referral prohibitions that may extend to Medicaid, tllird-party payors, and self-pay patients. 
Violations of tile Stark Law must be reported and unauthorized claims must be reftmded to Medicare in order to avoid potential 
liability tmder the federal False Claims Act for avoiding a known obligation to return identified overpayments. Violations of the Stark 
Law can also form the basis for exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs. 

Civil Monetary Penalties Law. The Civil Monetary Penalties Law ("CMPL") autllorizes tile imposition of substantial civil money 
penalties against an entity that engages in certain prohibited activities including but not limited to violations of the Stark Law or Anti­
Kickback Statute, knowing submission of a false or fraudulent claim, employment of an excluded individual, and the provision or 
offer of anytl1ing of value to a Medicare or Medicaid beneficiary tllat tl1e transferring party knows or should know is likely to 
influence beneficiary selection of a particular provider for which payment may be made in whole or part by a government healthcare 
program, unless an exception applies. Sanctions for violations of the CMPL include exclusion from participation in government 
healthcare programs, substantial fines, and payment of up to three times the amount billed, depending upon the nature of the offense. 
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State Analogs of Federal Fraud and Abuse Laws. Many U.S. states have their own laws intended to protect against fraud and abuse in 
the healthcare industry and more broadly. In some cases, these laws prohibit or regulate additional conduct beyond what federal law 
affects. Penalties for violating these laws can range from substantial fines to criminal sanctions. 

HIPAA. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and implementing regulations ("HIPAA"), created two new 
federal crimes: healthcare fraud and false statements relating to healthcare matters. The healthcare fraud statute prohibits knowingly 
and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private payors. A violation of this statute is a 
felony and may result in fines, imprisonment or exclusion from government healthcare programs. The false statements statute 
prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or 
fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services. 

FCPA and Other Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Laws. The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA") prohibits U.S. 
corporations and their representatives from offering, promising, authorizing or making payments to any foreign government official, 
government staff member, political party or political candidate in an attempt to obtain or retain business abroad. The scope of the 
FCPA would include interactions with certain healthcare professionals or organizations in many cotu1tries. Our present and future 
business has been and will continue to be subject to various other U.S. and foreign laws, rules and/or regulations. 

Physician Payments Sunshine Act. Manufactmers of U.S. FDA-regulated devices reimbursable by government healthcare programs 
are subject to the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which requires manufacturers to track and annually report certain payments and 
other transfers of value made to U.S.-Iicensed physicians, certain advanced non-physician healthcare practitioners, or U.S. teaching 
hospitals. As a manufacturer of U.S. FDA-regulated devices reimbursable by government healthcare programs, we are subject to this 
law. We are also required to report certain ownership interests held by physicians and their immediate family members. The law 
authorizes significant monetary penalties for violations, depending on the circumstances, and payments reported also have the 
potential to draw scrutiny on payments to and relationships with physicians, which may have implications under the Anti-Kickback 
Statute, Stark Law and other healthcare laws. 

Similar to the federal law, certain states also have adopted marketing and/or transparency laws relevant to device manufacturers, some 
of which are broader in scope. Some state laws require medical device companies to comply with the relevant industry's voluntary 
compliance guid!elines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government in addition to requiring device 
manufacturers to report infonnation related to payments to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures. The 
need to build and maintain a robust compliance program with different compliance and/or reporting requirements increases the 
possibility that a healthcare company may violate one or more of the requirements, resulting in fines and penalties. 

U.S. and European Data Security and Data Privacy Laws 

HIPAA's administrative simplification provisions established comprehensive federal standards for the privacy and security of health 
infonnation. In 2009, Congress enacted SubtitleD of the Health lnfonnation Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or 
HITECH, provisions of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, which expanded and strengthened HIPAA, created 
new targets for enforcement, imposed new penalties for noncompliance and established new breach notification requirements. JHIP AA 
applies to health plans, healthcare clearing houses, and healthcare providers that conduct certain healthcare transactions electronically, 
which are referred to collectively as "Covered Entities", as well as individuals or entities that perform services for Covered Entities 
involving the use, or disclosure of, individually identifiable health infonnation or protected health infonnation ("PHI") under HIPAA. 
Such service providers are called "Business Associates." Under HIPAA, as amended by the HITECH Act, HHS has issued regulations 
to protect the privacy and security of PHI used or disclosed by Covered Entities and Business Associates. HIPAA also regulates and 
standardizes the codes, formats and identifiers used in certain healthcare transactions and standardization of identifiers for health plans 
and providers, for example insurance billing. We are a Business Associate of our Covered Entity Customers in connection with the use 
of data and images to train AI algorithms as well as the provision of product maintenance and support services. Accordingly, we 
execute and must comply with HIP AA Business Associate Agreements and with HIP AA regulations applicable to Business 
Associates. Any non-compliance with HlPAA and HITECH could result in penalties and could adversely impact our business. 

The HIPAA security standards require the adoption of administrative, physical, and technical safeguards and the adoption of w ri tten 
security policies and procedures to maintain the security of protected health information. 

The HIPAA privacy regulations address the privacy of PHI by limiting the use and release of such infonnation. They also set forth 
certain rights that an individual has with respect to his or her PHI maintained by a Covered Entity, including the right to access or 
amend certain records containing PHI, request an accounting of disclosures of PHI or to request restrictions on the use or disclosure of 
PHI. Proposed modifications to the privacy regulations were published in January 2021 w ith a public comment period that ended in 
May 2021 . The content of the final rules has not yet been issued but may result in changes to HIP AA that could impact us and our 
business. The HIP AA breach notilfication regulations impose certain reporting requirements on Covered Entitiles and their Business 
Associates in the event of a breach of PHl. 
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Significant civil and criminal fines and other penalties may be imposed for violating HIP AA directly, and in connection with acts or 
omissions of any agents, including a downstream Business Associate. Civil penalties are adjusted for inflation on an annual basis and 
can exceed one million dollars per year for failure to comply with a HIPAA requirement. A single breach incident can violate multiple 
requirements. Additionally, a person who knowingly obtains or discloses PHI in violation of HIPAA may face criminal penalhes 
(including fmes and imprisonment), which increase if the wrongful conduct involves false pretenses or the intent to sell, transfer or use 
PHI for commercial advantage, personal gain or malicious hann. Covered Entities are also subject to enforcement by state Attorneys 
General who were given authority to enforce HIP AA. 

Additionally, while HIP AA does not create a private right of action allowing individuals to file suit against us in civil court for 
violations ofHIPAA, its standards have been used as the basis for duty of care cases in state civil suits such as those for negligence or 
recklessness in the misuse or breach of PHI. 

Even when HIPAA does not apply, according to the FTC, fai ling to take appropriate steps to keep consumers' personal information 
secure could constitute unfair acts or practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission 
Act. The FTC expects a company's data security measures to be reasonable and appropriate in light of the sensitivity and volume of 
consumer information it holds, the size and complexity of its business, and the cost of available tools to improve security and reduce 
vulnerabilities. Individually identifiable health information is considered sensitive data that merits stronger safeguards. The FTC and 
states' Attorneys General have also brought enforcement actions and prosecuted some data breach cases as mlfair and/or deceptive acts 
or practices under the FTC Act and comparable state laws. 

The HIPAA privacy and security regulations establish a unifonn federal "floor" and do not preempt state laws that are more stringent 
or provide individuals with greater rights with respect to the privacy or security of, and access to, their records containing PHI. These 
laws overlap with HIPAA and may differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating 
compliance efforts. Failure to comply with these laws, where applicable, can result in the imposition of significant civil and/or 
criminal penalties and private litigation. The State of California, for example, has implemented comprehensive laws and regulations 
concerning health information and other personally identifiable information. The California Confidentiality of Medical Information 
Act (CMIA) imposes restrictive requirements regulating the use and disclosure of health information and other personally identifiable 
information. Separately, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the CCP A) went into effect January I, 2020. The CCPA, 
among other things, creates new data privacy obligations for covered businesses and provides new privacy rights to California 
residents, including the right to opt out of certain disclosures of their information. It also creates individual pruvacy rights for 
California consumers and increases the privacy and security obligations of entities handling certain personal il!lformation. The CCPA 
provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for data breaches, which may result in increased privacy 
and i.J.lformation security enforcement in California. Although the law includes li.J.nited exceptions, il1cluding for PHI maintained by a 
Covered Entity or Business Associate under HIPAA and medical il1formation mai.J.1tained by healthcare providers under the CMIA, it 
may still regulate or impact our processing of personal information depending on the context. Further, the California Privacy Rights 
Act (CPRA) went into effect January 1, 2023, amending the CCPA. The CPRA imposes additional data protection obligations on 
covered businesses, including additional consumer rights processes, li.J.nitations on data uses, new audit requirements for higher risk 
data, and opt outs for certain uses of sensitive data, and the CPRA expands the application of the CCPA to personal information of our 
California-based employees. It also created a new regulatory entity, the California Privacy Protection Agency, which is authorized to 
issue substantive regulations under the CPRA and in which may spearhead mcreased privacy and infonnation security oversight and 
enforcement in California. Other states, such as Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Indiana, Iowa, Montana, Oregon, 
Tennessee, Texas, Utah and Virginia have enacted their own omnibus consumer privacy laws similar to the CCPA, and other states 
are considering proposals for suclh laws, all of which increases the complexity of compliance and the risk of failures to comply. 

In dealing with health information for the development of our technology or for commercial purposes, we are directly or indirectly 
affected by HIPAA and other federal and state-imposed health il1formation privacy and security laws, including consumer protection 
laws and regulations, because these laws govern the collection, dissemination, use, access to, confidentiality and security of patient 
health infonnation and regulate the ability of our customers and research co[laborators to share health information with us. For 
example, Washington state recently enacted the "My Health My Data" Act which regulates a broad category called "consumer health 
data," defrned as "personal information that is linked or reasonably linkable to a consmner and that identifies a consumer's past, 
present, or future physical or mental heallh'' Notably, the "My Health My Data" Act contains a private right of action, which is 
expected to increase litigation. In addition, Congress and some states are consideril1g new laws and regulations that further protect the 
privacy and security of medical records or medical information. We must also identify and comply with aU applicable state laws for 
the protection of personal information with respect to employee infonnation or other persona l infonnation that we collect. 

With the recent increase in publicity regarding data breaches resulting il1 improper dissemination of consumer information, all fifty 
states have passed laws regulating the actions that a business must take if it experiences a data breach, as defined by state law, 
including prompt disclosure within a specified amount of time to affected individuals. In addition to data breach notification laws, 
some states have enacted statutes and rules requiring businesses to reasonably protect certain types of personal mfonnation they hold 
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or to otherwise comply with certa in specified data security requirements for personal infom1ation. Congress has also been considering 
similar federal legislation relating to data privacy and data protection. 

In the European Union, increasingly stringent data protection and privacy rules have and will continue to have substantial impact on 
the use of personal and patient data across the heaEthcare industry. The EU General Data Protection Regulation, ("GDPR"), which 
took effect in May 2018, applies across the European Union and broader European Economic Area ("EEA'') and includes, among 
other things, a requirement for prompt notice of data breaches to data subjects and supervisory authorities in certain circumstances and 
significant fines for non-compliance. The GDPR establishes fmes and penal ties that reach up to 20 million euros, or up to 4% of total 
global turnover of the preceding fiscal year, whichever is higher. The GDPR sets out a number of requirements that must be complied 
with when handling the personal data of such EEA-based data subjects including: providing expanded disclosures about how their 
personal data wi II be used; higher standards for organizations to demonstrate that they have obtained valid consent or have another 
legal basis in place to justify their data processing activities; the obligation to appoint data protection officers in certain circumstances; 
rights for individuals to be "forgotten" and rights to data portability; rights to submit data access requests; the principal of 
accmmtability and demonstrating compliance through policies, procedures, training and audits; and a mandatory data breach regime. 
In particular, medical or health data, genetic data and biometric data where the latter is used to uniquely identify an individual are all 
classified as "special category" data under the GDPR and are afforded greater protection and require additional compliance measures. 
Noncompliance could result in the imposition of fines, penalties, data lockup or orders to stop noncompliant activities. We may be 
subject to the GDPR if we undertake operations in the EEA, offer products or services to individuals in the EEA or monitor the 
behavior of individuals within the EEA. Our research activities in the EEA currently implicate the GDPR and if we undertake 
commercial operations in the EEA, offer products or services to individuals in the EEA, or monitor the behav£or of individuals within 
the EEA, we will have additional compliance obligations. 

We could be subject to evolving European Union laws on data export, for transfers of data outside the EEA to, for example, group 
companies or third parties. The GDPR only permits exports of data outside the EEA to jurisdictions that ensure an adequate level of 
data protection. On July 16, 2020, the Court of Justice of the European Union or the CJEU, issued a landmark opinion in the case 
Maximilian Schrems vs. Facebook (Case C-311/1 8), called Schrems II. This decision (a) called into question commonly relied upon 
data transfer mechanisms as between the European Union member states and the United States (such as the Standard Contractual 
Clauses) and (b) invalidated the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield on which many companies had relied as an acceptable mechanism for 
transferring such data from the EEA to the United States. However, on July 10,2023, the European Commission adopted an adequacy 
decision for a new mechanism for transferring data from the EU to the United States- the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Fran1ework, which 
provides EEA individuals with several new rights, including the right to obtain access to their data, or obtain correction or deletion of 
incorrect or tmlawfully handled data. The adequacy decision followed the signing of an executive order introducing new binding 
safeguards to address the points raised in the Schrems II decision by the CJEU. The European Commission will continually review 
developments in the United States along with its adequacy decision. Adequacy decisions can be adapted or even withdrawn in the 
event of developments affecting the level of protection in the applicable jurisdiction. Future actions of data protection authorities in 
the EEA are difficult to predict. Some customers or other service providers may respond to these evolving laws and regulations by 
asking us to make certain privacy or data-related contractual commitments that we are Ul1able or unwilling to make. This could lead to 
the loss of current or prospective customers or other business relationships. 

Relatedly, following the United Kingdom's withdrawal from the European Union, the GDPR has been implemented in the United 
Kingdom (and referred to as the UK GDPR). The UK GDPR sits alongside the UK Data Protection Act 2018, which implements 
certain derogations in the EU GDPR into United Kingdom law. Under the UK GDPR, companies not established in the United 
Kingdom but which process personal data in relation to the offering of goods or services to individuals in the United Kingdom, or 
monitor the behavior of individuals in the United Kingdom will be subject to the UK GDPR- the requirements of which are (at this 
time) largely aligned with those under the EU GDPR, and as such, may lead to similar compliance and operational costs with potential 
fmes of up to 17.5 million pounds sterling or 4% of global turnover, whichever is higher. In June 2021, the European Commission 
issued a decision, which will sunset on June 27, 2025 without further action, that the United Kingdom ensures an adequate level of 
protection for personal data transferred under the EU GDPR from the European Union to the United Kingdom. 

International Regulation of Medical Devices 

International marketing and distribution of medical devices are subject to regulation by foreign governments, and such regulations 
may vary substantially from country to country. The time required to obtain marketing authorization in a foreign country may be 
longer or shorter than that required for FDA clearance or approval, and the requirements may differ. There is a trend towards 
hannonization of quality system standards among the European Union, United States, Canada and various other industrialized 
countries. For example, on February 2, 2024, the U.S. FDA issued a Final Rule describing amendments to harmonize the QSR with 
ISO 13485:2016, which will become effective on February 2, 2026. 

The primary regulatory enviromnent in Europe is that of the European Economic Area (the "EEA"), which is comprised of the 27 
Member States of the European Union (the "EU"), Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway. In the EEA, medical devices were previously 
required to comply with the Essential Requirements defined in Annex I to the EU Medical Devices Directive ("MOD") (applicable in 
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the non-EU EEA Member States via the Agreement on the European Economic Area), a coordinated system for the authorization of 
medical devices .. The directives and standards outlined in the MDD regulate the design, manufacture, clinical trials, labeling and 
adverse event reporting for medical devices. Devices that comply with the requirements of a relevant directive are entitled to bear the 
CE conformity marking, indicating that the device conforms to the essential requirements of the applicable directives and, 
accordingly, can be commercially distributed throughout the EEA. The method of assessing conformity varies depending on the class 
of the product, but for most medical devices involves a combination of self-assessment by the manufacturer and a third-party 
assessment by a ' 'Notified Body," an organization designated by an EU country to assess a product's confom1ity with the applicable 
legal requirements. This third-party assessment may consist of an audit of the manufacturer's quality system and specific testing of the 
manufacturer's product. An assessment by a Notified Body of one country within the EU is required in order for a manufacturer to 
commercially distribute the product throughout the EU. 

In 2017, European Union regulatory bodies fmalized a new Medical Device Regulation, which replaced the existing MDD framework 
and became effective on May 26, 2021. The Medical Device Regulation changes several aspects of the existing regulatory framework 
for medical device marketing in Europe in order to increase regulatory oversight of all medical devices marketed in the EU, which 
may, in turn, increase the costs, time and requirements that need to be met in order to place an innovative or high-risk medical device 
on the European market. In particular, the new regulations, among other things: 

• strengthen the rules on placing devices on the market and reinforce surveillance once they are available; 

• establish explicit provisions on manufacturers' responsibilities for the follow-up of the quality, performance and safety of devices 
placed on the market; 

• improve the traceability of medical devices throughout the supply chain to the end-user or patient through a unique identification 
number; 

• set up a central database to provide patients, healthcare professionals and the public with comprehensive information on products 
available in the EU; and 

• strengthen the rules for the assessment of certain high-risk devices, which may have to undergo an additional check by experts 
before they are placed on the market. 

To demonstrate compliance with the General Safety and Performance Requirements ("GSPRs"), set forth in the Medical Device 
Regulation, device manufacturers must undergo a conformity assessment procedure, which varies according to the type of device and 
its risk classification. Conformity assessment procedures require an assessment of the technical documentation, including the device 
description, the design stages, the manufacturing process, available clinical evidence, literature data for the product, and post-market 
experience in respect of similar products already marketed. Except for low-risk medical devices (Class I non-sterile, non-measuring 
devices), where the manufacturer can self-declare the confomlity of its products with the GSPRs (except for any parts which relate to 
sterility or metrology), the confornlity assessment must be completed by a Notified Body. To that effect, device manufacturers must 
apply to a Notified Body to request a conformity assessment. Notified Bodies are independent organizations designated by EU 
member states to assess the conformity of devices before being placed on the market. A Notified Body would typically audit and 
examine a product's technical dossiers and the manufacturer's quality management system (which must, in particular, comply with 
ISO 13485). As a general rule, demonstration of a device's confonnity with the GSPRs must be based, among other things, on the 
evaluation of clinical data supporting the safety and perfonnance of the device during nonnal conditions of use. If satisfied that the 
device confonns to the relevant GSPRs, the Notified Body issues a certificate of conformjty, which the manufacturer uses as a basis 
for its own declaration of confonn ity. The manufacturer may then apply the CE-Mark to the device, allowing the device to be legally 
marketed throughout the EU. Notified Body certificates of conformity are valid for a ftxed duration (to a maximum of five years). 

Throughout the term of the certificate, the manufacturer is subject to periodic surveillance audits to verify continued compliance with 
applicable requirements. In particular, a new audit by the Notified Body is required before the manufacturer renews the relevant 
certificate. 

Devices lawfully placed on the market pursuant to the Medical Device Directive prior to May 26, 2021 could initially continue to be 
made available on the market or put into service uutil May 26, 2025. Nevertheless, the European Parliament adopted legislation to 
extend this transitional period to give manufacturers more time to switch from the previously applicable provisions to the new 
certification requirements in the Medical Device Regulation. For high risk, class III and class Jib implantable devices the transitional 
period is extended until December 31 , 2027. For medium and low risk, class lib devices and class Ila, lm, Is and Ir devices the 
transition period is extended until December 31 , 2028. 

Outside of the EU, regulatory authorization must be sought on a country-by-country basis in order for the company to market their 
products. Some countries have adlopted medical device regulatory regimes, such as the Classification Rules for Medical Devices 
published by the Hong Kong Department of Health, the Health Sciences Authority of Singapore regulation of medical devices under 
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the Health Products Act, and Health Canada's risk classification system for invasive devices, among others. Each country may have its 
own processes and requirements for medical device licensing, approvaVclearance, and regulation, therefore requiring the company to 
seek marketing authorizations on a country-by-country basis. 

In addition, as previously noted; the UK left the EU on January 31 , 2020 (referred to as "Brexit"), with a transitional period that 
expired on December 31, 2020. The United Kingdom and the European Union entered into a trade agreement known as the Trade and 
Cooperation Agreement ('TCA"), which came into effect on January 1, 2021. The TCA does not specifically refer to medical devices. 
However, as a result of Brexit, the Medical Device Regulation will not be implemented in the UK, and previou s legislation that 
mirrored the Medical Device Regulation in the UK law has been revoked. The regulatory regime for medical devices in the UK will 
continue to be based on the requirements derived from EU legislation, and the UK may choose to retain regulatory flexibi lity or align 
with the Medical Device Regulation going forward. CE markings will continue to be recognized in the UK, and certificates issued by 
EU recognized Notified Bodies will be valid in the UK, until the earlier of June 30, 2028 or the expiration of the certificate for devices 
compliant with the Medical Device Directive or until June 30, 2030 for devices compliant with the Medical Device Regulation. For 
medical devices placed on the UK market after this period, the UKCA marking will be mandatory. In contrast, UKCA marking and 
certificates issued by UK Notified Bodies will not be recognized on the EU market. The TCA does provide for cooperation and 
exchange of information in the area of product safety and compliance, including market surveillance, enforcement activities and 
measures, standardization related activities, exchanges of officials, and coordinated product recalls (or other similar actions). 
Depending on which countries products will ultimately be sold in, manufacturers may start seeking alternative sources for components 
if this would allow them to benefit from no tariffs. The rules for placing medical devices on the Northern Ireland market will differ 
from those in the UK. 

In addition, outside the United States, a range of auti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, as well as some industry-specific laws and 
codes of conduct, apply to the medical device industry and interactions with govemment officials and entities and health care 
professionals. Such laws include, but are not limited to the UK Bribery Act of20 I 0. Further, the European Union member countries 
have emphasized a greater focus on healthcare fraud and abuse and have indicated greater attention to the industry by the European 
Anti-Fraud Office. Countries in Asia have also become more active in their enforcement of anti-bribery laws and with respect to 
procurement and supply chain fraud. 

Corporate Information 

HealthCor Catalio Acquisition Corp. ("HealthCor") was incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company on November 18, 2020 
for the purpose of effecting a merger, share exchange, asset acquisition, share purchase, reorganization or other similar business 
combination with one or more businesses. Legacy Hyperfme was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on February 
25, 2014tmder the name "Hyperfine Research, Inc." On May 25, 2021, the name of Legacy Hyperfine was changed to "Hyperfine, 
Inc." Liminal was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on September 21 , 20 18 under the name "EpilepsyCo Inc." On 
July 20, 2020, the name of Liminal was changed to "Liminal Sciences, Inc." On December 2 1, 202 1, Health Cor changed its 
jurisdiction of incorporation from the Cayman Islands to the State of Delaware by deregistering as an exempted company in the 
Cayman Islands and continuing and domesticating as a corporation, incorporated under the laws of the State ofDelaware. On 
December 22, 2021, HealthCor, Legacy Hyperfine and Liminal completed tihe business combination (the "Business Combination"), 
pursuant to which each of Legacy Hyperfme and Liminal becan1e a wholly owned subsidiary of HealthCor, HealthCor' s corporate 
name was changed to Hyperfine, Inc., Legacy Hyperfine's corporate name was changed to Hyperfine Operations, Inc., Liminal's 
corporate name was changed to Liminal Operations, Inc. (which was subsequently changed to Liminal Sciences, Inc.), and the 
business of Legacy Hyperfine and Liminal became the business of the Company. In December 2022, the Company suspended the 
Liminal program to develop a device to non-invasively measure key vital signs in the brain. Our principal executive offices are located 
at 351 New Whitfield Street, Guilford, Connecticut 06437, and our telephone number is (866) 796-6767. 

Information Available on the Internet 

Our internet address is https:/lhyperfine.io, to which we regularly post copies of our press releases as well as additional information 
about us. Our annual reports on Fonn 10-K, quarterly reports on Fonn 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to 
those reports, will be available to you free of charge through the Investors section of our website as soon as reasonably practicable 
after such materials have been electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Coil1lllission (the "SEC"). The 
SEC maintains an internet site (http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information 
regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. We include our web site address in this report only as an inactive textual 
reference. Information contained in our website does not constitute a part ofthis report or our other filings with the SEC. 
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Item lA. RISK FACTORS 

Except for the historical information contained herein, this report contains forward-looking statenzents that involve risks and 
uncertainties. These statements include projections about our finances, plans and objectives for the future, future operating and 
economic pe1jormance and other statements regardingjitfure pe1jormance. These statements are not guarantees offoture 
performance or events. Our actual results could differ materially fi·om those discussed in this report. Factors lhat could cause or 
contribute to these differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the following section, as well as those discussed in 
Part II, Item 7 entitled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and elsewhere 
throughout/his report. 

You should consider carefitlly the following risk factors, together with all of the other information included in this report. If any of the 
following risks, either alone or taken together, or other risks not presently known to us or that we currently believe to not be 
significant, develop into actual events, then our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects could be materially 
adversely affected. If that happens, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline, and stockholders may lose all or part 
of their investment. 

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this section to "we, " "us," "our" and the "Company" r<ifer to Hyperfine, Inc. 
and its subsidiaries following the Business Combination, or to Legacy Hyper fine, Liminal, or HealthCor prior to the Business 
Combination, as the case may be. 

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements 

We are an early-stage health technology company with a history of net losses, which we expect to continue, and we may not be able 
to generate meaningful revenues or achieve and sustain profitability in the future. 

We are an early-stage health technology company, and have incurred significant losses since Legacy Hyperfine and Liminal formed in 
2014 and 2018, respectively, and expect to continue to incur losses in the future. We incurred net losses of$40.7 million and $44.2 
million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of 
$294.4 million. These losses and accumulated deficit were primarily due to the substantial investllients made to develop and illiprove 
our technology and products. Over the next several years, we expect to continue to devote sulbstantially all of our resources towards 
commercialization of our products and continuing development efforts for improved and additional products. These efforts may prove 
more costly than we currently anticipate. We are generating product revenue but may never generate revenue sufficient to offset our 
expenses. In add!ition, as a public company, we will continue to incur significant legal, accmmting, administrative, insurance and other 
expenses. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that we will achieve profitability in the future or that, if we become profitable, will 
sustain profitability. 

We have a limited operating history, which may make it tlifficu/t to eva/ua"te the prospects for our future viability and pretlict our 
future performance. As such, you cannot rely upon our historical operating performance t:o make an investment decision 
regarding us. 

We have generated limited revenue from the sale of our products and services to date and have incurred significant losses. Our 
prospects must be considered in light of the uncertainties, risks, expenses, and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in 
their early stages of operations. We have not yet achieved wide market acceptance for our products, produced our products at scale, 
refined our sales model, or conducted at scale sales and marketing activities necessary for successful mass product adoption. 
Consequently, predictions about our future success or viability are highly uncertain and may not be as accurate as they could be if we 
had a longer operating history or a company history of successfully developing and commercializing products. 

In addition, as a business with a limited operating history, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays 
and other known and unknown obstacles. We will need to transition from a company in the early commercialization stage to large 
scale commercialization, and we may not be successful in such a transition. We have encountered in the past, and will encounter in the 
future, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies with limited operating histories in emerging and rapidly 
changing industries. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertajnties, which we will use to plan and operate our business, are 
incorrect or change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our results of operations could differ materially from our 
expectations, and our business, fmancial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. 
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We may need to raise additional capital to fum/ commercialization plans for our products, inclutling manufacturing, sales and 
marketing activities, expand our investments in research ami development, develop clinical evidence, and commercialize new 
products ami applications. 

Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We expect to use our cash resources to develop and 
further commercialize our products, develop new products, and for working capital and general corporate purposes. We may require 
additional capital to further develop and commercialize our products and to develop new products. In addition, our operating plans 
may change as a result of many factors that may cmrently be unknown to us, and we may need to seek additional funds sooner t11an 
planned. 

We cannot guarantee that future financing will be available in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Moreover, tl1e 
tem1s of any future financing may adversely affe.ct the holdings or the rights of our stockholders and the issuance of additional 
securities, whether equity or debt, by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our Class A common stock 
to decline. The incurrence of indebtedness could result in increased fixed payment obligations, and we may be required to agre.e to 
certain restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or 
license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. We 
could also be required to seek funds through arrangements with collaborative partners or otherwise at an earlier stage than otherwise 
would be desirable, and we may be required to relinquish rights to some of our technologies or products or ot11erwise agree to terms 
that are trnfavorable to us, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and prospects. In 
addition, raising additional capital tllrough ilie issuance of equity or convertible debt securities would cause dilution to holders of our 
equity securities, and may affect the rights ofilien-existing holders of our equity securities. Even if we believe that we have sufficient 
funds for our current or future operating plans, we may seek additional capital if market conditions are favorable or if we have specific 
strategic considerations. 

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future, which makes our future operating results difficult to predict am/ 
could cause our operating results to fall below expectations or any guitfance we may provide. 

Our quarterly and annual operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes it difficult for us to predict our future operating 
results. These fluctuations may occur due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside our control, including, but not limited to: 

• ilie timing and amount of expenditures that we may incur to develop, commercialize or acquire additional products and 
technologies or for other purposes, such as the expansion of our sales team and our facilities; 

• the budgets, budget cycles and approval processes of our customers and potential customers and any changes affecting such 
budgets, budget cycles and approval processes; 

• pricing actions, such as pricing adjustments we make to our business model; 

• seasonal spending patterns of our customers; 

• the timing of when we recognize any revenues; 

• future accounting pronotrncements or changes in our accounting policies; 

• the outcome of any future litigation or governmental investigations involving the Company, our industry or boili; 

• higher than anticipated service, replacement and warranty costs; 

• the impact of political instability and military conflict, such as the conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East, which has 
resulted in instability in the global financial markets and export controls, and which has contributed to the increased cost of 
the magnet t11at is a key custom-made component in our Swoop® system and is manufactured by a single source supplier in 
Europe, and could result in further supply impacts on our business and have a rnaterial adverse impact on our sales in affected 
markets; and 

• general industry, economic and market conditions and other factors, including factors unrelated to OUJr operating 
performances or the operating performance of our competitors. 
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The cumulative effects of the factors discussed above could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and rumual 
operating results. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meru1ingful. 

This variability and unpredictability could also result in us failing to meet the expectations of industry or financial analysts or 
investors for any period. If we are unable to further commercialize products or generate revenue, or if our operating results fall below 
the expectations of analysts or investors or below any guidance we may provide, or if the guidance we provide is below the 
expectations of analysts or investors, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline. 

We maintain our cash atfinanciltl institutions, often in balances that exceedfetlerally insured limits. 

The majority of our cash is held in accounts at U.S. brulking institutions that we believe are of high quality. Cash held in non-interest­
bearing and interest-bearing operating accounts may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insurance limits. If 
such banking institutions were to fail, we could lose a ll or a portion of those amounts held in excess of such insurance limitations. 
While the FDIC took control of Silicon Valley Bank ("SVB") on March 10, 2023 ru1d Signature Bank ("Signature Ba11k") on March 
12,2023, we did not have any accotmts with SVB or Signature Bank and therefore did not experience any specific risk of loss. Thus, 
we do not view the risk as material to our financial condition. However, the risk ofloss in excess of insurance limitations has 
generally increased. Any material loss that we may experience in the future could have an adverse effect on our ability to pay our 
operational expenses or make other payments and may require us to move our accOtmts to other brulks, which could cause a temporary 
delay in making payments to our vendors and employees and cause other operational inconveniences. 

Risks Related to Our Businesses 

Our success depentls upon market acceptance of our products and services, our ability to develop and commercialize existing and 
new products and services and generate revenues, and our ability to itlentify new markets for our technology. 

We have developed, and are engaged in the development of, MRI solutions. We are commercializing our Swoop® system to address 
limitations of current imaging teclmologies. Our success will depend on the acceptru1ce of our products and services in the United 
States and international healthcare markets. The marketplace may not be receptive to our products and services over competing 
products, including conventional.MRI systems used in hospitals and imaging centers and physicians' offices, and we may be unable to 
compete effectively. Factors that could affect our ability to successfully further commercialize our current products ru1d services and 
to commercialize any potential future products and services include: 

• challenges of developing (or acquiring externally-developed) technology solutions that are adequate and competitive in 
meeting the requirements of next-generation design challenges; and 

• dependence upon physiciru1s' and other healthcare practitioners' acceptance of our products. 

We cannot assure investors that our current products and services or any future products and services will gain broad market 
acceptance. Jf the market for our current products and services or any future products and services fails to develop or develops more 
slowly than expected, or if any of our products or services do not achieve or sustain market acceptance, our business ru1d operating 
results would be materially and adversely affected. 

Hetllth technology development is costly and involves continual technological change, which may render our current or future 
products obsolete. 

The market for point-of-care hea lth teclmology and medical devices is characterized by rapid technological change, medical advances 
and evolving industry standards. Any one of these factors could reduce the demand for our devices or services or require substantial 
resources and expenditures for research, design and development to avoid technological or market obsolescence. 

Our success will depend on our ability to enhance our current technology, products and services, develop or acquire and market new 
technologies and to continue to improve our technology, products and services to meet customer needs. A failure to adequately 
develop or acquire technology that will address customer requirements adequately, or to introduce such improved products and 
services on a timely basis, may have a material adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition and results of operations. 

We might have insufficient financial resources to improve existing devices, advance technologies and develop new products and 
services at competitive prices. Technological advances by one or more competitors or future entrants into the field may result in our 
current products and services becoming non-competitive or obsolete, which may decrease revenues and profits ru1d adversely affect 
our business ru1d results of operations. 
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We may encounter significant competition across our existing and future planned products and services and in each market in which 
we sell or plan to sell our products and services from various companies, many of which have greater financial and marketing 
resources than us. Our primary competitors include several large companies which currently dominate the medical imaging market, 
including General Electric, Siemens, Philips, Hologic, Fuji, Toshiba, Canon and Hitachi. 

In addition, our competitors, some of which are well-established manufacturers with significant resources, may engage in aggressive 
marketing tactics. Competitors may also possess the ability to commercialize additional lines of products, bundle products or offer 
higher discounts and incentives to customers in order to gain a competitive advantage. If the prices of competing products are lowered 
as a result, we may not be able to compete effectively. 

We will be dependent upon the success of our sales and customer acquisition lmd retention strategies. 

Our business is dependent upon the success of our sales and customer acquisition and retention strategies, and our marketing efforts 
are focused on developing a strong reputation with healthcare providers and increasing awareness of our products and services. If we 
fail to maintain a high quality of service or a high quality of device technology, we may fail to retain existing customers or add new 
customers. If we do not successfully continue our sales efforts and promotional activities, particularly to health systems and large 
institutions, or if existing customers decrease their level of engagement, our revenue, financ ia l results and business may be 
significantly banned. Our fltture success depends upon continued expansion of our commercial operations in the United States and 
internationally, as well as entering additional markets to commercialize our products and services. We believe that our growth will 
depend on the further development and commercialization of our current products and services, regulatory authorization of our current 
products and services in additional markets, and development, regulatory authorization and commercialization of our future products 
and services. If we fail to expand the use of our products and services in a timely manner, we may not be able to expand our market 
share or to grow our revenue. Our financial perfonnance will be substantially dictated by our success in increasing and maintaining 
the volume of use of our products by our customers. If customers do not perceive our products or services to be useful, reliable and 
trustworthy, we may not be able to attract or retain customers or otherwise maintain or increase the frequency and duration of their 
engagement. As our business model is predicated on device hardware sales, and service and support agreements for use of device 
hardware and services, there is risk that any decline in sales, service and support renewal rates will adversely impact our business. A 
decrease in customer retention, growth or engagement with our products and services may have a material and adverse impact on our 
revenue, business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Any number of factors could negatively affect customer retention, growth and engagement, including: 

• customers choosing competing products or choosing to use conventional MRI systems over our products; 

• failure to introduce new and improved products and services; 

• inability to continue to develop products that customers find effective and that achieve a high level of market acceptance; 

• changes in customer sentin1ent about the quality or usefulness of our products and services or concerns related to safety, 
security, privacy and data sharing or other factors; 

• adverse changes in our products that are mandated by legislation or regulatory agencies, both in the United States and 
internationally; or 

• technical or other problems preventing us from delivering products or services in a rapid and reliable manner or otherwise 
affecting the user experience. 

In addition, we expect that changing policies of and actions by the U.S. government will adversely affect the ability of certain of our 
current, or potential, customers or collaborators to purchase, maintain or retain our products and services. In particular, upon taking 
office in January 2025, the Trump administration effectively prevented the Nlli from reviewing and awarding grants, or paying out 
funds under already awarded grants, including for research or other projects that involve our products and services. If this hold on 
government grants continues, or if the U.S. government takes any other actions to limit funds available for life science or healthcare 
research or other projects, we expect that it will affect certain of our current, or potential, customers and may !have a material and 
adverse impact on our revenue, business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We expect to generate a substantial portion of our revenue internationally in the future and may become subject to various 
additional risks relating to our international actil,ities, which could adversely affect our business, operating results am/ financial 
condition. 

Revenue from non-U.S. cmmtries was 51% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024. We believe that a substantial 
percentage of our future revenue will come from international sources as we continue to commercialize our products and services, 
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having received marketing authorization for brain imaging in several countries, including the European Union (CE Mark), the United 
Kingdom (UKCA Mark), Canada, Australia and New Zealand. We expect to continue to seek regulatory authorization for our 
products in additional jurisdictions, and we seek to expand our sales and marketing opportunities internationally. Our success will 
depend, in part, upon our ability to succeed in differing legal, regulatory, economk, social and political conditions by developing, 
implementing and maintaining policies and strategies that are effective in each location where we do business. We have limited 
experience operating internationally and engaging in international business involves a number of difficulties and risks, including: 

• the challenges associated with building local brand awareness, obtaining local key opinion leader support and clinical 
support, implementing reimbursement strategies and building local marketing and sales teams; 

• required compliance with foreign regulatory requirements and laws, including regulations and laws relating to patient data 
and medical devices; 

• trade relations among the United States and those foreign cow1tries in which our current or future customers, distributors, 
manufacturers and suppliers have operations, including protectionist measures such as tariffs and import or export licensing 
requirements, whether imposed by the United States or such foreign countries, such as China; 

• difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations; 

• difficulties protecting, procuring or enforcing intellectual property rights internationally; 

• required compliance with anti-bribery laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, data privacy requirements, labor 
laws and anti-competition regulations; 

• laws and business practices that may favor local companies; 

• longer payment cycles and difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through certain foreign legal 
systems; 

• political and economic instability; and 

• potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs, customs charges, bureaucratic requirements and other trade barriers. 

For example, our business may continue to be impacted by the conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East, any economic or other 
sanctions imposed on Russia and others for aggression in Ukraine, and any economic or other countermeasures by affected countries. 
Any such conflict may also impact our ability to secure raw materials and finished products and create supply chain disruptions. For 
example, we have incurred increased costs of the magnet, a key custom-made component in our Swoop® system, which is 
manufactured by a single source supplier in Europe. In the event of further increased costs or intermption from any of our suppliers or 
manufacturers, we may not be able to obtain capacity from other sources or develop alternate or secondary sources without incurring 
material additional costs and substantial delays. As we seek to expand into international markets, the conflict in Ukraine and the 
Middle East and any related economic or other sanctions or related countermeasures could limit our ability to expand our business and 
have a material adverse impact on demand for our products and sales in affected markets. In addition, sanctions imposed on Russia 
and others in response to the conflict in Ukraine may a lso continue to adversely impact the ftnancial markets and the global economy, 
and any economic countenneasures by Russia and others could exacerbate market and economic instability. 

Additionally, the imposition of substantial tariffs by the United States on imports from various countries, including China, Canada, 
and Mexico, and the possible countenneasures by these countries could increase costs, dismpt the global supply chain, and create 
additional operational challenges. The uncertainty surrounding future trade relationships and the potential for increased market 
volatility and currency exchange rate fluctuations a long with tariffs and trade regulations could have an adverse effect on our business. 

If we dedicate significant resources to our international operations and are unable to manage these risks effectively, our business, 
operating results and financial condition may be adversely affected. 

We are subject to export ami import control laws and regulations that couM impair our ability to compete in international m arkets 
or subject us to liability if we violate such laws and regulations. 

We are required to comply with export and import control laws, which may affect our ability to enter into or complete transactions 
with certain customers, business partners, and other persons. In certain circumstances, export control regulations may prohibit the 
export of certain products, services, and teclmologies. We may be required to obtain an export license before exporting a controlled 
item, and granting of a required !Ecense cannot be assured. Compliance with the import laws that apply to our businesses may restrict 
our access to, and may increase the cost of obtaining, certain products and could interrupt our supply of imported inventory. 
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Exported technologies necessary to develop and manufacture certain products are subject to U.S. export control laws and similar laws 
of other jurisdictions. We may be subject to adverse regulatory consequences, including government oversight of facilities and export 
transactions, monetary penalties, and other sanctions for violations of these laws. In certain instances, these regulations may prohibit 
us from developing or manufacturing certain of our products for specific applications outside the United States. Failure to comply with 
any of these laws and regulations could result in cnvil and criminal, monetary, and nonmonetary penalties; disruptions to our business; 
limitations on our ability to import and export products and services; or damage to our reputation. 

If we experience decreasing prices for our products and are unable to red11ce our expenses, incltuling the per zmit cost of 
producing our products, there mlly be a material ad,•erse effect on our business, results of operations,financilll condition and cash 
flows. 

We may experience decreasing prices for our products due to pricing pressme from managed! care organizations and other third-party 
payors and suppliers, increased market power of our payors as the medical device industry consolidates, and increased competition 
among suppliers, including manufacturing services providers. If the prices for our products and services decrease and we are unable to 
reduce our expenses, including the cost of sourcing materials, logistics and the cost to manufacture our products, our business, results 
of operations, financial condition and cash flows may be adversely affected .. To the extent that we engage in enterprise sales, we may 
be subject to procurement discounts, which could have a negative impact on the prices of our products. 

We hltve undertaken internal restructuring activities that couM result in disruptions to our business or otherwise materially harm 
our results of operations or financial condition. 

On January 28, 2025, we implemented an organizational restructuring designed to decrease our costs and create a more streamlined 
organization to support our business priorities. As a result, we terminated approximately 14% of our global workforce. The 
restructuring affects employees predominantly in technical positions and is largely focused on internally-facing roles as we evolve 
from development stage to commercial stage. There can be no assurance that our restructuring will achieve the cost savings, operating 
efficiencies or other benefits that we may have initially expected. If our restructuring fails to achieve some or all of the expected 
benefits therefrom, our cash resomces may not last as long as estimated and our business, results of operations and fmancial condition 
could be materia lly and adversely affe.cted. 

If we are unable to attract, recruit, train, retain, motivate and integrate key personnel and expaml our organization, our operations 
may be disruptetl and we may not achieve our goals. 

Our future success depends on Oll!r ability to attract, recruit, train, retain, motivate and integrate key personnel, including the Founder 
of Legacy Hyperfine and Liminal and our director, Dr. Jonathan Rothberg, our Chairperson, R. Scott Huennekens, and our President 
and Chief Executive Officer, Maria Sainz, as well as other members of our management team and our research and development, 
manufacturing, software engineering and sales and marketing personnel. As our development and conm1ercialization plans and 
strategies develop, we will need additional managerial, operational, sales, marketing, financial, legal and other resources. Competition 
for qualified personnel in the health technology and medical device industry is intense. Due to this intense competition, we may be 
unable to attract and retain the qualified personnel necessary for the development of our business or to recruit suitable replacement 
personnel. 

We believe that our management team must be able to act decisively to apply and adapt our business model ii11 the rapidly changing 
markets in which we compete. In addition, we rely upon technical and scientific employees or third-party contractors to effectively 
establish, manage and grow our business. Consequently, we believe that our future viability will depend largely on our ability to 
attract and retain highly skilled managerial, sales, scientific and technical personnel. In order to do so, we may need to pay higher 
compensation or fe.es to our employees or consultants than we currently expect, and such higher compensation payments may have a 
negative effect on our operatii1g results. Competition for experienced, high-quality personnel is intense, and we carmot assure 
investors that we will be able to recruit and retain such personnel. Our growth depends, in particular, on attracting and retaining 
highly-trained sales persmmel with the necessary teclmical background and ability to tmderstand our products and services at a 
technical level to effectively ident ify and sell to potential new customers and develop new products. Because of the technical nature of 
our products and the dynamic market in which we compete, any failure to auract, recruit, train, retain, rnotivale and integrate qualified 
personnel could materially hann our operating results and growth prospects. 

Our management may need to divert a disproportionate amount of our attention away from our day-to-day activities and devote a 
substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities. We may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our 
operations, which may result in weaknesses in our infrastructure, operational mistakes, loss of business opportunities, loss of 
employees and reduced productivity among remaining employees. Our expected growth could require significant capital expenditures 
and may divert financial resources from other projects, such as the development of additional products. If our management is unable to 
effectively manage our growth, our expenses may increase more than expected. Our ability to generate and/or grow revenue could be 
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reduced and we may not be able to implement our business strategy. Our future financial performance and our ability to 
commercialize products and serv£ces and compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future 
growth. 

We have limited experience in marketing and selling our products am/ relatetl services, ami if we are unable to successfully 
commercialize o11r products am/ related services, our b11siness ami operating results will be atlversely affected. 

We have limited experience marketing and selling our products and related services. We began selling our Swoop® system in 2020 
and currently sell the device primarily to customers through direct sales. Future sales of our products will depend in large part on our 
ability to effectively market and sell our products and services, successfully manage and expand our sales force, and increase the 
scope of our marketing efforts. We have entered into distribution arrangements and may enter into additional distribution 
arrangements in the future. Because we have limited experience in marketing and selling our products, our ability to forecast demand, 
the infrastructure required to support such demand and the sales cycle to customers is unproven. If we do not build an efficient and 
effective marketing and sales force, our business and operating results will be adversely affected. 

We rely on a single contract manufacturer, Benchmark, to test, assemble am/ supply our finished products. IfBenchmark ftLils to 
fulfill its obligations under its existing contractual arrangements with us or tloes not perform satisfactorily, our ability to SOliYCe 
our tlevices could be negatively llml adversely affected. 

In October 2018, Legacy Hyperfme entered into a Manufacture and Supply Agreement with Benclunark (the "MSA"). Under the 
MSA, Benchmark agreed to manufacture our products pursuant to binding purchase orders. The parties have agreed to meet 
periodically regarding any minimum order quantities of components under the MSA. We also have certain inventory-related 
obligations, including the obligation to purchase excess and obsolete components from Benchmark. See "Item 1. Business- Key 
Agreements - Manufacture and Supply Agreement with Benchmark Electronics, Inc." 

In the event it becomes necessary to utilize a different contract manufacturer for our component products, we would experience 
additional costs, delays and difficulties in obtaining such components as a result of identifying and entering into an agreement with a 
new contract manufacturer as well as preparing such new manufacturer to meet the logistical requirements associated with 
manufacturing our devices, and our business would suffer. 

We rely on a limited number of suppliers f or our protlucts. A loss of any of these suppliers could negatively affect our busin ess. 

We rely on a limited number of suppliers to manufacture components for our products, including in some cases only a single supplier 
for some of our components. In addition, we rely on Benclunark to purchase the magnet used in our Swoop® system, which is a key 
custom-made component manufactured by a single source supplier in Europe. Our reliance on a limited number of suppliers increases 
our risks, since we do not currently have alternative or replacement suppliers beyond these key parties. In the event of interruption 
from any of our suppliers, we may not be able to increase capacity from other sources or develop alternate or secondary sources 
without incurring material additional costs and substantial delays. 

If we experience a significant increase in demand for our products, or if we need to replace an existing supplier or manufacturer, we 
may be unable to supplement or replace them on terms that are acceptable to us, which may undennine our ability to deliver our 
products to customers in a timely manner. Identifying suitable suppliers and manufacturers is an extensive process that requires us to 
become satisfied with their quality control, technical capabilities, responsiveness and service, fmancial stability, regulatory 
compliance, and labor and other ethical practices. Accordingly, a loss of any of our suppliers or our device manufacturer could have 
an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. 

We have exp erienced and may continue to experience pricing pressures from contract suppliers or manufacturers on which we 
rely. 

Third-party suppliers utilized by our manufacturer, Benclunark have and may continue to in1pose pricing pressures. Because we 
currently also rely on Benchmark to manufacture, test and ship all of the Swoop® systems and on a limited number of suppliers to 
supply our components, including Benchmark to purchase the magnet used in the scanner from a single source supplier, such pricing 
pressures from a third party such as Benclunark have and could increase our costs and could force us to increase the prices of our 
products if we are unable to enter into alternative arrangements with other suppliers or manufacturers, potentially leading to decreased 
customer demand. 

If we do not successfully optimize and operate ou r sales and p otential future tlistribution ch annels or we do not eff ectil,ely expand 
and update our infrastructure, our operating results am/ customer experience may be negatively impactetl. 
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If we do not adequately predict market demand or otherwise optimize and operate our sales and potential future distribution channels 
successfully, it could result in excess or insufficient inventory or fhlfillment capacity, increased costs, or immediate shortages in 
product or component supply, or harm our business in other ways. In addition, if we do not maintain adequate infrastructure to enable 
us to, among other things, manage our purchasing and inventory, it could negatively impact our operating results and customer 
experience. 

The market for our products and services is new, rapidly el'Olving, and increasingly competitive, as the healthcare industry in the 
United States is undergoing significant structural change, which makes it llifficult to forecast demand for our pro£/ucts am/ 
services. 

The market for our products and services is new and rapidly evolving, and it is uncertain whether we will achieve and sustain high 
levels of demand and market adoption. Our future financial performance wiH depend in part on growth in this market and on om 
ability to adapt to the changing demands of customers. It is difficult to predict the future growth rate and size of our target market. As 
a result, our commercial expectations may not be achieved. Negative publicity concerning our products could limit market acceptance 
of our products and services. If our customers do not perceive the benefits of our products and services, or if our products and services 
do not attract new customers, then our market may not develop at all, or we may develop more slowly than we expect. Our success 
will depend to a substantial extent on the willingness ofhealtllcare organizations to increase their use of our technology and our ability 
to demonstrate the value of our teclmology relative to competing products and services to existing and potential customers. If 
healthcare organizations do not recognize or acknowledge the benefits of our products and services or if we are unable to reduce 
healthcare costs or drive positive health outcomes, then the market for our solutions might not develop at all, or might develop more 
slowly than we expect. Similarly, negative publicity regarding patient confidentiality and privacy in the context of technology-enabled 
healthcare or concerns experienced by competitors could limit market acceptance of our products and services. 

The healthcare industry in the United States is undergoing significant structma1 change and is rapidly evolving. Our products and 
services are offered on a business model, through the sale of device and service and support agreements which is still relatively new in 
the healthcare industry. If companies do not adopt to this business model and our device does not achieve widespread adoption, or if 
there is a reduction in demand for the purchase of our device and service and support agreements, our business, financial condition, 
and results of operations could be adversely affected. In addition, reduction in Medicaid or other healthcare reimbursements may 
impact our domestic customers which may eventually have an adverse impact on us. Other actions which have not yet been announced 
create uncertainty and are difficult to predict and or manage. 

Quality problems could lead to recalls or safety alerts and/or reputational harm am/ could have a material mlverse effect on our 
business, results· of operations, financial conditifm and cash flows. 

The quality of our products is very important to us and our customers due to the serious and costly consequences of product failure. 
Our business exposes us to potential product liability risks that are inherent in the design, manufacture, and marketing of medical 
devices. Product or component failures, manufacturing nonconformities, design defects, off-Label use, or inadequate disclosure of 
product-related risks or product-related information with respect to our products, if they were to occur, could result in inaccurate 
imaging and safety risks. These problems could lead to the recall of, or the issuance of a safety alert relating to, our products, and 
could result in product liability cla ims and lawsuits. 

Additionally, the manufacture and production of our products must occur in a highly controlled and clean environment to minimize 
particles and other yield- and quality-limiting contaminants. Weaknesses in process control or minute impurities in materials may 
cause defective products. If we are not able to maintain stringent quality controls, or if contamination problems arise, our development 
and commercialization efforts could be delayed, which would harm our business and results of operations. 

If we fail to meet any applicable product quality standards and our products are the subject of recalls or safety alerts, our reputation 
could be damaged, we could lose customers, and our revenue and results of operations could decline. 

If we are not able to develop and release new products am/ services, or successful enhancements, new features am/ modifications 
to our exiMing products anti ~·ervice~·, to successfully implement our ~;oftware solutions or t:o achieve adequate clinical feasibility, 
our business, financial condition and results of operations couill be adversely affected. 

The markets in which we operate are characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product and service introductions and 
enhancements, changing customer demands, and evolving industry standards. The introduction of products and services embodying 
new technologies can quickly make existing products and services, including the software that comes with the service and support 
agreement to be obsolete and unmarketable. Additionally, changes in laws and regulations could impact the usefulness of our products 
and could necessitate changes or modifications to our products to accommodate such changes. We invest substantial resources in 
researching and developing new products and enhancing existing products by incorporating additional features, improving 
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functionality, and adding other improvements to meet customers' evolving needs. The success of any enhancements or improvements 
to our existing products or any new products depends on several factors, including timely completion, competitive pricing, adequate 
quality testing, integration with new and existing teclmologies and third-party partners' technologies and overall market acceptance. 
We may not succeed in developing, marketing and delivering on a timely and cost-effective basis enhancements or improvements to 
our existing products or any new products that respond to continued changes in market demands or new customer requirements, and 
any enhancements or improvements to our products or any new solutions may not achieve market acceptance. Since developing our 
products is complex, the timetable for the release of new products and enhancements to existing products is difficult to predict, and we 
may not offer new products and updates as rapidly as our customers require or expect. Any new products that we develop may not be 
introduced in a timely or cost-effective manner, may contain errors or defects, or may not achieve the broad market acceptance 
necessary to generate sufficient revenue. Moreover, even if we introduce new products, we may experience a decline in revenue from 
our existing products that is not offset by revenue from the new products. For example, customers may delay making purchases of 
new products to permit them to make a more thorough evaluation of these products or until industry and marketplace reviews become 
widely available. Customers may also delay purchasing a new product because their existing product or other device continues to meet 
their needs. Some customers may hesitate to migrate to a new product due to concerns regarding the perfonnance of the new product 
In addition, we may lose existing customers who choose a competitor' s products and services or decide that a traditional MRI system 
is sufficient to m.eet their needs. This could result in a temporary or permanent revenue shortfall and adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

The introduction of new products and solutions by competitors, the development of entirely new teclmologies to replace existing 
offerings or shifts in healthcare benefits trends could make our products obsolete or adversely affect our business, fmancial condition 
and results of operations. We may experience difficulties with software development, industry standards, design or marketing that 
could delay or prevent our development, introduction or implementation of new products, enhancements, additional features or 
capabilities. If customers do not widely purchase and adopt our products, we may not be able to realize a return on our investment. If 
we do not accurately anticipate customer demand or if we are tmable to develop, license or acquire new features and capabilities on a 
timely and cost-effective basis, or if such enhancements do not achieve market acceptance, it could result in adverse publicity, loss of 
revenue or market acceptance or claims by customers brought against us, each of which could have a material and adverse effe·ct on 
our reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition. 

We are party to Technology and Services Exchange Agreements with certain affiliated companies, pursuant to which the parties 
agreed to share personnel am[ certain non-core technologies. The sharing arrangements under the agreements may prevent us 
from fully utilizing our personnel am/lor the technologies shareflunder the agreements. Furthermore, if these agreements were to 
terminate, or if we were to lose access to these technologies and services, our business coul£1 be adversely affected. 

We entered into Technology and Services Exchange Agreements (each, a "TSEA" and collectively, the "TSEA") with other 
participant companies controlled by the Rothberg family. A TSEA by and among Butterfly Network, Inc., OrphAI Therapeutics Inc. 
(f/k/a AI Therapeutics, Inc.), Quantum-Si Incorporated, 4Bionics LLC, identifeye Health Inc. (flk/a Tesseract Health, Inc.), Detect, 
Inc. (f/k/a Homodeus Inc.), Legacy Hyperfine and Liminal was signed in November 2020; a TSEA by and among Quantum-Si 
Incorporated, AI Therapeutics, Inc., 4Bionics LLC, identifeye Health Inc., Detect, Inc., Legacy Hyperfme and! Liminal was signed in 
Febmary 2021 (and which Protein Evolution, Inc. joined in August 2021); and a TSEA by and among Legacy Hyperfine, Liminal, 
OrphAI Therapeutics Inc., identi feye Health Inc. and Detect, Inc. was signed in July 2021 and became effective upon the closing of 
our December 2021 business combination. Under the TSEA, we and the other participant companies may, in their discretion, permit 
the use of certain non-core technologies, which include any technologies, infonnation or equipment owned or otherwise controlled by 
the participant company that are not specifically related to the core business area of the participant, such as software, hardware, 
electronics, fabrication and supplier infonnation, vendor lists and contractor lists, with the other participant companies. The TSEA 
provides that ownership of each non-core technology shared by us or another participant company will remain with the company that 
originally shared the non-core teclmology. In addition, any participant company (including us) may, in its discretion, permit its 
pers01mel to be engaged by another participant company to perform professional, technical or consulting services for such participant. 
Unless otherwise agreed to by us and the other participant company, all rights, title and interest in and to any inventions, works-of­
authorship, idea, data or know-how invented, made, created or developed by the personnel (employees, contractors or consultants) in 
the course of conducting services for a participant company ("Created IP") will be owned by the participant company for which the 
work was performed, and the recipient participant company grants to the party that had its personnel provide the services that resulted 
in the creation of the Created IP a royalty-free, perpetual, limited, worldwide, non-exclusive, sub-licensable (and with respect to 
software, sub-licensable in object code only) license to utilize the Created IP only in the core business field of the originating 
participant company, including a license to create and use derivative works based on the Crea ted IP in the originating participant's 
core business field, subject to any agreed upon restrictions. 

The technology and personnel-sharing arrangements under the TSEA may prevent us from fully utilizing our personnel if such 
personnel are also being used by the other participant companies and may also cause our personnel to enter into agreements with or 
provide services to other companies that interfere with their obligations to us. Created IP und!er the TSEA may be relevant to our 
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business and created by our personnel but owned by the other participant companks. Furthermore, if the TSEA were to terminate, or if 
we were to lose access to the technologies and services available pursuant to the TSEA, our business could be adversely affected. 

We may acquire other companies or technologies, which could fail to result in a commercial protluct or net sales, tlivert our 
management's attention, result in adtlitional tlilution to our stockholtlers and otherwise disrupt our operations ancl harm ottr 
operating results. 

We may in the future seek to acquire or invest in businesses, applications or technologies that we believe could complement or expand 
our portfolio, enhance our technical capabilities or otherwise offer growtll opportunities. However, we cannot assure you that we 
would be able to successfully complete any acquisition we choose to pursue, or that we would be able to successfully integrate any 
acquired business, product or technology in a cost-effective and non-dismptive manner. The pursuit of potential acquisitions may 
divert the attention of management and cause us to incur various costs and expenses in identifying, investigating and pursuing suitable 
acquisitions, whether or not they are consununated. We may not be able to identify desirable acquisition targets or be successful in 
entering into an agreement with any particular target or obtain the expected benefits of any acquisition or investment. 

To date, the growth of our operations has been largely organic, and we have limited experience in acquiring other businesses or 
technologies. We may not be able to successfully integrate any acquired persormel, operations and technologies, or effectively manage 
the combined business following an acquisition. Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity securities, the use of our 
available cash, or the incurrence of debt, which could hann our operating results. In addition. if an acquired business fails to meet our 
expectations, our operating results, business and fmancial condition may suffer. 

As international expansion of our business occurs, it will expose us to market, regulatory, political, operational, financial ant! 
economic risks associatetl with doing business outsitle of the United States. 

Our long tem1 strategy is to increase our international presence. We received marketing authorization for brain imaging in several 
countries, including the European Union (CE Mark), the United Kingdom (UK.CA Mark), Canada, Australia and New Zealand. This 
strategy may include establishing and maintaining physician outreach and education capabilities outside of the United States and 
expanding our relationships with international customers. Doing business internationally involves a number of risks, including: 

• difficulties in staffing and managing our international operations; 

• multiple, conflicting and! changing laws and regulations such as tax laws, privacy laws, export and import restrictions, 
employment laws, regulatory requirements and other governmental approvals, permits and licenses; 

• reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries; 

• obtaining regulatory clearance where required for our products in various countries; 

• requirements to maintain data and the processing of that data on servers located within such countries; 

• limits on our ability to penetrate international markets if we are required to manufacture our products locally; 

• financial risks, such as longer payment cycles, difficulty collecting accounts receivable, foreign tax laws and complexities of 
foreign value-added tax systems, the effect of local and regional financial pressures on demand and payment for our products 
and exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; 

• restrictions on the site-of-service for use of our products and the economics related thereto for physicians and other 
healthcare practitioners; 

• natural disasters and economic instability, including outbreak of disease, boycotts, curtailment of trade and other market 
restrictions; 

• wars, terrorism and political unrest, such as the conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East, which has resulted in instability in 
the global financial markets and export controls, and which could result in supply disruptions for us, including becaus,e one 
key custom-made component in our Swoop® system is the magnet, which is manufactured by a single source supplier in 
Europe, and which could also have a material adverse impact on our sales in affected markets; and 

• regulatory and compliance risks that relate to maintaining accurate information and control over activities subject to 
regulation under the U.S. Foreign Cormpt Practices Act, and comparable laws and regulations in other countries. 
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Any of these factors could significantly harm our future international expansion and operations and, consequently, have a material 
adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition and results of operations. 

UnftJvorable global economic conditions could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. 

Our results of operations could be adversely affe.cted by general conditions in the global economy and in the global financial markets, 
including changes in inflation, interest rates, tariffs and overall economic conditions and uncertainties. For instance, if inflation, tariffs 
or other factors were to significantly increase our business costs, it may not be feasible to pass price increases on to our customers. 
Inflation could also adversely affect the ability of our customers to purchase our products. An economic downturn could result in a 
variety of risks to our business, including weakened demand for our products and our inability to raise additional capital when needed 
on acceptable terms, if at all. A weak or declining economy could also strain our manufacturers and suppliers, possibly resulting in 
supply disruption, or cause future customers to delay making payments for our products. Any of the foregoing could harm our 
business and we crumot anticipate all of the ways in which the current economic clin1ate and financial market conditions could 
adversely impact our business. 

The enactment of legislation implementing changes in the U.S. taxation of international business activities, the adoption of other 
tax reform policies or changes in tax legislation or policies in juristlictions outside of the Unitetl States could materially impact our 
results of operations and financial comlition. 

We are subject to income tax in the numerous jurisdictions in which we operate. Reforming the taxation of international businesses 
has been a priority for politicians, and a wide variety of potential changes have been proposed. Some proposals, several of which have 
been enacted, im.pose incremental taxes on gross revenue, regardless of profitability. Furthermore, it is reasonable to expect that global 
taxing authorities will be reviewing current legislation for potential modifications in reaction to the implementation of the 2017 Tax 
Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act") in the United States. Due to the expanding scale of our international business activities, changes in 
the taxation of such activities may increase our worldwide effective tax rate and the amount of taxes we pay and harm our business. 

U.S. taxation of international business activities or the at/option of tax reform policies could materially impact our future financial 
position am/ res11lts of operations. 

Limitations on the ability of taxpayers to claim and utilize foreign tax credits wd the deferral of certain tax deductions until earnings 
outside of the United States are repatriated to the United States, as well as changes to U.S. tax laws that may be enacted in the future, 
could impact the tax treatment of future foreign earnings. Should the scale of our international business activities expand, any changes 
in the U.S. taxation of such activities could increase our worldwide effective tax rate and harm our future financial position and results 
of operations. 

We may face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. 

While we have historically transacted in U.S. Dollars with the majority of our customers and suppliers, we have transacted in some 
foreign currencies and may transact in more foreign currencies in the future. Accordingly, changes in the value of foreign currencies 
relative to the U.S. Dollar may affect our revenue and operating results. As a result of such foreign currency exchange rate 
fluctuations, it could be more difficult to detect underlying trends in our business ru1d operating results. In addition, to the extent that 
fluctuations in currency exchange rates cause our operating results to differ from our expectations or the expectations of our investors, 
the trading price of our stock could be adversely affected. 

Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations. 

As of December 31, 2024, we had federal net operating loss carry forwards ("NOLs") to offset future taxable income of approximately 
$ 195.1 million, of which $12.1 million will begin to expire in 2034 if not utilized. As of December 31, 2024, Liminal had federal 
NOLs to offset future taxable income of approximately $ 15.6 million. A lack of future taxable income would adversely affect our 
ability to utilize these NOLs. In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amende.d (the "Code"), a 
corporation that undergoes ail "ownership change" is subject to Limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-chru1ge NOLs and other pre­
change tax attributes (such as research tax credits) to offset post-change taxable income. For these purposes, au ownership change 
generally occurs where the equity ownership of one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who owns at least 5% of a 
corporation's stock increases its ownership by more than 50 percentage points over its lowest ownership percentage within a three­
year period (calculated on a rolling basis). Our existing NOLs may be subject to limitations arising out of previous ownership changes 
and we may be limited as to the amount that can be utilized each year as a result of such previous ownership changes, including our 
December 2021 business combination and related transactions. In addition, future changes in our stock ownership, including future 
offerings, as well as other changes that may be outside of our control, could result in additional ownership changes under Section 382 
of the Code. Our NOLs may also be impaired under similar provisions of state law. We have recorded a full valuation allowance 
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related to our NOLs and other deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of the ultin1ate realization of the future benefits of those 
assets. 

In addition to the linlitations discussed above under Sections 382 of the Code, the utilization ofNOLs incurred in taxable years 
begi1ming after December 3 1, 20 [ 7; are subject to limitations adopted by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act; as modified by the Coronavirus 
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act"). Under the Tax Act, in general, NOLs generated in taxable years beginning 
after December 31, 2017 may offset no more than 80 percent of such year' s taxable income and there is no ability for such NOLs to be 
carried back to a prior taxable year. The CARES Act modifies the Tax Act with respect to the Tax Act' s limitation on the deduction of 
NOLs and provides that NOLs arising in taxable years beginning after December 31 , 2017 and before January I, 2021 , may be carried 
back to each of the five taxable years preceding the tax year of such loss, but NOLs arising in taxable years beginning after December 
31 , 2020 may not be carried back. In addition, the CARES Act eliminates the limitation on the deduction ofNOLs to 80 percent of 
current year taxable income for taxable years beginning before January I, 2021. As a result of such limitation, we may be required to 
pay federal income tax in some future year notwithstanding that we had a net loss for all years in the aggregate. 

Risks Related to Healthcare Industry Shifts and Changing Regulations 

We are subject to extensive government regulation, which could restrict the development, marketing, sale and distribution of our 
products and could cause us to incur significant costs. 

Our medical devices and associated services are subject to extensive pre-market and post-market regulation by the FDA and various 
other federal, state, local and foreign government authorities. Government regulation of medical devices is meant to assure their safety 
and effectiveness, and includes requirements for, among other things: 

• design, development and manufacturing processes; 

• labeling, content and language of instructions for use and storage; 

• product testing, nonclinical studies and clinical trials; 

• regulatory clearances and approvals, including pre-market clearance or pre-market approval; 

• establishment registration, device listing and ongoing compliance with the QSR requirements; 

• advertising and promotion; 

• marketing, sales and distribution; 

• conformity assessment procedures; 

• product traceability and record-keeping procedures; 

• review of product complaints, complaint reporting, recalls and field safety corrective actions; 

• post-market surveillance, including reporting of deaths or serious injuries and malfunctions that, if they were to recur, could 
lead to death or serious injury; 

• post-market studies (if applicable); and 

• product inlport and export. 

The laws and regulations to which we and our products are subject are complex and subject to periodic changes. Regulatory changes 
could result in restrictions on our ability to carry on or expand our operations, higher than anticipated costs or lower than anticipated 
sales. 

Before a new medical device, or a significant modification of a medical device, including a new use of or claim for an existing 
product, can be marketed in the United States, we must first receive either SIO(k) clearance or premarket approval ("PMA") from the 
FDA, unless an exemption applies. In the 51 O(k) clearance process, the FDA must detennine that a proposed device is "substantially 
equivalent" to a device legally on the market, known as a "predicate" device, with respect to intended use, technology and safety and 
effectiveness, in order to clear the proposed device for marketing. Clinical data is sometimes required to support substantial 
equivalence. Hyperfrne received 5IO(k) clearance from the FDA for its portable MRI system in 2020. In February and October 2023, 
the Company received S I O(k) clearances from the FDA for its Swoop® system AI-powered software. The combination of these two 
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software updates, incorporated deep-learning based denoising in the post-processing of images for crisper linages, and improved 
image quality for all Swoop® system sequences. In July 2024, we received 510(k) clearance from the FDA of the ninth-generation AI­
powered Swoop® system software. This latest software update released to date significantly reduces scan times across multiple MR 
sequences without sacrificing image quality. Outside of the United States, the Swoop® system has received marketing authorization 
for brain imaging in several countries, including the European Union (CE Mark), the United Kingdom (UKCA Mark), Canada, 
Australia and New Zealand. In October 2024 and February 2025, the Company received CE Mark and UKCA Mark approval for the 
latest generation of software. All of our revenue to date has been generated from sales of the Swoop® system and related services. 

We may be required to obtain a new 51 O(k) clearance or PMA approval for significant post-market modifications to our products, 
including any modifications made to our commercially marketed devices. 

Obtaining 51 O(k) clearance or PMA approval for medical devices can be expensive and time-consuming, and entails significan.t user 
fees, unless an exemption is available. The FDA's process for obtaining 51 O(k) clearance usually takes t11ree to 12 months, but it can 
last longer. In tl1e PMA approval process, the FDA must determine that a proposed device is safe and effective for its illtended use 
based, in part, on extensive data, including but not limited to, technical, nonclinical, clinical trial, manufacturing and labeling data. 
The process for obtaining a PMA is more costly and uncertain and approval can take anywhere from at least one year to, in some 
cases, multiple years from the time the application is initially filed with the FDA. Modifications to products that are approved through 
a PMA application generally require further FDA approval. Some of our future products may require PMA approval. In addition, the 
FDA may demand that we obtain a PMA prior to marketing future changes of our existing products. Further, we may not be able to 
obtain additional510(k) clearances or PMAs for new products or for modifications to, or additional indications for, our products in a 
timely fashion or at all. Delays in obtaining future clearances or approvals could adversely affect our ability to introduce new or 
enhanced products in a timely manner, which in turn could harm our revenue and future profitability. 

In order to conduct a clinical investigation involving human subjects for t11e purpose of demonstrating the safety and effectiveness of a 
medical device, if necessary, for a PMA application or 510(k) notification, a company must, among other things, apply for and obtain 
institutional review board ("IRB") approval of the proposed investigation. In addition, if tile clinical study involves a "significant risk" 
(as defined by the FDA) to human health, tl1e sponsor of the investigation must also submit and obtain FDA approval of an 
investigational device exemption ("IDE") application and follow applicable IDE regulations. Unless IDE-exempt, nonsignificant risk 
devices are still subject to certain abbreviated IDE requirements, but an IDE application is not required if such abbreviated 
requirements are met. We may not be able to obtaill any necessary FDA and/or TRB approval to undertake clinical trials in the United 
States for future devices we develop and intend to market in the United States. If we do obtain such approvals, the FDA may find that 
our studies do not comply with the IDE or otber regulations governing clinical investigations or the data from any such trials may not 
support clearance or approval of the investigational device. Moreover, certaiinty t11at clinical trials will meet desired endpoints, 
produce meanii1gful or useful data and be free of unexpected adverse effects, or that tile FDA will accept tile validity of foreign 
clinical study data (if applicable) cannot be assured, and such uncertainty could preclude or delay market clearance or autborizations 
resulting in significant financia l costs and reduced revenue. 

We are also subject to numerous post-marketing regulatory requirements, which include quality system regulations related to the 
manufacture of our devices, labehng regulations and medical device reporting ("MDR") regulations. The last of these regulations 
requires us to report to the FDA if our devices cause or contribute to a death or serious injury, or malfunction in a way that would 
likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if the malf1mction recurred. If we fail to comply with present or future regulatory 
requirements tbat are applicable to us, we may be subject to enforcement action by the FDA, which may include any of tile following 
sanctions: 

• tmtitled! letters, warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties; 

• customer notification, or orders for repair, replacement or refunds; 

• voluntary or mandatory recall or seizure of our current or future products; 

• administrative detention by the FDA of medical devices believed to be adulterated or misbranded; 

• operating restrictions, SU!spension or shutdown of production; 

• refusal of our requests for 51 O(k) clearance or PMA of new products, new intended uses or modjfications to existing 
products; 

• rescission of 51 O(k) clearance or suspension or withdrawal of PMAs til at have already been granted; and 

• criminal prosecution. 
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The occurrence of any of these events may have a material adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition and results of 
operations. 

Our employees, independent contractors, consufttmts, manufacturers and suppliers may engage in misconduct or other improper 
activities, including noncompliance with regulatory stamlaNls and requirements. 

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, consultants, manufacturers and suppliers may engage in 
fraudulent or illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or disclosure of 
unauthorized activities to us that violates: (i) the laws of the FDA and other similar foreign regulatory bodies, including those laws 
requiring the reporting of true, complete and accurate infonnation to such regulators; (ii) manufacturing standards; (iii) healthcare 
fraud and abuse laws in the United States and similar foreign fraudulent misconduct laws; or (iv) laws that require the true, complete 
and accurate reporting of fmancial information or data. These laws may impact, among other things, future sales, marketing and 
education programs. In particular, the promotion, sales and marketing ofhealthcare items and services, as well as certain business 
arrangements in the healthcare industry, are subject to extensive laws designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other 
abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, 
structuring and commissions, certain customer incentive programs and other business arrangements generally. Activities subject to 
these laws also involve the improper use of infonnation obtained in the course of patient recruitment for clinkal trials. 

Although we have a code of business conduct and ethics, it is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by our employees 
and other third parties, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent these activities may not be effective in controlling unknown 
or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure 
to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us and we are not successful in defending 
ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could result in the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions, including the 
imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, additional 
integrity reporting and oversight obligations, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other govem:ment 
healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational hann, diminished profits and future earnings and curtailment of operations, 
any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations. Whether or not we are successful 
in defending against any such actions or investigations, we could incur substantial costs, including legal fees, and divert the attention 
of management in defending ourselves against any of these claims or investigations, which could have a material adverse effecl on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

There is no guarantee that the FDA will grant 51 O(k) clearance or premarket approval of our future protlucts, and failure to 
obtain necessary clearances or approvals for our future protlucts would adversely affect our ability to grow our business. 

Some of our new or modified products will require FDA clearance of a 51 O(k) notification or FDA approval of a PMA application. 
The FDA may refuse our requests for 51 O(k) clearance or PMA of new products or may not clear or approve these products for the 
indications that are necessary or desirable for successful commercialization. Early-stage review may also result in delays or other 
issues. For example, the FDA has issued guidance intended to explain the procedures and criteria used in assessing whether 51 O(k) 
and PMA submissions should be accepted for substantive review. Under the "Refuse to Accept" guidance, the FDA conducts an early 
review against specific acceptance criteria to infonn 51 O(k) and PMA submitters if the submission is administratively complete, or if 
not, to identify the missing element(s). Submitters are given the opportunity to provide the FDA with any information identified as 
missing. If the infom1ation is not provided within a specified time, the submission will not be accepted for FDA review. The FDA 
may also change its clearance and approval policies, adopt additional regulations or revise existing regulations, or take other actions 
that may prevent or delay approval or clearance of our products under development or impact our ability to gain clearance or approval 
for modifications to our currently approved or cleared products in a timely manner. Significant delays in receiving clearance or 
approval, or the failure to receive clearance or approval for our new products would have an adverse effect on our ability to expand 
our business. 

Recent initiatives by the FDA to .enhance and modernize various regullltory pathways for device products and its overfill approllch 
to Stlfety and innovation in the metlical technology industry creates the possibility of changing product development costs, 
requirements, and other factors tmdadtlitional uncertainty for our future products ami business. 

Regulatory requirements may change in the future in a way that adversely affects us. Any change in the laws or regulations that 
govern the clearance and approval processes or the post-market compliance requirements relating to our current and future products 
could make it more difficult and costly to obtain clearance or approval for new products, or to produce, market and distribute existing 
products. 

For example, the FDA and other govenunent agencies have been focusing on the cybersecurity risks associated with certain medical 
devices and encouraging device manufacturers to take a more proactive appmach to assessing the cybersecurity risks of their devices 
both during development and on a periodic basis after the devices are in conunercial distribution. These regulatory efforts could lead 
to new FDA requirements in the future or additional product liability or other litigation risks if any of our products is considered to be 
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susceptible to third-party tampering. In December 2016, Congress passed the 21st Century Cures Act, which made multiple changes to 
the FDA's rules for medical devices as well as for clinical trials, and in September 2022, Congress passed the Medical Device User 
Fee reauthorization package, which affe.cts medical device regulation both pre- and post-approval and could have certain impacts on 
our business. In recent years, the FDA has also considered a series of efforts to modernize and streamline the 51 O(k) notification and 
regulatory review process and monitoring post-market safety. For example, in October 2022, fDA announced that 51 O(k) applications 
may be submitted electronically using the electronic submission template and resource, oreS TAR. Further, changes in the FDA 
510(k) process could make clearance more difficult to obtain, increase delay, add uncertainty and have other significant advers,e 
effects on our ability to obtain and maintain clearance for our products. More broadly, future legislation or regulation may materially 
impact the ability of the FDA, and other regulatory agencies with jurisdiction over medical products or services, to operate as they 
have historically operated. 

It is unclear at this time whether and how various activities initiated or announced by the FDA to modernize the U.S. medical device 
regulatory system could affect our business, as some of the FDA's new medical device safety and itmovation initiatives have not been 
formalized and remain subject to change. 

Disruptions at the FDA, the SEC and other government agencies caused by funding shortages, mass layoffs, or global health 
concerns could hintler their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other personnel, prevent our protlucts from being 
developed or commercialized in a timely manner or othenvise prevent those agencies from performing normal business functions 
on which the operation of our business relies, which could negatively impact our business. 

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and 
funding levels, ability to hire and retain key persom1el and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory and policy 
changes. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, govenunent funding of the SEC 
and other government agencies on which our operations may rely, including those that fund research and development activities is 
subject to the political process, which is i.r1J1erently fluid and unpredictable. 

Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the tin1e necessary for products to be reviewed and/or approved by 
necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the last several years, the United States 
government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA and the SEC, have had to furlough critical 
FDA, SEC and other govenunent employees and stop critical activities during that period. In early 2025, following the inauguration of 
President Trump, the Tmmp Administration began tenninating federal govenunent employees, including at the FDA. The impact of 
mass layoffs at the agency and other govenunental offices with which we illteract is unclear at this tin1e. However, it is expected that 
with a proposed reduction in staff of up to 50%, the FDA in the future may be unlikely to meet its application review goals or to 
continue to be available for timely interactions with medical product developers. It is currently unclear how the U.S. medical device 
industry will be affected by the Trump Administration's major changes to the FDA and the federal government as a whole. 
Separately, during the COVJD-1 9 pandemic, the FDA postponed most inspections of domestic and foreign manufacturing faciEities at 
various points. Even though the FDA has since resumed standard inspection operations of domestic facilities where feasible, the 
agency has continued to monitor and implement changes to its inspectional activities to ensure the safety of its employees and those of 
the firms it regulates, and any resurgence of the virus or emergence of new infectious disease outbreaks may lead to future 
inspectional delays. Regulatory authori ties outside the United States may adopt similar policy measures in response to emerging 
infectious disease outbreaks, epidemics, or pandemics. If a prolonged government shutdown or slowdown occurs, or if global health 
concerns si.rnilar to COVID-19 prevent the FDA or other regulatory agencies from conducting their regular inspections, review, or 
other regulatory activities, it could significantly affect the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, 
which could have a material adverse effect on our busii1ess. Further, in our operations as a public company, future government 
shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and 
continue our operations. 

lf we fail to obtain regulatory authorizations in other countries for existing products or products under development, we will not be 
able to commercialize these products in those countries. 

In order for us to market our prodlucts in countries outside of the United States, we must comply with extensive safety and quality 
regulations in other countries regarding the quality, safety and efficacy of our products. These regulations, including the requirements 
for marketii1g authorizations, and the time required for regulatory review, vary from country to country. Failure to obtain regulatory 
aut11orization in any foreign country in which we plan to market our products may hann our ability to generate revenue and ham1 our 
business. Marketing authorization requirements vary between countries and can involve additional product testing and additional 
administrative review periods. The tune required to obtain marketing aut11orization ii1 otl1er cotmtries might differ from that required 
to obtain FDA clearance or other marketing authorization. The regulatory process in otl1er countries may include all of the risks 
detailed above regarding FDA clearance m the United States. Regulatory authorization of a product in one country does not ensure 
regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory authorization in one country may negatively impact the 
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regulatory process in others. Failure to obtain regulatory authorization in other countries or any delay or setback in obtaining such 
authorization could have the same adverse effects described above regarding FDA clearance or approval in the United States. 

The primary regulatory environment in Europe is that of the European Economic Area ("EEA"), which is comprised of the Member 
States of the European Union, plus Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway. In 2023, our Swoop® system received! approval in the 
European Union (CE Mark). In October 2024, our latest generation of AT-powered Swoop® system software received CE approval 
under the European Medical Device Regulation (MDR, EU No. 20171745). The Medical Device Regulation became fully effective on 
May 26, 2021. The Medical Device Regulation includes elements intended to strengthen the confonnity assessment procedures, assert 
greater control over notified bodies and their standards, increase overall system transparency, and impose more robust device 
vigilance requirements on manufacturers and distributors. These new requirements may have an effect on the way we design and 
manufacture product and products candidates and conduct our business in the EEA. For example, as a result of !be continuing 
transition towards the Medical Device Regulation, Notified Body review tirnes have lengthened, and product introductions or 
modifications could be delayed or canceled, which could adversely affect our ability to grow our business. 

The new rules and procedures tha t have been created under the overhauled EU regulations wlill Likely result in increased regulatory 
oversight of all medical devices marketed in the EU, and this may, in tum, increase the costs, time and requirements that need to be 
met in order to place an innovative or high-risk medical device on the EEA market. 

If we, our current or future contract manuf acturers, or our current or future component suppliers are unable to manufacture our 
products in sufficient quantities, on a timely basis, at acceptable costs and in compliance with regulatory and quality requirements, 
the manufacturing ancl distribution of our devices could he interrupted, ami our protluct sales and operating results could Sliff er. 

We rely on contract manufacturers and component suppliers to provide the specific components and manufacturing services necessary 
to produce our finished medical dlevices and any future product candidates. This reliance also results in our reduced control over the 
manufacture of our devices and the protection of our trade secrets and know-how from misappropriation or inadvertent disclosure, 
which may adversely affect our future business prospects. Nevertheless, as the developer of the devices, we continue to have 
regulatory obligations to maintain oversight of our contract manufacturers to ensure compliance with, among other things, contractual 
obligations, specifications, and applicable quality system requirements. 

When producing and distributing commercial medical device products, we, our contract mam.1facturer, and certain of our component 
suppliers are required to comply with the FDA's Quality System Regulation ("QSR"), which is a complex regulatory framework that 
covers the procedures and documentation of the design, testing, production, control, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, 
sterilization, storage, shipping and servicing of om devices. Compliance with applicable regulatory requirements is subject to 
continual review and is monitored rigorously through periodic, sometimes unannounced, inspections by the FDA. We cannot assure 
investors that our facilities or our third-party manufacturers' or suppliers' facilities would pass any future quality system inspection. 
Failure by us or our third-party manufacturers or component suppliers to adhere to QSR requirements or take adequate and timely 
corrective action in response to an adverse quality system inspection finding could delay production of our products and lead to fines, 
difficulties in obtaining marketing authorizations for our products, recalls, or enforcement actions, including but not limited to 
i11junctive relief or consent decrees, or other consequences, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, fmancial 
condition or results of operations. Any such failure, including the failure of our current or any fhture contract manufacturers to achieve 
and maintain the required high manufacturing standards, could result in further delays or failures in product testing or delivery, cost 
overruns, increased warranty costs or other problems that could hann our business and prospects. 

In addition, any of our products shipped internationally are also required to comply with applicable quality standards and regulatory 
requirements, including the Intemational Organization for Standardization ("ISO") quality system standards as well as European 
Directives and nonns in order to produce products for sale in the EU. In addition, many countries such as Canada and Japan have very 
specific additional regulatory requirements for quality assurance and manufacturing. If we fail to continue to comply with current 
good manufactur ing requirements, as well as ISO or other regulatory standards, we may be required to cease all or part of our 
operations until we comply with these regulations. Maintaining compliance with multiple regulators adds complexity and cost to our 
manufacturing and compliance processes. 

In complying with the applicable medical device regulations of the FDA and other comparable foreign regulatory authorities, we and 
our contact manufacturers, and any components suppliers to which such regulations apply, must spend significant time, money and 
effort in the areas of design and development, testing, production, record-keeping and quality control to assure that the products meet 
applicable specifications and regulatory requirements. Although our agreements with our contract manufacturers and component 
suppliers requiTe them to perfonn according to applicable regulatory requirements, such as those relating to quality system controls, 
we cannot control the conduct of our contract manufacturers or component suppliers to implement and maintain these standards. If our 
contract manufact1rrers or component suppliers do not successfully cany out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines or 
manufacture our devices in accordance with regulatory requirements, if there are disagreements between us and such parties, or if such 
parties are unable to support the commercialization of any of our devices for which we have or may obtain marketing authorization, 
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we may not be able to produce, or may be delayed in producing devices sufficient to meet our supply requirements. Any delays in 
obtaining adequate supplies on adequate terms with respect to our devices, due to manufacturing issues, global trade policies, or for 
other reasons, could make it more difficult and costly to obtain marketing authorization for new products, or to produce, market and 
distribute our existing, authorized products. 

Our current or future products may be subject to product recalls even after receiving FDA clearance or approval. A recall ()four 
products, either l 10luntarily or at the tlirection of the FDA, or the tliscovery of serious saf ety issues with our protlucts, could have a 
significant adverse impact on us. 

The FDA and similar governmental bodies in other countries have the authority to require the recall of our products if we or our third­
party manufacturers fail to comply with relevant regulations pertaining to, among other things, manufacturing practices, labeling, 
advertising or promotional activities, or if new infonnation is obtained concerning the safety or efficacy of these products. For 
example, under the FDA's Medical Device Reporting regulations, we are required to report to the FDA any incident in which our 
marketed products may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or in which our marketed products malfunctioned in a 
manner likely to cause or contribute to death or serious injury if that malfunction were to recur. Repeated adverse events or product 
malfunctions may result in a voluntary or involuntary product recall, or administrative or judicial seizure or injunction, when 
warranted. A government-mandated recall may be ordered if the FDA finds that there is a reasonable probabiljty that the device would 
cause serious, adverse health consequences or death. A voluntary recall by us could occur as a result of any material deficiency in a 
device, such as manufacturing defects, labeling deficiencies, packaging defects or other failures to comply with applicable regulations. 
ln general, if we decide to make a change to our marketed product, we are responsible for determining whether to classify the change 
as a recall. It is possible that the FDA could disagree with our initial classification. The FDA requires that certain classifications of 
recalls be reported to the FDA within 10 working days after the recall is initiated. If a change to a device addresses a risk to health 
associated with the device or a violation of the fed,eral FDCA, that change would generally constitute a medical device recall and 
require submission of a recall report to the FDA. 

Recalls of any of our products would divert managerial and fmancial resources and have an adverse effect on our reputation, results of 
operations and financial condition, which could impair our ability to produce our products in a cost-effective and timely marmer in 
order to meet our customers' demands. We may also be subject to product liability claims, be required to bear other costs, or be 
required to take other actions that may have a negative impact on our future sales and our ability to generate profits. Companies are 
required to maintain certain records of recalls, even if they are not reportable to the FDA. We may initiate voluntary recalls, field 
corrections, or removals involving our products in the future that we detennine do not require notification to the FDA. If the FDA 
disagrees with our determinations, the FDA could require us to report those actions as recalls. A future recall, withdrawal, or seizure 
of any product could materially and adversely affect consumer confidence in our brands, lead to decreased demand for our products 
and negatively affect our sales. In addition, the FDA could take enforcement action for failing to report recalls when they were 
conducted by us or one of our agents. 

We may be subject to enforcement action if we engage in improper or off-label marketing or promotion of our commercial medical 
device protlucts, including fines, penalties and injunctions. 

Our promotional materials and training methods must comply with FDA and other applicable laws and regulations, including the 
prohibition of the promotion ofunapproved, or off-label, uses of lawfully marketed medical device products. Physicians may, 
however, use our cot1U11ercial products off-label, as the FDA does not restrict or regulate a physician' s practice of medicine. Medical 
device manufacturers and distributors are only pennitted to promote their products in a way that is consistent with the FDA-authorized 
labeling and indications for use. If the FDA detennines that our promotional materials or training materials promote a cleared or 
approved medical device in a manner inconsistent with our labeling, the agency could request that we modify our training or 
promotional materials or subject us to regulatory or enforcement actions, including the issuance of an Untitled Letter or a Warning 
Letter or seeking injunction, seizure, civil fines or crin1inal penalties. In addition to ensuring that the claims we make are consistent 
with our regulatory clearances or approvals, the FDA also ensures that promotional labeling for all regulated medical devices is 
neither false nor misleading. 

It is also possible that other federal, state or foreign enforcement authorities might take action if they consider our promotional or 
training materials to constitute promotion of an off-label use, which could result in significant fines or penalties under other statutory 
authorities, such as laws prohibiting false clain1s for reinlbursement. In that event, our reputation could be damaged, and adoption of 
our products could be impaired. Although our policy is to refrain from making statements or from disseminating promotional material 
that could be considered off-label promotion of our commercial medical device products, the FDA or another regulatory agency could 
disagree and conclude that we have engaged in off-label promotion. In addition, the off-label use of our products may increase the risk 
of product liability claims. Product liability claims. are expensive to defend and could divert our management's attention, result in 
substantial damage awards against us, and hann our reputation. Court decisions in the United States have impacted the FDA's 
enforcement activity regarding off-label promotion in light of First Amendment considerations, although there are still significant 
risks in tllis area in part due to potential False Claims Act exposure. Further, this area is subject to ongoing policy changes at the 
federal level, resulting in some degree of uncertainty for regulated businesses. For example, in August 2021 the FDA issued a final 
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rule revising the agency' s regulation governing the types of evidence relevant to determining the "intended use" of a drug or device 
under the FDCA, which has significant implications for when a manufacturer or distributor has engaged in off-label marketing. 

Digital marketing and social media efforts may expose us to ad(/itional regulatory scrutiny, including from the Federal Trade 
Commission (the "FTC'? and other consumer protection agencies atul regulators. 

In addition to the laws and regulations enforced by the FDA, advertising for various services and for non-restricted medical devices is 
subject to federal truth-in-advertising laws enforced by the FTC, as well as comparable state consumer protection laws. Our efforts to 
promote prescription medical device products via social media initiatives may subject us to additional scrutiny of our practices. For 
example, the FTC and other consumer protection agencies scrutinize all forms of advertising (whether in digital or traditional fonnats) 
for business services, consumer-directed products, and non-restricted medical devices to ensure that advertisers are not making false, 
misleading or unsubstantiated claims or failing to disclose material relationships between the advertiser and its products' endorsers, 
among other potential issues. The FDA oversees tbe advertising and promotional labeling for restricted medical devices and ensures, 
among other things, that there is effective communication of, and a fair and balanced presentation of, the risks and benefits of such 
high-risk medical devices. 

Under the Federal Trade Commission Act ("FTC Act"), the FTC is empowered, among other things, to (a) prevent unfair methods of 
competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce; (b) seek monetary redress and other relief for conduct 
injurious to consumers; and (c) gather and compile information and conduct investigations relating to the organization, business, 
practices, and management of entities engaged in commerce. The FTC has very broad enforcement authority, and failure to abide by 
the substantive requirements of the FTC Act and other consumer protection laws can result in administrative or judicial penalties, 
including injunctions affecting the manner in which we would be able to market services or products in the future, or criminal 
prosecution. We plan to increase our advertising activities that may be subject to these federal and state truth-in-advertising laws. Any 
actual or perceived non-compliance with those laws could lead to an investigation by the FTC or a comparable state agency or could 
lead to allegations of misleading advertising by private plaintiffs. Any such action against us could disrupt our business operations, 
cause damage to our reputation, and have a material adverse effect on our business. 

Because we (/0 not require extensive training f or users of our current products, although they are limited umler the FDA's 
marketing clearances to use by, am/ that images generated from the sc(mner be interpreted by, trained healthcare practition ers, 
there exists a potential for misuse of these products, misinterpretation of images by untrained professionals or misuse of these 
products by untraine(/ professionals, which could ultimately harm our reputation am/ business. 

Federal regulations allow us to sell our medical device products to or on the order of practitioners licensed by law to use or ord.er the 
use of a prescription device. The definition of " licensed practitioners" varies from state to state. As a result, our current products may 
be purchased or operated by physicians with varying levels of training and, in many states, by non-physicians, including nurse 
practitioners, chiropractors and technicians. The FDA clearances of the products require interpretation of images by trained physicians 
and use of that information in determining a diagnosis. Outside the United States, many jurisdictions do not require specific 
qualifications or training for purchasers, or operators or interpreters, of medical device products. We do not supervise the procedures 
perfonned with our products, nor can we require that direct medical supervision occur. Although product training is offered, we do not 
require purchasers or operators of our non-invasive products to attend training sessions. The lack of required training and the purchase 
and use of our non-invasive products by non-physicians may result in product misuse and adverse treatment outcomes, which could 
hann our reputation and expose u.s to costly product liability litigation. 

We are subject to federal, state and foreign laws prohibiting "kickbacks" and false or fralululent claims, and other frautl and 
abuse laws, transparency laws, ((nt/ other healthcare laws and regulations, which, if viofttte(/, could subject us to substantial 
penalties. A(/ditionally, any challenge to or in vestigation into our practices under these laws could cause adverse publicity and be 
costly to respond to, and thus coultl harm our business. 

Our relationships with customers and third-party payors are subject to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws 
and regulations that may constrain our sales, marketing and other promotional activities by limiting the kinds of financial 
arrangements, including sales programs and certain customer and product support programs, we may have with hospitals, physicians 
or other purchasers of medical devices. Other federal and state laws generally prohibit individuals or entities from knowingly 
presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid, or other third-party payors that are false or 
fraudulent, or are for items or services that were not provided as claimed. These laws include, among others, the federal Anti­
Kickback Statute, the federal civil False Clain1s Act, other federal healthcare false statement and fraud statutes, the Open Payments 
program, the Civil Monetary Penalties Law, and analogous fraud and abuse and transparency laws in most states, as described in "Item 
I. Business - Government Regulation." Although the federal laws generally apply only to products or services for which payment may 
be made by a government healthcare program, state laws often apply regardless of whether federal funds may be involved. 
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While we believe and strive to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties and other activities and programs comply with 
all applicable laws, these laws are complex, and our activities may be fmmd not to be compliant with one or more of these laws, which 
may result in significant civil, criminal and/or administrative penalties, fmes, damages and exclusion from participation in government 
healthcare programs. Even an unsuccessful challenge or investigation into our practices could cause adverse publicity, and be costly to 
respond to, and thus could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our 
compliance with Medicare and Medicaid regulations may be reviewed by federal or state agencies, including 1i.he Office oflnspector 
General for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS-OIG"), CMS, and the Department of Justice, or may be 
subject to whistleblower lawsuits under federal and state false claims laws. To ensure compliance with Medicare, Medicaid and other 
regulations, government agencies conduct periodic audits of the Company to ensure compliance with various supplier standards and 
billing requirements. 

Similarly, our international operations are subject to the provisions of the FCPA, which prohibits U.S. companies and their 
intermediaries from making payments in violation of law to non-U.S. government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining 
business or securing any other improper advantage. In many cotmtries, t11e healthcare professionals that medical device distributors 
regularly interact with may meet the defmition of a foreign official for purposes of the FCPA. International business operations are 
also subject to various other international anti-bribery laws such as the U.K. Anti-Bribery Act. Despite meaningful measures that we 
undertake to facilitate lawful conduct, which include training and compliance programs and internal policies and procedures, we may 
not always prevent unauthorized, reckless or criminal acts by our employees or agents, or employees or agents of businesses or 
operations we may acquire. Viola tions of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could disrupt operations, involve significant 
management distraction and have a material adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition and results of operations, among other 
adverse consequences. 

If we are found to have violatelllaws protecting the confidentiality of health information, we could be subject to civil or criminal 
penalties, which could increase our liabilities and harm our reputation or our business. 

There are a numlber of federal and state laws protecting the confidentiality of certain health information and restricting the use and 
disclosure of that protected information. In particular, the U.S. Department ofHealth and Human Services promulgated privacy rules 
and security standards and breach notification rules under HIPAA. These rules protect medical records and other identifiable health 
information by limiting their use and disclosure, giving individuals the right to access, amend and seek accounting of the uses and 
disclosures of their own health information and limiting most use and disclosures of health infonnation to the minimum amount 
reasonably necessary to accomplish the intended purpose of the use or disclosure. When we provide services to our customers 
involving access to information protected under HIP AA, such as troubleshooting and maintenance of our products, we are functioning 
as a "business associate" m1der HlPAA, obligated to comply with much of HIPAA's privacy rule, all of HIPAA's security standards 
and also HIPAA breach notification requirements. As a business associate, we are subject to direct enforcement by the HHS Office for 
Civil Rights and state attorneys general, and we are also subject to audit and investigation. If we are found to be in violation of 
applicable HJPAA requirements, we could subject our customers or healthcare provider partners to civil or criminal penalties, which 
could increase our Liabilities, harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

We are subject to complex am/ eJ'olving U.S. am/ foreign laws am/ regulations reganling privacy, data protection, artificial 
intelligence, and other matters. Many of these laws and regulations are s11.bject to change and uncertain interpretation, ami could 
result in claims, changes to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, declines in customer growth 
or engagement, or otherwise harm our business. 

We are subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the United States and abroad that involve matters central to our business, 
including laws and regulations relating to privacy, data sharing and data protection, artificial intelligence and use of machine learning, 
rights of publicity, content, intellectual property, advertising, marketing, distribution, data security, data retention and deletion, 
personal infom1ation, electronic contracts and other communications, competition, protection of minors, consumer protection, 
telecommunications, product liability, taxation, economic or other trade prohibitions or sanctions, corrupt practices, fraud, waste and 
abuse restrictions, and securities Law compliance. The introduction of new products or expansion of our activities in certain 
jurisdictions may subject us to additional laws and regulations. For example, in addition to data protection laws passed by the federal 
government, many states and foreign countries have implemented their own data protection laws, some of which may apply 
simultaneously and conflict witl1 federal law. Many of these laws create consumer rights including the right to know what personal 
information is collected, the right to know whether the data is sold or disclosed and to whom, the right to request tllat a company 
delete personal infonnation collected, the right to opt-out of the sale of personal information and tile right to non-discrimination in 
terms of price or service when a consumer exercises a privacy right. If we fail to comply with these regulations, we could be subject to 
civil sanctions, including fines and penalties for noncompliance. 

ln addition, foreign data protection, privacy, and other laws and regulations can be more restrictive than those in the United States. 
Data localization laws in some countries generally mandate t11at certain types of data collected in a particular country be stored and/or 
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processed within that country. We could be subject to audits in Europe and around the world, particularly in the areas of consumer and 
data protection, as we continue to grow and expand our operations. Legislators and regulators may make legal and regulatory changes, 
or interpret and apply existing laws, in ways that make our products less useful to customers, require us to incur substantial costs, 
expose us to unanticipated civil or criminal liability, or cause us to change our business practices. These changes or increased costs 
could negatively impact our business and results o f operations in material ways. For example, the GDPR imposes requirements in the 
EEA relating to, among other things, consent to process personal data of individuals, the information provided to individuals regarding 
the processing of their personal data, the security and confidentiality of personal data, notifications in the event of data breaches and 
use of third-party processors. GDPR also imposes restrictions on the transfer of personal data from the EEA to third countries like the 
United States. If we fail to comply with these standards, we could be subject to criminal penalties and civil sanctions, including fines 
and penalties and amounts could be significant. 

Security breaches, loss of data and other disruptions could compromise sensitive information related to our business or prevent us 
from accessing critical information and expose us to liability, which could adversely affect our business ami our reputation. 

ln the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, personal data of individuals, and intellectual property and 
proprietary business infonnation owned or controlled by us, our customers and other third parties. This data el!lcompasses a wide 
variety of business-critical information, including research and development information, commercial infonnation, and business and 
fmancial information. We face four primary risks relative to protecting this critical information: loss of access; inappropriate 
disclosure; inappropriate modification; and inadequate monitoring of our controls over the first three risks. 

The secure processing, storage, maintenance, and transmission of this critical information is vital to our operations and business 
strategy, and we devote significant resources to protecting such information. We have implemented multiple layers of security 
measures to protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of data and the systems and devices that store and transmit data. We 
utilize current security technologues, including encryption and data depersonalization, and our defenses are monitored and routinely 
tested. Although we take measures to protect sensitive infonnation [Tom unauthorized access or disclosure, our infom1ation 
technology and infrastmcture may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or viruses, breaches, interruptions due to employee error, 
malfeasance, lapses in compliance with privacy and security mandates, or other dismptions. Any such breach or intermption could 
compromise our networks and the infonnation stored there could be accessed by unauthorized parties, publicly disclosed, lost, or 
stolen. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently, 
and may not immediately produce signs of intrusion, we may be unable to anticipate these incidents or techniques, timely discover 
them, or implement adequate preventative measures. 

Geopolitical tensions or conflicts. and the increased adoption of AI technologies, may further heighten the risk of cyber-attacks. 
Additionally, leveraging AI capabilities to potentially improve internal functions and operations presents further risks and chaUenges, 
including the possibility of creatil!1g new attack methods for adversaries. The use of AI to support business operations carries inherent 
risks related to dlata privacy, intellectual property, and security, such as intended, unintended, or inadvertent transmission of 
proprietary, confidential, or sensitive information, as well as challenges related to implementing and maintaining AI tools, such as 
developing and maintaining appropriate datasets for such support. If we fail to implement adequate safeguards, the use of AI may 
introduce additional operational vulnerabilities by producing inaccurate outcomes based on flaws in the underlying data or 
methodologies, or unintended results. 

Any such security breach or interruption, as well a.s any action by us or our employees or contractors that might be inconsistent with 
the rapidly evolving data privacy and security laws and regulations applicable within the United States and elsewhere where we 
conduct business, could result in the loss, misappropriation, corruption or unauthorized access of data, enforcement actions by U.S. 
states, the U.S. federal government or foreign governments, liability or sanctions under data privacy laws that protect personal data, 
regulatory penalties, litigation, including potential class action litigation, the incurrence of significant remediation costs, increases to 
insurance premiums, dismptions to our development programs, business operations and collaborations, diversion of management 
efforts and damage to us and our brands' reputation, any of which could harm or have an adverse effect on our financial position and 
results of our business and operations. Because of the rapidly moving nature of technology and the increasing sophistication of 
cybersecurity tlrreats, our measures to prevent, respond to and minimize such risks may be unsuccessful. 

As a IDPAA business associate, we comply with HlPAA security standards. Whenever possible, we work with de-identified 
information and employ additional measures such as encryption tools to protect the privacy of individuals, including our customers, 
and patient data and employee data. However, hackers may attempt to penetrate our computer systems, and, if successful, 
misappropriate persona l or confidential business infom1ation. In addition, contractors or other third parties with whom we do business 
may attempt to circumvent our security measures or inadvertently cause a breach involving Sll.lch information. While we continue to 
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implement additional protective measures to reduce the risk of and detect cyber incidents, cyber-attacks are becoming more 
sophisticated and frequent, and the techniques used in such attacks change mpidly. 

In addition, the GDPR, which took effect in May 2018, governs the collection and use of personal data ofEEA residents. The GDPR, 
and its equivalents in the United Kingdom and Switzerland, are wide-ranging in scope, impose requirements relating to the consent of 
the individuals to whom the personal data relates, the information provided to the individuals regarding the processing of their 
personal data, the security and confidentiality of the personal data, data breach notification and the use of third-party processors in 
connection with the processing of the personal data. The GDPR also imposes strict mles on the transfer of personal data out of the 
EEA to third countries like the United States, enhances enforcement authority and imposes large penalties for noncompliance, 
including the potential for fines of up to 20 million euros or 4% of the annual global revenues of the infringer, whichever is greater. 
While we strive to comply with the GDPR and its UK and Swiss equivalents, as applicable, there can be no assurance that as our 
operations evolve, our efforts to comply or to remain in compliance will be fully successful. 

Further, tmauthorized access, loss or dissemination of sensitive personal data, such as health information, could also dismpt our 
operations, including our ability to conduct research and development activities, process and prepare company fmancial information, 
manage various general and administrative aspects of our business and damage our reputation, any of which could adversely affect our 
business and reputation. In addition, there can be no assurance that we will promptly detect any such dismption or security breach, if 
at all. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of or damage to our data, infonnation systems, or 
applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and the further 
development of our products could be delayed. 

There can be no assurance that we will not be impacted cybersecurity incidents that bypass oru security measures, impact the integrity, 
availability or privacy of health information or other data subject to privacy laws, or dismpt our information systems, devices or 
business, including our ability to deliver services to our customers. As a resu lt, cybersecurity, physical security and the continued 
development and enhancement of our controls, processes and practices designed to protect our enterprise, infonnation systems and 
data from attack, damage or unauthorized access remain a priority for us. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required to 
expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any 
cybersecurity vulnerabilities. In addition to risks affecting our own systems. we could also be negatively impacted by a security breach 
impacting a third party's network and affecting us, such as our third-party vendors and service providers. In the event that these third 
parties do not ad!equately safeguard our data, cybersecurity incidents could result and negatively impact our business, operations, and 
financial results. 

Brotul-basetl domestic ant/ international go,,ernment initiatives to reduce spentling, particularly those related to healthcare costs, 
may reduce reimbursement rates for medical procetlures, or make it more tlifficult for customers to purchase our protlucts and 
services, all of which coultl {1(/versely affect our business. 

Healthcare reforms, changes in healthcare policies and changes to third-party coverage and reimbursements, including legislation 
enacted refonning the U.S. healthcare system and both domestic and foreign healthcare cost containment legislation, and any future 
changes to such legislation, may affect demand for our products and services and may have a material adverse effect on our fmancial 
condition and results of operations. 

In the United States, there have been and continue to be a number of legislative initiatives to contain healthcare costs. Federal and 
state lawmakers regularly propose and, at times, enact legislation that would result in significant changes to the healthcare syste111, 
some of which are intended to contain or reduce the costs of medical products and services. Future legislative and regulatory proposals 
to further refonn healthcare or reduce bealthcare costs may prevent, limit or delay regulatory authorization of our product candidates 
or even lower reimbursement for the procedures associated with the use of our approved device products. More broadly, such future 
legislation or regulation may materially impact the ability of the FDA and other regulatory agencies to operate as they have 
historically operated. The cost containment measures that payors and providers are instituting and the effect of any healthcare reform 
initiative implemented in the future could impact our revenue from the sale of our products and services. Coverage and reimbursement 
by third-party payors, including managed care organizations, other private health insurers and govenunent healthcare programs, such 
as Medicare and Medicaid, for our products can be limited and uncertain. If third-party payors do not provide coverage and adequate 
reimbursement for our products and services, our potential for growth and our ability to collect revenue for these products and services 
could be limited and our results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. Additionally, there can be no assurance that 
current levels of reimbursement will not be decreased in the future, or that future legislation, regulation, or reimbursement policies of 
third parties will not adversely affect the demand for our products and services or our ability to sell products and provide services on a 
profitable basis. We cannot be sme whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether any of the FDA's regulations, 
guidance or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes on the agency and its scientific review staff, if any, 
may be. 
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Furthermore, the adoption of significant changes to the healthcare system in the United States, the EEA or other jurisdictions in which 
we may market our products and services, could limit the prices we are able to charge for our products and services or the amounts of 
reimbursement available for our products and services, could limit the acceptance and availability of our products and services, reduce 
medical procedure volumes and increase operational and other costs. In addition, the pricing or profitability of healthcare products in 
certain foreign jurisdictions is subject to government controls and other measures that have been prepared by legislators and 
government officials. While we cannot predict whether any such legislative or regulatory proposals or refom1s will be adopted, the 
adoption of any such proposals or refom1s could adversely affect the commercial viability of our existing and potential products. 

In December 2022, the U.S. Congress enacted the Consolidated Appropriations Act for 2023, an omnibus appropriations bill, w hich 
included amendments to the FDCA under the Food and Drug Omnibus Refonn Act of 2022 ("FDORA"). In addition to the 
requirement that sponsors of pivotal trials submit diversity action plans for pivotal trials (as described in "Item I . Business­
Government Regulation"), FDORA included new requirements for cyber devices, defined as any medical device that is or includes 
software that is validated, installed, or authorized by the manufacturer; can connect to the internet; and may be vulnerable to 
cybersecurity threats. Under the FDORA amendments to the FDCA, any application for marketing authorization of the cyber device 
must include a software bill of materials and a cybersecurity plan describing the methods by which the manufacturer will monitor, 
identify and address cybersecurity vulnerabilities. Any failure by a cyber device manufacturer to comply with applicable cybersecurity 
requirements is considered a violation of the FDCA and will subject the manufacturer to enforcement actions and possibly legal 
sanctions. 

Furthermore, many of our customers are healthcare faci lities that are subject to state Determination of Need, or DoN, laws. The 
purpose of DoN laws is generally to promote competition and cost containment in healthcare. Under state DoN laws, healthcare 
facilities are required to complete an extensive review and approval process before making substantial capital expenditures. While our 
Swoop® system is generally more affordable than traditional MRI systems, in some states healthcare facilities are required to 
complete such processes in connection with their potential acquisition of a Swoop® system, which can result in delays in or decisions 
not to complete the sale process, resulting in an adverse impact on our business. 

We cannot predict what other hea lthcare programs and regulations will ultimately be implemented in the United States, at the federal 
or state level, or in foreign jurisdictions where we market our devices, nor can we predict the effects of any such future legislation or 
regulation on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property 

If we are unable to obtain and maintain am/ enforce sufficient intellectual property protection f or our products and technology, or 
if the scope of the intellectual property protection obtainell is not sufficiently broad, our competitors couhl develop and 
commercialize products similar or il/entical to ou rs, and our ability to successfully commercialize our protlucts may be impllired. 

We rely on patent protection as well as trademark, copyright, trade secret and other intellectual property right protection and 
contractual restrictions to protect our proprietary products and technologies, all of which provide limited protection and may not 
adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. If we fa il to obtain, maintain and sufficiently 
enforce our intellectual property, third parties may be able to compete more effectively against us. In addition. we may incur 
substantial litigation costs in our attempts to recover damages or restrict use of om intellectual property. 

To the extent our intellectual property offers inadequate protection, or is found to be invalid or unenforceable, we would be exposed to 
a greater risk of direct competition. If our intellectual property does not provide adequate coverage against our competitors' products, 
our competitive position could be adversely affected, as could our business, fmancial condition, results of operations and prospects. 
Both the patent application process and the process of managing patent and other intellectual property disputes can be time-consuming 
and expensive. 

Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain protection of the intellectual property we may own solely or 
jointly with, or license from, third parties, particularly patents, in the United States and other countries directed to our products and 
technologies. We apply for patents covering our products and technologies and uses thereof, as we deem appropriate. However, 
obtaining and enforcing patents is costly, time-consuming and complex, and we may fail to apply for patents on important products 
and technologies in a timely fashion or at all, or we may fai l to apply for patents in potentially relevant jurisdictions. We may not be 
able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications, or maintain, enforce and license any patents that may issue 
from such patent applications, at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner or iin all jurisdictions. It is also possible that we will fail to 
identify patentable aspects of our research and development output before it is too late to obtain patent protection. Moreover, we may 
not develop additional proprietary products, methods and technologies that are patentable. We may not have the right to control the 
preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or to maintain the rights to patents licensed from or 'to third parties. 
Therefore, these patents and applications may not be prosecuted, obtained and enforced by such third parties in a manner consistent 
with the best interests of our business. 
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ln addition, the patent position of life sciences and. medical teclmology companies generally is highly tmcertain, involves complex 
legal and factual questions, and has been the subjec t of much litigation in recent years. Changes in either the patent laws or in 
interpretations of patent laws in the United States or other colU1tries or regions may diminish the value of our intellectual property. As 
a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability, and commercial value of our patent rights presents some degree of uncertainty. It 
is possible that some of our pending patent applica tions will not result in issued patents in a timely fashion or at all, and even if patents 
are granted, they may not provide a basis for intellectual property protection of commercially viable products or services, may not 
provide any competitive advantages, or may be challenged, narrowed and/or invalidated by third parties. There exists some degree of 
uncertainty over the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third-party patents. It is possible that third 
parties will attempt to design around our current or future patents such that we cannot prevent such third parties from using similar 
technologies and commercializing similar products to compete with us. Some of our owned or licensed patents or patent applications 
may be challenged at a future point in time and we may not be successful in defending any such challenges made against our patents 
or patent applications. Any successful third-party challenge to our patents could result in the narrowing, unenforceability or invalidity 
of such patents and increased competition to our business. The outcome of patent litigation or other proceedings can be uncertain, and 
any attempt by us to enforce our patent rights against others or to challenge the patent rights of others may nott be successful, or, 
regardless of success, may take substantial time and result in substantial cost, and may divert our efforts and attention from other 
aspects of our business. Any of the foregoing events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

The U.S. law relating to the patentability of certain inventions in the life sciences ami medical technology industry is uncertain and 
rapillly changing, which may lulversely impact our existing patents or our ability to obtain patents in the future. 

Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States or in other jurisdictions could increase the 
uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of patent applications and the enforcement or defense of issued patents. For 
instance, under tl1e Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (the "America Invents Act" ), enacted in September 20 I I, the United States 
transitioned to a frrst inventor to file system in which, assuming that other requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to 
file a patent application is entitled to the patent on an invention regardless of whether a third party was the frrst to invent the claimed 
invention. These changes include allowing third-party submission of prior art to the United States Patent and Trademark Office 
("USPTO") during patent prosecution and additional procedures to challenge the validity of a patent through USPTO administered 
post-grant proceedings, including post-grant review, inter partes review, and derivation proceedings. The America Invents Act and its 
implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement 
or defense of our issued patents, all of whlch could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and prospects. 

Various courts, including the U.S . Supreme Court, have rendered decisions that impact the scope ofpatentabiUity of certain inventions 
or discoveries relating to life sciences and medical technology. Specifically, these decisions stand for the proposition that patent 
claims that recite laws of nature, natural phenomena, and abstract ideas are not themselves patentable unless those patent claims have 
sufficient additional features that provide practical assurance that the processes are genuine inventive applications of those laws, 
phenomena, and abstract ideas rather than patent drafting efforts designed to monopolize the law ofnatme, natural phenomenon, or 
abstract idea itself. What constitutes a "sufficient" additional feature is somewhat lU1certain. Furthermore, in view of these decisions, 
since December 2014, the USPTO has published and continues to publish revised guidelines for patent examjl!lers to apply when 
examining process claims for patent eligibility. 

In addition, U.S. Supreme Court rulings have narrowed the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances and weakened 
the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to some degree of uncertainty with regard to the Company' s ability to 
obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created a degree of uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once 
obtained. Depending on relevant laws enacted by the U.S. Congress, and decisions by the federal courts and the USPTO, the laws and 
regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that may have a material adverse effect on our ability to obtain new 
patents and to defend and enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future. 

Our patent portfolio may be negatively impacted by current uncertainties in the state of the law, new court rulings or changes in 
guidance or procedures issued by the USPTO or other similar patent offices around the world. From time to time, the U.S. Supreme 
Court, other federal courts, the U .S. Congress or the USPTO may change the standards of patentability, scope and validity of patents 
within the life sciences and medical technology and any such changes, or any similar adverse changes in the patent laws of other 
jurisdictions, could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations. 

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world. 

The laws of some foreign countries do not offer intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and we 
and our licensors may encOtmter difficulties in obtaining, enforcing and defending such rights in foreign jurisdictions. Consequ ently, 
we and our licensors may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our or our licensors' inventions in some or all countries 
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outside the United States, or from selling or importing products made using our or our licensors' inventions in other jurisdictions. 
Competitors and! other third parties may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop 
their own products and technologies and may also export infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but 
enforcement practices or laws are not as strong as those in the United States. These products may compete with our products. Our and 
our licensors' patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing. In 
addition, certain countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to other 
parties. Furthermore, many countries limit the enforceability of patents against other parties, including government agencies or 
government contractors. In these cmmtries, the patent owner may have limited remedies, which could materially diminish the value of 
any patents. 

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign 
jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain other countries are not as developed or as favorable as the United States in the enforcement 
of patents and other intellectual property rights, which could make it difficult for us to stop the misappropriation or other violations of 
our intellectual property rights including infringement of our patents in such countries. The legal systems in certain countries may also 
favor state-sponsored companies or companies headquartered in particular jurisdictions over our first-in-time patents and other 
intellectual property rights. The aibsence of harmonized intellectllal property protection laws and effective enforcement makes it 
difficult to ensure consistent respect for patent, trade secret, and other intellectual property rights on a worldwide basis. As a result, it 
is possible that we will not be able to enforce our rights against third parties that misappropriate our proprietary technology in those 
com1tries. 

Proceedings to enforce our or our licensors' patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our efforts 
and attention from other aspects of our business, could put us and our licensors' patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted 
narrowly and our and our licensors' patent applications at risk of not issuing, and could provoke third parties to assert claims against 
us. We and our licensors may not prevail in any lawsuits that we or our licensors initiate, or that are initiated against us or our 
licensors, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. In addition, changes in the law 
and legal decisions by courts in the United States and foreign countries may affect our ability to obtain adequate protection for our 
products, services and other technologies and the enforcement of intellectual property. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our 
intellectual property rights arom1d the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual 
property that we develop or license. Any of the foregoing events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Issued patents covering our products could be fouml invalid or unenforceable if chal/engetl. 

Our owned and licensed patents and patent applications may be subject to validity, enforceability and priority disputes. The issuance 
of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability. Some of our patents or patent applications 
(including licensed patents and patent applications.) may be challenged at a future point in time in opposition, derivation, 
reexamination, inter parte.s review, post-grant review or interference or other similar proceedings, as applicable. Any successful third­
party challenge to our patents in this or any other proceeding could result in the m1enforceability or invalidity of such patents, which 
may lead to increased competition to our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and prospects. In addition, if we or our licensors initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent 
covering our products, the defendlant could counterclaim that such patent covering our products, as applicable, is invalid and/or 
unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are 
commonplace. There are numerous grounds upon which a third party can assert invalidity or unenforceability of a patent. Groll!nds for 
a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness or 
non-enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the 
patent intentionally withheld relevant information from the relevant patent office, or knowingly made a misleading statement, during 
prosecution. Third parties may also raise sin1ilar claims before administrative bodies in the United States or abroad, even outside the 
context of litigation. Such mechanisms include ex parte re-examination, inter partes review, post-grant review, derivation and 
equivalent proceedings in non-U.S. jurisdictions, such as opposition proceedings. Such proceedings could result in revocation of or 
amendment to our patents in such a way that they no longer cover and protect our products. With respect to the validity of our patents, 
for example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art of which we, our licensors, our patent cmmsel and the patent 
examiner were unaware during prosecution. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability during patent 
litigation is unpredictable. If a defendant or other third party were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or unenforceability, we 
would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on certain aspects of our products and teclmologies, which could have 
a material adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition, if the breadth or strength 
of protection provided by our patents and patent applications is threatened, regardless of the outcome, it could dissuade companies 
from collaborating with us to license intellectual property, or develop or commercialize current or future products. 

We may not be aware of all third-party intellectual property rights potentially relating to our jproducts. Publica tions of discoveries in 
the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are 
typically not published until approximately 18 months after filing or, in some cases, not until such patent applications issue as patents. 
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We might not have been the frrst to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications and we might not have 
been the first to file patent applications for these inventions. To determine the priority of these inventions, we may have to participate, 
as applicable, in interference proceedings, derivation proceedings or other post-grant proceedings declared by the USPTO, or other 
similar proceedings in non-U.S. jurisdictions that could result in substantial cost to us and the loss of valuable patent protection. The 
outcome of such proceedings is uncertain. No assurance can be given that other patent applications will not have priority over our 
patent applications. In addition, changes to the patent laws of the United States allow for various post-grant opposition proceedings 
that have not been extensively tested, and their outcome is therefore uncertain. Furthermore, if third parties bring these proceedings 
against our patents, regardless of the merit of such proceedings and regardless of whether we are successful, we could experience 
significant costs and our management may be distracted. 

Any of the foregoing events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and 
prospects. 

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, the value of our technology could be materially adt,ersely 
affected am/ our business coultl be harmetl. 

We rely heavily on trade secrets and confidentiality agreements to protect our unpatented know-how, technology and other 
confidential proprietary information, and to maintain our competitive position. However, trade secrets and know-how can be difficult 
to protect. In particular, we anticipate that with respect to our teclmologies, these trade secrets and know-how will over time be 
disseminated within the industry through independent development, the publication of journal articles describing the methodology, 
and the movement of personnel from academic to industry scientific positions. 

In addition to pursuing patents Olli our technology, we take steps to protect our intellectual property and proprietary teclmology by 
entering into agreements, including confidentiali ty agreements, non-disclosure agreements and intellectual property assignment 
agreements, with our employees, consultants, academic institutions, corporate partners and, when needed, our advisers. However, we 
crumot be certain that such agreements have been entered into with all relevant parties, and we cannot be certain that our trade secrets 
and other confidential proprietary information willl not be disclosed or that competitors or other third parties will not otherwise gain 
access to our trade secrets or independently develop substantially equivalent infonnation and techniques. For example, ru1y of these 
parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and we may not be ablle to 
obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Such agreements may not be enforceable or may not provide meaningful protection for 
our trade secrets or other proprietary information in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure or other breaches of the agreements, 
and we may not be able to prevent such unauthorized disclosure, which could materially and adversely impact our ability to establish 
or maintain a competitive advantage in the market, and our business, fmancial condition, results of operations at1d prospects. 

Monitoring unauthorized disclosure is difficult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to prevent such disclosure are, or 
will be, adequate. If we were to enforce a claim that a third party had wrongfully obtained and was using our trade secrets, it would be 
expensive and time-consuming, it could distract our personnel, and the outcome would be unpredictable. In addition, courts outside 
the United States may be less willing to protect trade secrets or may not recognize certain claims of intelle.ctual property infringement. 

We also seek to preserve the integrity and confidentiality of our confidential proprietary information by maintaining physical security 
of om premises and physical and electronic secmity of om information technology systems, but it is possible that these secmity 
measures could be breached. If any of our confidential proprietary infonnation were to be lawfully obtained or independently 
developed by a competitor or other third party, absent patent and copyright protection, we would have no righl to prevent such 
competitor from using that technology or infonnation to compete with us, which could hann our competitive position. Competitors or 
third parties could purchase our products and attempt to replicate some or all of the competitive advantages we derive from our 
development efforts, design around our protected technology, develop their own competitive technologies that fall outside the scope of 
our intellectual property rights or independently develop our technologies without reference to our trade secrets. If any of our trade 
secrets were to be disclosed to or independently discovered by a competitor or other tltird party, it could materially and adversely 
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship and ownership of our patents and other intellectual property. 

We or our licensors may be subject to claims that fonner employees, collaborators or other third parties have an interest in our owned 
or in-licensed patents, trade secrets or other intellectual property as an inventor or co-inventor. For exrunple, we or our licensors may 
have inventorsltip disputes arise from alleged inventors such as employees, consultat1ts, advisors or others who are involved in 
developing our products, some of whom may have conflicting intellectual property ownership obligations. In addition, counterparties 
to our consulting, sponsored research, software development and other agreements may assert that they have an ownership interest in 
intellectual property developed under such arrangements. In particular, certain software development agreements pursuant to which 
certain third parties have developed parts of our proprietary software may not include provisions that expressly assign to us ownership 
of all intellectual property developed for us by such third parties. Furthermore, certain of om sponsored research agreements pursuant 
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to which we provide certain research services for third parties do not assign to us all intellectual property developed under such 
agreements. As such, we may not have the right to use all such developed intellectual property under such agreements, we may be 
required to obtain licenses from third parties and such licenses may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or 
may be non-exclusive. If we are unable to obtain such licenses and such licenses are necessary for the development, manufacture and 
commercialization of our products and technologies, we may need to cease the development, manufacture or commercialization of our 
products and technologies. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other claims challenging inventorship of our or our 
licensors' ownership of our owned or in-licensed patents, trade secrets or other intellectual properly. If we or our licensors fail in 
defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights. In such an 
event, we may be required to obtain licenses from third parties and such licenses may not be available on commercially reasonable 
tem1s or at all, or may be non-exclusive. If we are unable to obtain and maintain such licenses, we may need to cease the development, 
manufacture or commercialization of our products and technologies. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, 
litigation could result in substantial costs and loss oftin1e and be a distraction to management and other employees, and certain 
customers or partners may defer engaging with us until the particular dispute is resolved. Any of the foregoing could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

We may not be able to protect and enforce our trademarks and tratle names or build name recognition in our markets of interest 
thereby harming our competitive position. 

The registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names that we own may be challenged, infringed, circumvented, declared generic 
or otherwise fail to function as a mark, lapsed or determined to be confusingly similar to or dilutive of other marks. We may not be 
able to protect our rights in these trademarks and trade names, which we need in order to build name recognition. In addition, third 
parties have filed, and may in the fhture file, for registration of trademarks similar or identical to our trademarks, thereby impeding our 
ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to consumer confusion. If such third parties were to succeed in registering or 
developing common law rights in any other trademarks that are similar or identical to our trademarks, and if we are not successful in 
challenging such rights and defending against challenges to Company's trademarks, we may not be able to use such trademarks to 
develop brand recognition of our technologies, products or services. In addition, there could be potential trade name or trademark 
infringement claims brought by owners of other registered trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our registered or 
unregistered trademarks or trade names. Further, we have and may in the future enter into agreements with owners of such third-party 
trade names or trademarks to avoid potential trademark litigation which may limit our ability to use our trade names or trademarks in 
certain fields of !business. Over the long tem1, if we are unable to establish name recognition based on our trad!emarks and trade names, 
then we may not be able to compete effectively, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be 
adversely affected. Our efforts to enforce or protect our proprietary rights related to trademarks, trade secrets, domain names, 
copyrights or other intellectual property may be ineffective and could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources. Any of the 
foregoing events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Patent terms may he inadequate to protect our competitive position on our protlucts for an adequate amount of time. 

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a utility patent is 
generally 20 years from its earliest U.S. non-provisional filing date. Wl1ile extensions may be available, the life of a patent, and the 
protection it affords, is limited. In the United States, a patent's term may, in certain cases, be lengthened by patent term adjustment, 
which compensates a patentee for administrative delays by the USPTO in examining and granting a patent, or may be shortened if a 
patent is tem1inally disclaimed over a conunonly owned patent or a patent naming a common inventor and having an earlier expiration 
date. Even if patents covering our products are obtained, once the patent life has expired, we may be open to competition from 
competitive products. If one of our products requires extended development, testing and/or regulatory review, patents protecting such 
products might expire before or shortly after such products are commercialized. As a result, our owned and licensed patent portfolio 
may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from conunercializing products similar or identical to our products, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We may he subject to claims that our employees, consultants or indepentlent contractors have wrongfully usetl or disclosed to us 
allegetl trade secrets of their other clients or former employers, which coultl subject us to c.ostly litigation. 

As is common in the life sciences and medical industry, we engage the services of consultants and independent contractors to assist us 
in the development of our products. Many of these consultants and independent contractors were previously employed at or may have 
previously or may be currently providing consulting or other services to, universities or other technology, medical device, 
biotechnology or phannaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. We may become subject to claims 
that we, a consultant or an independent contractor inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other information 
proprietary to their fonner employers or their former or current clients. We may similarly be subject to claims stemming from similar 
actions of an employee, such as one who was previously employed by another company, including a competitor or potential 
competitor. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, 
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litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our management team. If we are not successful, we could lose access 
or exclusive access to valuable intellectual property. 

We may become involved in lawsuits to tlefend against third-party claims of infringement, .misapp ropriation or other ''iolations of 
intellectual property rights or to p rotect or enforce our intellectual property, any of which C:Oilld be expensi•'e, time consuming ami 
unsuccessful, and may prevent or delay our development and commercialization eff orts. 

Our commercial success depends in part on our ability and the ability of future collaborators to develop, manufacture, market and sell 
our product and use our products and technologies without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the intellectual property 
rights of third parties. There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patents and other intellectual property rights in the life 
sciences and medical technology sector, as well as administrative proceedings for challenging patents, including interference, 
derivation, inter partes review, post grant review, and reexamination proceedings before the USPTO, or oppositions and other 
comparable proceedings in foreign jurisdictions. We may be exposed to, or threatened with, future litigation by third parties having 
patent or other intellectual property rights alleging that our products, manufacturing methods, software and/or technologies infringe, 
misappropriate or otherwise viola te their intellectual property rights. Numerous issued patents and pending patent applications that are 
owned by third parties exist in the fields in which we are developing our products and technologies. It is not always clear to industry 
participants, including us, the claim scope that may issue from pending patent applications owned by third parties or which patents 
cover various types of products, technologies or their methods of use or manufacture. Thus, because ofthe large number of patents 
issued and patent applications filed in our fields, there may be a risk that third parties, including our competitors, may allege they have 
patent rights encompassing our products, technologies or methods and that we are employing technology protected by such patent 
rights without authorization. 

If third parties, including our competitors, believe that our products or technologies infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate their 
intellectual property rights, such third parties may seek to enforce against us their intellectual property rights, including patent rights, 
by filing against us an intellectual property-related lawsuit, i11cluding a patent infringement lawsuit. Even if we believe third-party 
intellectual property claims are without merit, there is no assurance that a court would find in our favor on questions of infringement, 
validity, enforceability, or priority. If any third parties were to assert these or any other patents against us and we are unable to 
successfully defend against any such assertions, we may be required, including by court order, to cease the development and 
commercialization of the infringing products or technology and we may be required to redesign such products and technologies so 
they do not infringe such patents, which may not be possible or may require substantial monetary expenditures and time. We could 
also be required to pay damages, which could be significant, including treble damages and attorneys' fees if we are found to have 
willfully infringed such patents. We could also be required to obtain a license to such patents in order to continue the development and 
commercialization of the infringing product or technology. However, such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable 
terms or at all, including because certain of these patents may be held by or exclusively licensed to our competitors. Even if such a 
license were available, it may require substantial payments or cross-licenses under our intellectual property rights, and it may only be 
available on a nonexclusive basis, in which case third parties, including our competitors, could use the same licensed intellectual 
property to compete with us. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operation and prospects. 

We may choose to challenge, including in connection with any allegation of patent infringement by a third paJrty, the patentabihty, 
validity, ownership or enforceability of any th ird-party patent that we believe may have applicability in our field, and any other third­
party patent that may at some future time possibly be asserted against us. Such challenges may be brought either in court or by 
requesting that the USPTO, European Patent Office ("EPO"), or other foreign patent offices review the patent claims, such as in an ex­
parte reexamination, inter partes review, post-grant review proceeding or opposition proceeding or other similar proceedings. 
However, there can be no assurance that any such challenge by us or any third party will be successful. Even if such proceedings are 
successful, these proceedings are expensive and may consume our time or other resources, distract our management and technical 
personnel, and the costs of these opposition proceedings could be substantial. There can be no assurance that our defenses of non­
infringement, invalidity or unenforceability will succeed. 

Third parties, including our competitors, could be infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating our solely owned and/or in­
licensed intellectual property rights. Monitoring unauthorized use of intellectual property is difficult and costly. We may not be able to 
detect unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights. From time to time, we seek to analyze 
our competitors' products and services, and may in the future seek to enforce our rights based on potential infringement, 
misappropriation or violation of our intellectual property. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights may 
not be adequate to enforce our rights against such infringement, misappropriation or violation of our intellectual property. Any 
inability to meaningfully enforce our intellectual property rights could harm our ability to compete and reduce demand for our 
products and technologies. 

Litigation proceedings may be necessary for us to enforce our patent and other intellectual property rights. In any such proceeding, a 
court may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds tha t our owned and in-licensed patents do 
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not cover the teclmology in question. Further, in such a proceeding, the defendant could counterclaim that our intellectual property is 
invalid or unenforceable and the court may agree, in which. case we could lose valuable intellectual property rights, which. could allow 
third parties to commercialize teclmology or products similar to ours and compete directly with us, without payment to us. 
Alternatively or additionally, suclh a proceeding could result in requiring us to license rights from the prevailing party in order to be 
able to manufacture or commercialize our products without infringing such party's intellectual property rights, and if we are unable to 
obtain such a license, we may be required to cease commercialization of our products and technologies, any of which could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, frnancial condition, resulls of operations and prospects. The outcome in any such proceeding 
is somewhat llllpredictable. 

Regardless of whether we are defending against or asserting an intellectual property-related claim in an intellectual property-related 
proceeding that may be necessary in the future, and regardless of outcome, substantial costs and diversion of resources may result 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Furthermore, 
because of the substantial amount of discovery required in cOimection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of 
our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during tltis type of litigation. In addition, there could be public 
announcements of the results of hearings, motions, or other interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or 
investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our Class A common stock. 
Some of our competitors and other third parties may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than 
we can because of their greater financial resources. and more mature and developed intellectual property portfolios. We may not have 
sufficient fmancial or other resources to adequately conduct these types of litigation or proceedings. Any of the foregoing, or any 
uncertainties res~tJlting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation, could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
fmancial condition, results of operations and prospects. Claims that we have misappropriated! the confidential information or trade 
secrets of third parties could have a similar adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospe·cts. 

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depentls on compliance with various requiretl procedures, tlocument 
submissions, fee payments anti other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, anti our patent protection could be 
reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements. 

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents and/or applications will be due 
to be paid to the USPTO and various governmental patent agencies outside of the United States at several stages over the lifetime of 
the patents and/or applications. The USPTO and various non-U.S. governmental patent agencies require compliance with a nwnber of 
procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. In certain circwnstances, we 
rely on our licensors to pay these fees due to the U.S. and non-U.S. patent agencies and to take the necessary action to comply with 
these requirements with respect to our licensed intellectual property. In many cases, an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of a 
late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules. However, there are situations in which non-compliance can result in 
an irrevocable abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the 
relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, our competitors may be able to enter the market without infringing our patents and this 
circumstance could have a material adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

We currently rely on Licenses from third parties, and in the future may rely on additional licenses from other third parties, llnd if 
we lose any of these licenses, then we may be subjected to future litigation. 

We are, and may in the future become, a party to license agreements that grant us rights to use certain intellectual property, including 
patents and patent applications, typically in certain specified fields of use. We may need to obtain additional licenses from others to 
advance our research, development and commercialization activities. 

Our success may depend in part on the ability of our licensors and any future licensors to obtain, maintain and enforce patent 
protection for our licensed intellectual property. Without protection for the intellectual property we license, other companies mjght be 
able to offer substantially identical products and teclmologies for sale, which could materially adversely affect our competitive 
business position and harm our business, fmancial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Our current license agreements impose, and future agreements may impose, various diligence, commercialization, milestone payment, 
royalty, insurance and other obligations on us and require us to meet development timelines, or to exercise commercially reasonable 
efforts to develop and commercialize licensed products, in order to maintain the licenses. If we fail to comply with these obligations, 
our licensor(s) may have the right to terntinate our license, in which event we would not be able to develop or market products or 
technology covered by the licensed intellectual property. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive 
position, business, financial conditions, results of operations and prospects. 

Moreover, disputes may also arise between us and our licensors regarding intellectual property subject to a license agreement, 
including: 
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• the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other interpretation-related issues; 

• our financial or other obligations under the license agreement; 

• whether, and the extent to which, om products, technology and processes infringe on intellectual pro perry of the licensor that 
is not subject to the licensing agreement; 

• our diligence obligations under the license agreement and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations; 

• the inventorship and ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property 
by our licensor(s); and 

• the priority of invention of patented technology. 

If we do not prevail in such disputes, we may lose any or all of our rights under such license agreements, experience significant delays 
in the development and commercialization of om products and technologies, or incur liability for damages, any of which could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. In addition, we may seek to obtain 
additional licenses from our licensor(s) and, in connection with obtaining such licenses, we may agree to amend our existing licenses 
in a manner that may be more favorable to the licensor(s), including by agreeing to terms that could enable third parties, including our 
competitors, to receive licenses to a portion of the intellectual property that is subject to our existing licenses and to compete with our 
products. 

In addition, the agreements under which we currently and in the future license intellectual property or technology from third parties 
are complex and certain provisions in such agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract 
interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual 
property or technology or increase what we believe to be our fmancial or other obligations under the relevant agreement, either of 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Moreover, if 
disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing arrangements 
on commercially acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize any affected products or services, 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Absent the license agreements, we may infringe patents subject to those agreements, and if the license agreements are terminated, we 
may be subject to litigation by the licensor. Litigation could result in substantial costs and distract our management. If we do not 
prevail, we may be required to pay damages, including treble damages, attorneys' fees or costs and expenses and royalties, which 
could adversely affect our ability to offer products or services, our ability to continue operations and our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and prospects. 

If we cannot license rights to use technologies on reasonable terms, we may not be able to .commercialize new products in the 
f uture. 

We may identify third-party teclmology that we may need to license or acquire in order to develop or commercialize our products or 
technologies. However, we may be unable to secure such licenses or acquisitions. The licensing or acquisition of third-party 
intellectual property rights is a competitive area, and several more established companies may pursue strategies to license or acquire 
third-party intellectual property rights that we may consider attractive or necessary. These established companies may have a 
competitive advantage over us due to their size, capita l resources and greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities. 
In addition, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to assign or license rights to us. 

We also may be unable to license or acquire third-party intellectual property rights on tem1s that would allow us to make an 
appropriate return on our investment or at all. In return for the use of a third party's technology, we may agree to pay the licensor 
royalties based on sales of our products or services. Royalties are a component of cost of products or technologies and affect the 
margins on our products. We may also need to negotiate licenses to patents or patent applications before or after introducing a 
commercial product. We may not be able to obtain necessary licenses to patents or patent applications, and our business may Slllffer if 
we are unable to enter into the necessary licenses on acceptable terms or at all, if any necessary licenses are subsequently terminated, 
if the licensor fails to abide by the tenns of the license or fa ils to prevent infringement by third parties, or if the licensed intellectual 
property rights are found to be invalid or unenforceable. 

Certain of our future owne£1 and in-licensed patents may be, subject to a resen 'lltion of rights by one or more third parties, 
including government march-in rights, that may limit our ability to exclude third parties from commercializing products similar or 
illentical to ours. 
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In addition, our owned and in-licensed patents may be subject to a reservation of rights by one or more third parties. When new 
technologies are developed with government funding, in order to secure ownership of such patent rights, the recipient of such funding 
is required to comply with certain government regulations, including timely disclosing the inventions claimed in such patent rights to 
the U.S. government and timely electing title to such inventions. Any failure to timely elect title to such inventions may permit the 
U.S. government to, at any time, take title to such inventions. Additionally, the U.S. government generally obtains certain rights in any 
resulting patents, including a non-exclusive royalty-free license authorizing the government to use the invention or to have others use 
the invention on its behalf. If the government decides to exercise these rights, it is not required to engage us as its contractor in 
connection with doing so. In addition, these rights may pennit the U.S. government to disclose our confidential infonnation to third 
parties and to exercise march-in rights to use or aiEow third parties to use our licensed technology free of charge. The U.S. government 
can exercise its march-in rights if it detennines that action is necessary because we fail to achieve practical application of the 
government-funded teclmology, because action is necessary to alleviate hea[th or safety needs, to meet requirements of federa l 
regulations, or to give preference to U.S. industry. In addition, our rights in such inventions may be subject to certain requirements to 
manufacture products embodying such inventions in the United States. Any exercise by the government of any of the foregoing rights 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Our products contain third-party open source software components and failure to comply with the terms of the umlerlying open 
source sofhvare licenses could restrict our ability to sell our products am/ proville third parties access to our proprietary software. 

Our products may contain software licensed by third parties under open source software licenses. Use and distribution of open source 
software may entail greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source software licensors generally do not 
provide warranties or other contractual protections regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code. Some open source 
software licenses contain requirements that the licensee make its source code publicly available if the licensee creates modifications or 
derivative works using the open source software, depending on the type of open source software the licensee uses and how the 
licensee uses it. If we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner, we could, under certain open 
source software licenses, be requiired to release the source code of our proprietary software to the public for free. This would allow our 
competitors and other third parties to create similar products with less development effort and time and ultimately could result in a 
loss of our product sales and revenue, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition, results of 
operations and prospects. In addition, some companies that use third-party open source software have faced claims challenging their 
use of such open source software and their compliance with the terms of the applicable open source license. We may be subject to 
suits by third parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source software, or claiming non-compliance with the 
applicable open source licensing terms. Use of open source software may also present additional security risks because the public 
availability of such software may make it easier for hackers and other third parties to compromise or attempt to compromise our 
technology and systems. 

Although we review our use of open source software to avoid subjecting our proprietary software to conditions we do not intend, the 
terms of many open source software licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that these licenses could be 
construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our products and 
proprietary software. Moreover, our processes for monitoring and controlling our use of open source software in our products may not 
be effective. If we are held to have breached the terms of an open source software license, we could be subject to damages or be 
required to seek licenses from third parties to continue offering our products on tem1s that are not economically feasible, tore­
engineer our products, to discontinue the sale of our products ifre-engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis, or to 
make generally available, in source code form, our proprietary code, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects. 

l n.tellectual property rights do not necessarily at/dress all potential threats. 

The degree offuhrre protection afforded by our intellech1al property rights is uncertain because intellech1al property rights have 
limitations and may not adequately protect om business or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. For example: 

• others may be able to make products that are similar to products and technologies we may develop or utilize similar 
technology that are not covered by the clain1s of the patents that we own or license now or in the future; 

• we, or our licensor(s), might not have been the frrst to make the inventions covered !by the issued patent or pending patent 
application that we license or may own in the future; 

• we, or our licensor(s), might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our or their inventions; 

• others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing, 
misappropriating or otherwise violating our owned or licensed intellectual property rights; 

• it is possible that our pending licensed patent applications or those that we may own in the futme will not lead to issued 
patents; 
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• issued patents that we own, in-license, or otherwise hold rights to may be held invalid or unenforceable or have their scope 
narrowed, including as a. result of legal challenges by our competitors; 

• our competitors might conduct research and development activities in countries where we do not have patent rights and then 
use the infonnation learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our major corrunercial markets; 

• we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; 

• the patents of others may harm our business; and 

• we may choose not to file a patent application for certain trade secrets or know-how, and a third party may subsequently fi le a 
patent application coveriing such intellectual property. 

Should any of these events occur, they could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and 
prospects. 

Litigation Risks 

We face the risk of product liability claims and may be subject to damages, fines, p enalties and injunctions, among other things. 

Our business exposes us to the risk of product liability claims that are inherent in the testing, manufacturing and marketing of medical 
devices, including those which may arise from the misuse (including system hacking or other unauthorized access by third parties to 
our systems) or malfunction of, or design flaws in, our hardware and software products. This liability may vary based on the FIDA 
classification associated with our devices and with the state law governing product liability standards applied to specification 
developers and/or manufacturers in a given negligence or strict liability lawsuit. We may be subject to product liability claims i f our 
products cause, or merely appear to have caused, an injury. Claims may be made by patients, healtl1care providers or others selling our 
products. The risk of product liability claims may also increase if our products are subject to a product recall or seizure. Product 
liability claims may be brought by individuals or by groups seeking to represent a class. 

Although we have insurance at levels that we believe to be appropriate, this insurance is subject to deductibles and coverage 
limitations. Our current product liability insurance may not continue to be available to us on acceptable tem1s, if at all, and, if 
available, the coverage may not be adequate to protect us against any future product liability claims. Further, if additional medical 
device products are approved or cleared for marketing, or if we launch additional 51 O(k)-exempt device products or products that are 
not FDA-regulated medical devices, we may seek additional insurance coverage. If we are unable to obtain insurance at an acceptable 
cost or on acceptable terms with adequate coverage or otherwise protect against potential product liability claims, we will be exposed 
to significant liabilities, which may harm our business. A product liability claim, recall or other claim with respect to uninsured 
liabilities or for amounts in excess of insured liabilities could result in significant costs and s ignificant harm to our business. 

We may be subject to claims against us even if the apparent inj ury is due to the actions of others or misuse of"the device or a partner 
device. Healthcare providers may use our products in a manner inconsistent with the products' labeling and that differs from the 
manner in which. they were used in clinical studies and authorized by the FDA. Off-label use of products by healthcare providers is 
common, and any such off-label use of our products could subject us to additional liability, or require design changes to Jimjt this 
potential off-label use once discovered. Defending a suit, regardless of merit, could be costly, could divert management attention and 
might result in adverse publicity, which could result in the withdrawal of, or result in reduced acceptance of, our products in the 
market. 

Additionally, we have entered into various agreements where we indemnify third parties for certain claims relating to our products. 
These indemnification obligations may require us to pay significant sums of money for clajms that are covered by these 
indemnification obligations. We are not currently subject to any product liability claims; however, any future product liability claims 
against us, regardless of their merit, may result in negative publicity about us that could ultimately hann our reputation and could have 
a material adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Risks Related to Our Securities and to Being a Public Company 

We have in the p ast experiencetl material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, ant/ if we experience such 
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in the future or othenvise f ail to maintain an eff ective system 
of internal controls in the future, we may not be able to report our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows 
accurately or in a timely manner and we may be unable to maintain compliance with applicable stock exchtmge listing 
requirements, which may adversely affect im,estor confitlence in us and, as a result, materially and adversely affect our business 
and the value of our Class A common stock. 
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We have in the past experienced material weaknesses in our internal controls over fmancial reporting that have required us to expend 
substantial time and effort to remediate. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company's annual or interim financial 
statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we 
undertook remediation measures related to the previously identified material weakness in internal control over financial reporting, 
which we believe allowed us to successfully remediate and strengthen our internal control over financial reporting. During the second 
quarter of2023, we completed testing of the operating effectiveness of the controls and concluded that the material weaknesses were 
remediated as of Jtme 30, 2023. Based on these measures, we believe that the previously reported material weaknesses have been 
remediated. However, completion of remediation procedures for the material weaknesses does not provide assurance that our process 
and controls will continue to operate properly or that our fmancial statements will be free from error. 

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and prevent fraud. Material weaknesses could 
result in material misstatements to our annual or interim financial statements that might not be prevented or detected on a timely basis, 
or in delayed filing of required periodic reports. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over fmancing reporting is effective, 
or if our independent registered public accotmting firm is unable to express an unqualified opinion as to the effectiveness of the 
internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reporth1g, 
the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected and we could become subject to litigation or investigations 
by Nasdaq, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources. 

lfwe identify any material weaknesses in the fbture, any such newly identified material weakness could limit our ability to prevent or 
detect a misstatement of our accounts or disclosures that could result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial 
statements. In such case, we may be unable to maintain compliance with secmities law requirements regarding timely filing of 
periodic reports in addition to applicable stock exchange listing requirements, investors may lose confidence in our fmancial reporting 
and our stock price may decline as a result. We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, or any measures that may 
be taken in the future, will be sufficient to avoid potential future material weaknesses. 

ln addition, we may face potential for litigation or other disputes which may include, among others, claims invoking the federal and 
state securities laws, contractual claims or other claims arising from the restatement and material weaknesses in our internal control 
over financial reporting and the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements. We can provide no assurance that such 
litigation or disputes will not arise in the future. Any such litigation or dispute, whether successful or not, could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Future sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock, or the possibility that such sales coultl occur, coultl adversely 
aff ect the market price of our Clttss A common stock. 

Future sales in the public market of shares of our C lass A conunon stock, including shares issued upon exercise of our outstanding 
stock options or warrants, or the perception by the market that these sales could occur, could lower the market price of our Class A 
common stock or make it difficult for us to raise additional capital. 

In November 2023, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC pursuant to which we registered for sale up to 
$ 150 million of any combination of our Class A conm1on stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants, rights and/or units from 
time to time and at prices and on terms that we may detennine (the "ShelfRegistration Statement"). The Shelf Registration Statement 
also includes a prospectus covering up to an aggregate of $50.0 mmion in shares of Class A conunon stock that we may issue and sell 
from time to time, through B. Riley Securities, Inc. ("B. Riley") acting as our sales agent, pursuant to the sales agreement that we 
entered into with B. Rjley in November 2023 (the "Sales Agreement"), for our "at-the-market" equity program. As of December 31, 
2024, a total of77 1 ,721 shares of our Class A common stock, for total gross proceeds of$881 thousand and net proceeds of$828 
thousand, have been issued and sold under the Sales Agreement. Due to the SEC's "baby shelf rules," which prohibit companies with 
a public float of less than $75 million from issuing securities under a shelf registration statem.ent in excess of one-third of such 
company's public float in a twelve-month period, we were previously limited in how much we could sell under the Shelf Registration 
Statement. As of the filing of this Annual Report on Form I 0-K, we have a public float of greater than $75 mj Ilion. Accordingly, we 
are no longer limited by the "baby shelf rules," and may freely use the Shelf Registration Statement, which could cause our 
stockholders to experience dilution or could cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline 

Additionally, on February 11 , 2025, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain instihltional investors (the 
"Investors"), pursuant to which we agreed to issue and sell, in a registered direct offering directly to the Investors: (i) 4,511,278 shares 
(the "Shares") of our Class A common stock and ( ii) warrants to purchase up to 4,511 ,278 shares of our Class A conm1on stock (the 
"Warrants"). Each Share and accompanying Warrant were sold together at a combined offering price of $1.33 . The aggregate gross 
proceeds from the Offering were approximately $6.0 million before deducting the placement agent's fees and offering expenses. 
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Upon exercise or conversion, the shares underlying the Warrants and outstanding options may be resold into tbe public market In the 
case of outstanding securities that have exercise or conversion prices that are below the market price of our Class A common stock 
from time to time, our stockholders would experience dilution upon the exercise or conversion of these securities. Any such resales 
into the public market could place downward pressure on the price of our Class A common stock 

We could fail to maintain the listing of our Class A common stock on Nasdaq, which could seriously harm the liquidity of our 
shares and our ability to raise C((pital or complete a strategic transaction. 

The Nasdaq Stock Market has established continued listing requirements, including a requirement to maintain a minimum closing bid 
price of at least $1.00 per share. In May 2024, we received written notice from Nasdaq notify ing us that, because the closing bid price 
for our Class A common stock had fallen below $1.00 per share for 30 consecutive business days, we no longer met the minimum bid 
price requirement for continued inclusion on The Nasdaq Global Market. On July 24, 2024, we received written notice from Nasdaq 
that we were back in compliance with the bid price requirement. Although we have since regained compliance with the bid price 
requirement and our Class A common stock continues to trade on The Nasdaq Global Market, there can be no assurance that we will 
be able to maintain compliance with the bid price requirement or other Nasdaq requirements in the future. If we are not able to 
maintain compliance with Nasdaq requirements, our Class A common stock may be delisted from Nasdaq, which could have a 
material adverse effect on us and our stockholders, including by reducing the liquidity of our shares and having a material adverse 
effect on our ability to raise capital or complete a strategic transaction. 

BeClmse we are a "control/e(/ company" within the meaning of the Nas(/aq listing rales, our stockholders may not have certain 
corporate governance protections that are available to stockholders of companies that are not controlled companies. 

So long as more than 50% of the voting power for the election of our directors is held by an individual, a group or another company, 
we will qualify as a "controlled company" under the Nasdaq listing rules. As of February 15, 2025, Dr. Rothberg controls 
approximately 83% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock. As a result, we are a "controlled company" under the Nasdaq 
rules and are not subject to the requirements that would otherwise require us to have: (i) a majority of our board of directors consist of 
independent directors; (ii) director nominees selected, or recommended for our board of directors' selection, either by a majority of the 
independent directors or a nominating committee comprised solely of independent directors; and (iii) a compensation committee 
comprised solely of independent directors. 

Dr. Rothberg may have his interest in the Company diluted due to future equity issuances or his own actions in selling shares of our 
Class B common stock, in each case, which could result in a loss of the "controlled company" exemption under the Nasdaq listing 
rules. Additionally, in Jtme 2024, our stockholders voted to approve an amendment to our certificate of incorporation, as amended (the 
"Charter"), to add a provision with respect to the automatic conversion of our Class B common stock effective as of December 22, 
2028, which is seven years from the date of the closing of our Business Combination, which could result in a loss of the "controlled 
company" exemption under the Nasdaq listing rules. We would then be required to comply with those provisions of the Nasdaq listing 
rules. 

The dual class structure of our common stock ha:s the effect of concentrating voting power with Jonathan M. Rothberg, Ph.D., the 
Founder of Leg(ICY Hyperfine and Liminal and ((member of our board of directors, which will limit an investor's ability to 
influence the outcome of important transactions, including a change in control. 

Shares of our Class B common stock have 20 votes per share, while shares of our Class A common stock have one vote per share. Dr. 
Rothberg and his permitted transferees hold all of the issued and outstanding shares of our Class B cotrunon stock, and as of February 
15, 2025, Dr. Rothberg holds approximately 83% of the voting power of our capital stock and is able to control matters submitted to 
our stockholders for approval, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents and any merger, 
consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets or other major corporate transactions. Dr. Rothberg may have interests that 
differ from yours and may vote in a way with which you disagree and which may be adverse to your interests. This concentrated 
control may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change in control of the Company, could deprive our stockholders of 
an opportunity to receive a premium for their capital stock as part of a sale of the Company, and might ultimately affect the market 
price of shares of our Class A common stock. If additional shares of our Class B common stock are issued, your shares of Class A 
common stock and your votes may be significantly diluted. 

Potential conflicts of interest may arise among the holtlers of our Class B common stock and the holtlers of our Ch1ss A common 
stock. 

Dr. Rothberg and his permitted transferees hold all of our Class B conm1on stock. As a result, contlicts of inte rest may arise among 
Dr. Rothberg, on the one hand, and the Company and holders of our Class A common stock on the other hand. Dr. Rothberg has the 
ability to influence our business and affairs through his ownership of the high vote shares of our common stock, his general ability to 
elect our board of directors, and provisions in our Charter, requiring his approval for certain corporate actions (in addition to approval 
by our board of directors). If the holders of our Class A common stock are dissatisfied with tbe performance of om board of directors, 
they have no ability to remove any of our directors, with or without cause. 
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As described above, in June 2024, our stockholders voted to approve an amendment to our 01arter to add a provision with respect to 
the automatic conversion of our Class B common stock effective as of December 22, 2028. 

Further, through l1is ability to elect our board of directors and as well as his service on our board of directors, Dr. Rothberg has the 
ability to influence the determination of the amount and timing of our investments and dispositions, cash expenditures, indebtedness, 
issuances of shares of common stock, tax liabilities and amounts of reserves. 

Delaware law and provisions in our Charter and bylaws coull/ make a takeover proposal more difficult. 

Our organizational documents are governed by De laware law. Certain provisions of Delaware law and of our Charter and bylaws 
could discourage, delay, defer or prevent a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or other change of control transaction that a stockholder 
might consider in its best interest, including those attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares of our 
Class A common stock held by our stockJ10lders. These provisions provide for, among other things: 

• the ability of our board of directors to iss1..1e one or more series of pTeferred stock; 

• stockJ1older action by written consent only until the first time when Dr. Rothberg and his permitted transferees cease to 
beneficially own shares of Class B common stock representing 50% or more of the voting power of the outstanding shares of 
our capital stock; 

• certain limitations on convening special stockholder meetings; 

• advance notice for nominations of directors by stockholders and for stockholders to include matters to be considered at our 
annual meetings; 

• amendment of certain provisions of the organizational documents only by the affinnative vote ofholders of(i) a majority of 
the voting power of the shares of our capital stock so long as Dr. Rothberg and ills permitted transferees beneficially own 
shares of Class B common stock representing 50% or more of the voting power of the outstanding shares of our capital stock 
and (ii) at least two-thirds of the voting power of the shares of capital stock from and after the time that Dr. Rothberg and his 
permitted transferees cease to beneficially own shares of Class B common stock representing 50% or more of the voting 
power of our voting stock; and 

• a dual-class common stock structure with 20 votes per share of our Class B common stock, the result of which is that Dr. 
Rothberg has the ability to control the outcome of matters requiring stockholder approval, even though Dr. Rothberg owns 
less than a majority of the outstanding shares of our capital stock. 

These anti-takeover provisions as well as certain provisions of Delaware law could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire 
the Company, even if the third party's offer may be considered beneficial by many of our stockholders. As a result, our stockholders 
may be limited in their ability to obtain a premium for their shares. If prospective takeovers are not consummated for any reason, we 
may experience negative reactions from the financial markets, including negative impacts on the price of our Class A common stock. 
These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for our stockholders to elect directors of their 
choosing and to cause us to take other corporate actions that our stockholders desire. 

Our Charter tles·ignates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole anti exclusive forum for certain types of actions 
and proceetlings and the Jet/era/ district courts as the sole am/ exclusive forum for other types of actions and proceedings, in each 
case, that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholtlers' ability to obtain what such stockholders believe 
to be a favorable judicial forum for disputes with our company or our tlirectors, officers or other employees. 

Our Charter provides that, unless we consent to the selection of an alternative forum, any (i) derivative action or proceeding brought 
on behalf of us; (ii) action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by, or any other wrongdoing by, any current or forn1er 
director, officer, other employee or stockJ10Ider of us; (iii) action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the 
Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL") or our Charter or our bylaws or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the 
Court of Chancery; (iv) action to interpret, apply, enforce, or determine the validity of any provisions in the certificate of 
incorporation of bylaws; or (v) action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine, shall, to the fullest extent pennitted 
by law, be exclusively brought in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court does not have subject matter 
jurisdiction thereof, the federal district court of the State ofDelaware. Subject to the foregoing, the federal district courts of the United 
States are the exclusive fonun for the resolution of any action, suit or proceeding asserting a cause of action under the Securities Act. 
The exclusive fonun provision does not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act. Any 
person or entity ]purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding an interest in any shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have 
notice of and to have consented to the fonun provisions in our Charter. These choice-of-forum provisions may limit a stockholder's 
ability to bring a clain1 in a judicial fonun that he, she or it believes to be favorable for disputes with our company or our directors, 
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officers or other employees or stockholders, which may discourage such lawsuits. We note that there is uncertainty as to whether a 
court would enforce these provisions and that investors cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the mles and 
regulations thereunder. Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for state and federal courts over all suits 
brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. 

Alternatively, if a court were to fiind these provisions of our Charter inapplicable or unenforceable with respect to one or more of the 
specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, 
which could materially adversely affect our business, fmancial condition and results of operations and result im a diversion of the time 
and resources of our management and board of directors. 

Chlmges in laws or regulations, or a failure to comply with any laws am/ regulations, or any litigation that we may be subject to or 
involved in may adversely affect our business, investments and results of operations. 

We are subject to laws, regulations and rules enacted by national, regional and local governments and the Nasdaq Stock Market on 
which our securities are listed. In particular, we are required to comply with certain SEC, Nasdaq, Delaware and other legal and 
regulatory requirements. Compliance with, and monitoring of, applicable laws, regulations and rules may be difficult, time-consuming 
and costly. 

Those laws, regulations and mles and their interpretation and application may also change from time to time and those changes could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, investments and results of operations. For example, it is difficult to predict what 
impact, if any, changes in federal laws and policies, including those relating to tax, environmental, labor and employment, will have 
on our business and industry, the economy as a whole, consumer confidence and discretionary spending. Further, a prior m ling by the 
Court of Chancery in Delaware introduced uncertainty as to whether Section 242(b)(2) of the DGCL required a separate vote in favor 
of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Class A common stock, in addition to a vote in favor of at least a majority of the 
outstanding shares of Class A and Class B common stock, voting together as a single class, to properly authorize shares of Class A 
common stock. In connection with the Business Combination, our stockholders authorized an increase in the number of shares of 
Class A common stock tmder Cayman Islands law, our jurisdiction at the time of the stockholder vote. Accordingly, we do not believe 
that the Delaware ruling applies to us. However, any failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations or mles, as interpreted and 
applied, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Claims alleging that a portion of our Class A 
common stock was not authorized could lead to shares of our Class A common stock being voidable and have a material adverse 
effect on us and our prospects. In addition, uncertainty with respect to our capitalization resulting from the Court of Chancery' s m ling 
referenced above could have a material adverse impact on us, including on our ability to com plete equity financing transactions or 
issue stock-based compensation to our employees, directors and officers unti l the underlying issues are definitively resolved. This 
uncertainty could impair our ability to execute our business plan, attract and retain employees, management and directors and 
adversely affect our commercial relationships. 

We are an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company within the meaning of the Securities Act, and we mtty take 
or continue to take at/vantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies or 
smaller reporting companies, which could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to 
compare our performance with other public companies. 

We are an "emerging growth com pany" within the meaning of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and we may take or 
continue to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies 
that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation 
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in om 
periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive 
compensation and stockJ10lder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. As a resll!lt, our stockholders may 
not have access to certain infonnation they may deem important. We could be an emerging g rowth company for up to five years, 
although circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier, including if the market value of our Class A common stock he ld by 
non-affiliates is $700 million or more as of the last business day of the most recently completed second fiscal quarter, in which case 
we would no longer be an emerging growth company as of the end of that fiscal year. We cannot predict whether investors will find 
our securities less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result of 
our reliance on these exemptions, the trading prices of our securities may be lower than they otherwise would be, there may be a less 
active trading market for our securities and the trading prices of our securities may be more volatile. 

Further, Section 102(b)(l ) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised 
fmancial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement d,eclared 
effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised 
financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and 
comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such e lection to opt out is irrevocable. We have 
elected not to opt out of such extended transition period which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has differ,ent 
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application dates for public or private companies, we, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the 
time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of our financial statements with another public 
company which is not an emerging growth company or is an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended 
transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accountant standards used. 

Additionally, we are a "smaller reporting company" as defined in Item I O(t)(l) of Regulation S-K. Smaller reporting companies may 
take advantage of certain reduced disclosure obligations, including, among other things, providing only two years of audited financial 
statements. We are required to reflect a determination that we are no longer a smaller reporting company in our quarterly report on 
Form I 0-Q for the first fiscal quarter of the next fiscal year after the fiscal year in which (i) the market value of our common stock 
held by non-affiliates is greater than or equal to $250 million as of the end of that fiscal year·s second fiscal quarter, and (ii) if our 
annual revenues are not greater than or equal to $100 million during the last completed fiscal year, the market value of our common 
stock held by non-affiliates is $700 million or more as of the end of that fiscal year's second fiscal quarter. To the extent we take 
advantage of such reduced disclosure obligations, it may also make comparison of our fmancial statements with other public 
companies difficult or impossible. 

Reports published by analysts, including projections in those reports that differ from our actual results, could adversely affect the 
price and trading volume of our Class A common stock. 

Securities research analysts may establish and publish their own periodic projections for us. Those projections may vary widely and 
may not accurately predict the results we actually achieve. Our share price may decline if our actual results do not match the 
projections of these securities research analysts. Snmilarly, if one or more of the analysts who write reports on us downgrades our 
stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price could decline. In addition, securities research 
analysts may compare us to companies that are not appropriately comparable, which could lead to lower than expected valuations. If 
one or more analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, our share price or trading volume could decline. 

Our business and operations coulll be negatively affectell if we become subject to any securities litigation or stockhoMer activism, 
which could cause us to incur significant expense, hinder execution of our business and growth strategy and impact our stock 
price. 

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company's securities, securities class action litigation has often been 
brought against that company. Stockholder activism, which could take many fom1s or arise in a variety of situations, has been 
increasing recently. Volatility in the stock price of our Class A common stock or other reasons may in the future cause us to become 
the target of securities litigation or shareholder activism. Securities litigation and shareholder activism, including potential proxy 
contests, could result in substantial costs and divert management's and the board of directors ' attention and resources from our 
business. Additionally, such securities litigation and shareholder activism could give rise to perceived uncertainties as to our future, 
adversely affect our relationships with service providers and make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel. Also, we 
may be required to incur significant legal fees and other expenses related to any securities litigation and activist shareholder matters. 
Further, our stock price could be subject to significant fluctuation or otherwise be adversely affected by the events, risks and 
uncertainties of any securities litigation and shareholder activism. 

The grant of registration rights pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the PIPE Subscription Agreements am/ the Letter 
Agreement, and the future exercise of such rights, may atlversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock. 

At the Closing, we, HC Sponsor ILC (the "Sponsor"), certain affiliates of the Sponsor and certain stockholders ofLegacy Hyperfine 
and Liminal entered into the Reg£stration Rights Agreement, pursuant to which, among other things, the parties to the Registration 
Rights Agreement were granted certain registration rights (including demand and piggy-back rights, subject to cooperation and cut­
back provisions) with respect to tJ1eir respective shares of our common stock, in each case, on the terms and subject to the conditions 
therein. In particular, the Registration Rights Agreement requires that we use our co111111ercially reasonable efforts to file a registration 
statement under the Securities Act to permit the public resale of all registrable securities as permitted by Rule 415 of the Securities Act 
and to cause such registration statement to be declared effective. Further, pursuant to the Subscription Agreements entered into in 
connection with the Business Combination and the Letter Agreement entered into in connection with the Business Combination, we 
agreed (i) to file a registration statement with the SEC for the resale of the registrable securities under such agreements and to use 
commercially reasonable efforts to cause such registration statement to be declared effective and (ii) to maintain the effectiveness of 
such registration statement until the earlier of (a) five years from the date of effectiveness of the initial registration statement, (b) the 
date on which investors under the subscription agreements cease to hold the securities covered thereby, and (c) the date all of the 
securities covered thereby can be sold publicly without restriction or limitation under Rule 144 under the Securities Act. 

The registration statement relating to all of the registration rights set forth above was initially filed on January 24, 2022 and declared 
effective by the SEC on February l , 2022. The post-effective amendment to the registration statement filed on January 24, 2023 was 
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declared effective by the SEC on January 30, 2023. The registration and availability of such a significant number of securities for 
trading in the public market may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Class A common stock. 

The obligations associatetl with being a public company involve significant expenses and r.equire significant resources ami 
management attention, which may divert from our business operations. 

As a public company, we are subj ect to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Exchange 
Act requires the filing of annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to a public company' s business and fmancial condition. 
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that a public company establish and maintain effective internal control over 
financial reporting. As a result, we are incurring, and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. Our 
management team and many of our other employees will need to devote substantial time to compliance and may not effectively or 
efficiently manage our transition as a public company. 

We do not intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future. 

We currently intend to retaiJ1 our future earnings, if any, to finance the further development and expansion of our business and do not 
intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future detennination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of oUir board 
of directors and will depend on our fmancial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, and future agreements and 
fmancing instmments, business prospects and such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant. 

Item lB. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

None. 

Item l C. CYBERSECURJTY 

Our current digital age has seen a remarkable growth in infonnation technologies that allows for greater connectivity capabilities and 
faster sharing of data and infonnation than ever before. These rapid advances in technology have been of great benefit to organizations 
like our own, which seek to deliver cutting-edge and life-enhancing solutions for our customers. In our pursuit of these objectives, we 
acknowledge and take seriously our responsibility to maintain the highest level of confidentiality, integrity, and availability of data 
belonging to our customers, prospects, external partners, and internal workforce members, and to protect our critical infonnation 
technology systems and infrastructure against current and ever evolving cybersecurity threats and attacks. 

It is our organization's aim to comply with all cybersecurity and data privacy laws and regulations in applicable jurisdictions. 
Additionally, we are committed to meeting national and international standards and best practices for our industry for effective 
cybersecurity risk management of the organization' s confidential information and critical IT infrastmcture. Our cybersecurity and data 
protection policies, standards, processes and practkes are based on recognized frameworks established by the National Institute of 
Standards and Teclmology, or "NIST", and other applicable industry standards and frameworks such as HITRUST and SOC 2. In 
general, we seek to address cybersecurity risks through a comprehensive, cross-functional approach that is focused on preserving the 
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the data that we collect and store, and information systems and technologies through 
which that data is processed, by identifying, preventing and mitigating cybersecurity threats, and effectively responding to 
cybersecurity incidents when they occur. Our organiza tion' s internal administrative, technical, and physical security measures 
(controls) are tested for compliance to these frameworks and reviewed annually. The domains and controls associated with these 
frameworks are tested and reviewed annually. Certifications of compliance, and/or Auditor' s 'Letters of Opinion' Attestation of 
Compliance from the applicable auditors are provided once the audits are completed each year. 

The status of our cybersecurity program is regularly reported to our organization's board of directors. Our board of directors is 
actively involved in oversight of our cybersecurity risk management activities, and cybersecurity represents an important element of 
our organization's overall approach to risk management in the pursuit of its business goals and objectives. 

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy; Effect of Risk 

We face risks related to cybersecurity such as unauthorized access, cybersecurity attacks and other security incidents, including as 
perpetrated by hackers and unintentional damage or dismption to hardware and software systems, loss of data, and misappropriation of 
confidential information. To ident ify and assess material risks from cybersecurity threats, we maintain a comprehensive cybersecurity 
program to ensure our data and information systems are effectively secured and prepared for information security risks by internal and 
external threat actors. Our program involves regular monitormg of our internal IT assets, data inventories, and potential security 
exploits and/or threats to those assets ' confidentiality, integrity, and availability. We employ a range of technical security tools and 
extemal security services, including regular network and endpoint monitoring, compliance audits, vulnerability assessments, 
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penetration testing, threat modeling and tabletop exercises to inform our risk posture, remediation plans and cybersecurity 
investments. 

We consider risks from cybersecurity threats alongside other company risks as part of our overall risk assessment process. As 
discussed in more detail under "Cybersecuriry Govemance; Management" below, our board of directors and our audit committ,ee 
provide oversight of our cybersecurity risk management and strategy processes, which are led by our Chief Compliance Officer, Chief 
Administrative Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Security Officer, Data Protection Officer, Senior Director of Cybersecurity and IT, 
and Governance Risk and Compliance Manager. 

We also identify our cybersecurity threat risks by comparing our processes to standards established by HITRUST and SOC2 
frameworks and any findings resulting from penetration testing and threat modeling conducted by tJ1ird party service providers. To 
provide for tJ1e confidentiality, integrity, and availability of critical data and information systems, maintain regulatory compliance, 
manage our material risks from cybersecurity threats, and protect against and respond to cybersecurity incidents, we undertake the 
following intemal security measures: 

• maintain a cybersecurity program through formally-defined documented policies, standards, processes, and procedures to 
ensure internal security measures are implemented to protect against cybersecurity threats, to assess emerging cybersecurity 
and data privacy laws, and to implement changes to our processes that are designed to comply with laws applicable to our 
organization; 

• implement policies and procedures to identity organizational assets, data and critical IT systems, assess (and periodically re­
assess) those assets, data, and systems for cybersecurity risks, and to develop management plans for identifying and 
remediating identified risks; 

• through our policies, practices and contracts (as applicable), require employees, as well as third parties that provide services 
on our behalf, to handle confidential data and systems in a legally compliant and acceptable manner; 

• employ tedmical security tools that are designed to protect our critical data and information systems from cybersecUJity 
threats, including network firewalls and access controls, vulnerability scanners, intrusion preventiol!l and detection systems, 
anti-malware/endpoint protection systems, and identity and access management systems which are evaluated for 
effectiveness and improved through vulnerability assessments and cybersecurity threat intelligence; 

• provide quarterly, mandatory training for our employees regarding cybersecurity threats to equip them with effective tools 
to address cybersecurity threats, and to communicate our evolving infonnation security policies, standards, processes and 
practices; 

• implement administrati ve processes and procedures to define acceptable security parameters and baselines of IT assets and 
information systems, and utilize access controls to prevent unauthorized alterations to system parameters and to maintain 
oversight over configuration changes and modifications to those systems; 

• conduct third party security reviews of critical and high-risk third-party suppliers and vendors; 

• conduct quarterly phishing email simulations for all employees with access to our email systems to enhance awareness and 
responsiveness to possible threats; 

• conduct cybersecurity management and incident training for employees involved in our systems and processes that handle 
sensitive data; 

• run annual tabletop exercises to simulate a response to a cybersecurity incident and use the fmdings to improve our 
processes and technologies; 

• implement a formal Incident Response P lan, based upon NIST, HIITRUST, and SOC2 frallleworks, to help us identify, 
protect, detect, respond and recover when there is an actual or potential cybersecurity incident, which Incident Response 
Plan includes processes to triage, assess severity for, escalate, contain, investigate and remediate dle incident, as well as to 
comply with potentially applicable legal obligations and mitigate damage to our business and reputation; and 

• carry information security risk insurance to insure against potential losses arising from a cybersecmity incident. 
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As part of the above processes, we regularly engage with consultants, auditors and other third parties, including annually having a 
third-party independent Risk Assessor review our cybersecurity program to help identify areas for continued focus, improvement, and 
compliance. 

Our processes also address cybersecurity threat risks associated with our use of third-party service providers, including our suppliers, 
manufacturers and other third parties who have access to patient and employee data or our IT systems. In addition, cybersecurity 
considerations affect the selection and oversight of our third-party service providers. We perform diligence on third parties that have 
access to our systems, data or facilities that house such systems or data, and we continually monitor cybersecurity threat risks 
identified through such diligence. Additionally, we generally require those third parties that could introduce si.gnificant cybersecurity 
risk to us to agree by contract to manage their cybersecurity risks in specified ways, and to agree to be subject to cybersecurity audits, 
which we conduct as appropriate. 

We describe whether and how risks from identified cybersecurity threats have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect us, including our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition, under the beading under Risk Factors titled 
"Security breaches, loss of data and other disruptions could compromise sensitive information related to our business or prevent us 
from accessing critical information and expose us to liability, which could adversely affect our business and our reputation" , which 
disclosures are incorporated by reference herein. 

In the last three fiscal years, we have not experienced any material cybersecurity incidents and any expenses we have incurred from 
cybersecurity incidents were immaterial. This includes penalties and settlements, of which there were none. As needed, we will 
contract a professional cybersecurity investigation firm to conduct a full forensic analysis of any suspected material incident. To date, 
we have concluded that there has not been any evidence of material concern involving malware, persistence mechanisms or other 
compromised exchange of on-premises accounts within the Company's environment. 

Cybersecurity Governance; Management 

Cybersecurity is an important part of our risk management processes and an area of focus for our board of directors and management. 
In general, our board of directors oversees risk management activities designed and implemented by our management, and considers 
specific risks, including, for example, risks associated with our strategic plan, business operations, and capital structure. Our board of 
directors executes its oversight responsibility for risk management both directly and through delegating overs£ght of certain of these 
risks to its committees, and our board of directors has authorized our audit committee to oversee risks from cybersecurity threats. 

At least quarterly, our audit committee receives an update from management of our cybersecurity threat risk management and strategy 
processes covering topics such as data security posture, results from third-party assessments, progress towards pre-detennined risk­
mitigation-related goals, our incident response plan, and material cybersecurity tlrreat risks or incidents and developments, as well as 
the steps management has taken to respond to such risks. Our audit committee generally receives materials that include a cybersecurity 
scorecard and other materials discussing current and emerging material cybersecurity threat risks, and describing our ability to 
mitigate those risks, as well as recent developments, evolving standards, technological developments and information security 
considerations arising with respect to our peers and third parties, and discusses such matters with our Chief Compliance Officer, Chief 
Administrative Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Security Officer, Data Protection Officer, Senior Director of Cybersecurity and IT, 
and Governance Risk and Compliance Manager. Such individuals have collectively over 50 years of prior work experience in various 
roles involving managing information security, developing cybersecurity strategy, and implementing effective information and 
cybersecurity programs. Our audit committee is also designated to receive prompt and timely information regarding any material 
cybersecurity incident that meets reporting thresholds, as well as ongoing updates regarding any such incident until it has been 
addressed. 

Members of our audit committee are also encouraged to regularly engage in conversations with management on cybersecurity-related 
news events and discuss any updates to our cybersecurity risk management and strategy programs. Material cybersecurity threat risks 
are also considered during separate board meeting discussions of important matters like enterprise risk management, operational 
budgeting, business continuity planning, mergers and acquisitions, brand management, and other relevanl matters. 
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Item 2. PROPERTIES 

We currently maintain our principal executive offices and a warehouse at 351 New Whitfield Street, Guilford, Connecticut 06437. We 
also occupy office space in Palo Alto, California. We lease office space under operating leases. We consider our current office space 
adequate for our current operations. 

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. 

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Market Information 

Our Class A common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol "HYPR" . 

Stockholders 

As of March 3, 2025, we had 62,776,930 outstanding shares of Class A common stock held by approximately 98 holders of record, 
15,055,288 outstanding shares of Class B common stock held by approximately six holders of record, and no outstanding shares of 
preferred stock. 

Unregistered Sales of Securities 

Not applicable. 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

Not applicable. 

Item 6. [RESERVED) 

Not applicable. 
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS OF HYPERFINE 

The following discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations Hyperfine, Inc. and its subsidiaries (for 
purposes of this $(:<;:lion, collectively referred as the "Company", "we," "us" and "our") should be read together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 3/, 2024 and 2023, together with the related notes thereto, 
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 1 0-K. This discussion contains for>vard-looking statements and involves numerous 
risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, those described under I he heading "Risk Factors. "Actual results may differ 
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. 

Overview 

We are an innovative health technology business with a mission to revolutionize patient care globally through accessible, affordable, 
clinically relevant artificial intelligence ("Al'')-powered portable ultra-low-field ("ULF") magnetic resonance ("MR") brain imaging. 
Our Swoop® Portable MR Imaging® System ("Swoop® system") produces high-quality images at a lower magnetic field strength 
than conventional magnetic resonance imaging ("MRI") scanners. Our Swoop® system is designed to transfonn brain MR for the 
patient, the clinician and the provider, enabling a highly differentiated experience for patients, timely imaging for clinicians, and 
favorable economics for hospital administrators. The Swoop® system is a portable, ULF MRl device for producing images that 
display the intemal structures of the head where full diagnostic examination is not clinically practical. When interpreted by a trained 
physician, these linages provide ii1formation that can be useful in determining a diagnosis. Healthcare professionals can use the 
Swoop® system to make effective clinical diagnoses and decisions in various care settings where conventional MRl devices are 
inaccessible or when they are not readily available. The easy-to-use interface and portable design of our Swoop® system make it 
easily and readily accessible anywhere in a hospital, clinic, or patient care site and it does not require any special facilities 
accommodations nor specialized personnel to operate safely. ULF MR does not expose patients to harmful ionizing radiation and 
compares favorably in this regard to X-ray computed tomography ("CT'') or positron emission tomography ("PET"). 

The demand for MR imaging has been increasing due to the aging population and the rising prevalence of nemological, 
neurodegenerative, and cardiovascular conditions, recent approval of new Alzheimer's medications, as well as the trends towards 
decentralized healthcare in mature, as well as low- and middle-income countries. Healthcare professionals and insurers recognize 
imaging as an effective, non-invasive diagnostic tool for evaluation and ongoing monitoring. The Swoop® system is the next 
generation brain imaging device designed to increase access to MRl in a cost-effective manner. We believe our market opportunity is 
significant across the multiple sites of care where the Swoop® system brings clinical and economic value. We estimate in the United 
States alone that our total addressable market for Swoop® system device placements is more than $16 billion. 

Despite their advantages, many healthcare institutions worldwide lack the facilities, specialized operators, andl capital necessary to 
acquire, maintain, and staff expensive conventional MRl devices. The Swoop® system is the· first FDA-cleared, portable, VLF, MR 
brain imaging system and is capable of providing imaging at multiple sites of care, such as mtensive care units, clinics, emergency 
departments or physicians' offices, and can inform the timely detection, diagnosis, monitoring, and treatment of acute and chronic 
conditions inside and outside the hospital. We designed the Swoop® system to address the limitations of conventional imaging 
technologies and make brain MR in1aging accessible nearly anytime and anywhere across professional healthcare settings. We believe 
the adoption of the Swoop® system by healthcare professionals has clinical and economic benefits throughout healthcare communities 
in both high and low resource settii1gs. 

The Swoop® system is AI-powered and integrates deep leaming, a form of AI in the reconstruction pipeline ofT! , T2, diffusion­
weighted Imagii1g ("DWI"), and fluid-attenuated inversion recovery ("FLAIR") sequences. The integration of deep learning does not 
require any additional steps from the user. As a result, deep learning can enhance the image quality and, consequently, the diagnostic 
value of images generated at ULF. The algorithms are designed to improve ULF image quality, while reducing the impact of scan 
artifacts. The images created with these algorithms were validated by expert radiologists. The Swoop® system is used clinically every 
day as the frrst mover in the field of AI-powered portable MRl, and the install base continues to expand. The learnings from this 
market experience have served to improve our software, AI, and denoisii1g algorithms resulting in tl1e image quality and perfonnance 
improvements of our product over the nine generations of software since our initial clearance. As we move forward, we are 
continuously investing ii1 improving our AI-powered image quality and leveraging each imaging-focused software release to further 
improve the Swoop® system perfonnance. Furthem1ore, as of February 15, 2025, we possess a portfolio of 185 issued patents 
worldwide and 150 patents pending. 

Our Swoop® system received iilitial510(k) clearance for brain imaging from FDA in 2020. In Febmary and October 2023, we 
received 51 O(k) clearances from the FDA for our Swoop® system AI-powered software. The combination of these two software 
updates incorporated deep-Jeanting based denoising in the post-processing of images for crisper images, and improved image quality 
for all Swoop® system sequences. In July 2024, we received 51 O(k) clearance from the FDA of the ninth-generation AI-powered 
Swoop® system software. This latest software update released to date significantly reduces scan times across multiple MR sequences 
without sacrificing image quality. Outside of the United States, the Swoop® system has received marketing authorization for brain 
imaging in several countries, including the European Union (CE Mark), the United Kingdom (UK Confonnity Assessment ("UKCA 
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Mark")), Canada, Australia and New Zealand. In October 2024 and Febmary 2025, we received CE Mark and UKCA Mark approval 
for the latest generation of software. 

Recent Developments 

On January 28, 2025, we implemented an organizational restructuring designed to decrease our costs and create a more streamlined 
organization to support our business priorities. As a result, we have terminated approximately 14% of our global workforce. The 
restructuring affects employees predominantly in technical positions. In connection with the restructuring, we estimated that we will 
incur up to $0.4 million of costs, consisting primarily of cash severance costs, other severance benefits and other related restmcturing 
costs. We expect to substantially complete the restmcturing in the first quarter of2025. 

On February 11, 2025, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with the Investors, pursuant to which we agreed to issue and 
sell, in the Offering: (i) 4,5 11,278 shares of our Class A common stock and (ii) warrants to purchase up to 4,511,278 shares of our 
Class A common stock. Each share and accompanying warrant were sold together at a combined offering price of $1.33. The 
aggregate gross proceeds to us from the Offering were $6.0 million before deducting the placement agent's fees and offering 
expenses. 

Key Performance Metrics 

Management reviews and analyzes several key performance measures including Total revenues, and Total Swoop® system units sold. 
These measures are reviewed and analyzed to evaluate our business performance, identify trends affecting our business, a llocate 
capital, and make strategic decisions. 

Total revenues were $12.9 million for the year ended December 31 , 2024, an increase of $1.9 million, or 17%, from the year ended 
December 31 , 2023, primarily driven by increases in Swoop® system units sold and service revenues. See "Results of Operations -
Sales" below for further information. Total Swoop® system units sold were 48 units for the year ended December 31 , 2024, an 
increase of 11 units, or 30%, from the year ended December 31 , 2023. 

Factors Affecting Results of OJ>erations 

The following factors have been iimportant to our business and we expect them to impact our results of operations and financial 
condition in fhture periods: 

Technical innovation 

We have developed our Swoop® system through extensive research and development activities. Moreover, our team is dedicated to 
clinical support programs designed to integrate the Swoop® system into an array of diverse blealthcare environments, workflow, and 
applications. We believe that, from our commercial and clinical experience, we are gaining invaluable insights into the Swoop® 
system' s clinical utility. We believe these learnings will enable us to further improve our product and develop new services and tools 
in the future. We are continuously improving our image quality and imaging capabilities. Building upon this foundation and our 
expertise in ULF brain imaging, we plan to develop new imaging applications, broadening the range of clinical uses for our 
proprietary teclmology. Additionally, we are leveraging our strengths in AI and cloud technology to explore the Swoop® system's 
role as a brain imaging clinical decision support platform. While these teclmical innovations may increase our research and 
development expenses, we expect them to have a positive impact on our results of operations and profitability in the future. 

Commercialization eff orts of the Swoop® system 

Our results have included revenue from the United States and outside the United States. Our Swoop® system received initial 51 O(k) 
clearance from the FDA in 2020. Initially, we have been focused on executiug contracts with U.S. hospitals and hospital systems. We 
have built a direct sales and field support organization in the United States who are working in strong collaboration to increase 
adoption, support successful implementations and support routine use at expanded customer sites. In 2025, we plan to expand our 
commercial focus beyond our initial call point of critical care in the hospital into hospital emergency departments, hospital-based 
neurology clinics and outside the hospital in neurology offices. 

Exptmd sales in international markets 
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The countries in which we have begm1 conm1ercializing our Swoop® system include Canada, certain European markets, Australia, 
and New Zealand. We obtained a Medical Device License issued by Health Canada, UKCA Mark certification in the United 
Kingdom, CE Mark in the EU, and regulatory authorization in Australia and New Zealand. The Swoop® system CE mark and UKCA 
mark approval of the latest AI-powered Swoop® system software in October 2024 and February 2025, enables a broader European 
commercial expansion of the Swoop® system, bringing cutting-edge brain imaging technology to new global markets. Further we are 
executing on a global expansion strategy, broadening access to MR brain imaging in regions with large populations, low penetration 
ofMR.l, and significant unmet healthcare needs. 

Our commitment to the vision of providing affordable and accessible imaging that enables ea.rlier detection and timely management of 
health conditions worldwide is furthermore advanced by grant funding [Tom the BMGF. Through our engagement with the BMGF, we 
have deployed the Swoop® system in low-middle income settings without readily-accessible MRl technology. During 2020 and 2021 , 
we were awarded multiple grants totaling $4.9 million from the BMGF for the provision and equipping of sites with our portable MR 
brain imaging system to enable the performance of a multi-site study focused on optimizing diagnostic image quality. These grants 
were designed to provide data to validate the use of the Swoop® system in measuring the impact of maternal anemia, malnutrition, 
infection and birth related injury. These grants were designed to support the deployment of a total of25 Swoop® system devices and 
other services to investigators, which conunenced in the spring of2021 and was completed by February 2024. In May 2023, we were 
awarded an additional $3.4 million grant from the BMGF to continue to develop a scalable approach to measuring neurodevelopment 
via low-field MRI in neonates, infants, and yotmg children in low-to-middle income countries through February 2026. During the year 
ended December 31, 2024, we completed and fulfilled grant deliverables and milestones amounting to $1.7 million and we received 
cash grant funding of $1.1 million. 

Description of Certain Components of Financial Data 

Sales 

We derive our sales from the following sources: device sales and service sales, as described in more detail below. Our revenue 
recognition policies are discussed] in more detail m1der "Summmy of Significant Accounting Policies" in Note 2 to our consolidated 
financial statements and notes thereto for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 included elsewhere in this AJmual Report on 
Form 10-K. 

Device: Device sales primarily consist of sales of our MRI devices. 

Service: Service sales primarily consist of sales service and support including annual maintenance and cloud hosting. 

Cost of sales 

Cost of sales consists of product and service costs including personnel cost and benefits including stock-based compensation, product 
costs, production setup expenses, depreciation and amortization expenses, inventory excess and obsolescence expenses. 

Research and development 

Research and development costs consist of production costs for prototype, test and pre-production units, lab supplies, clinical study 
cost, consulting and personnel costs, including salaries, stock-based compensation, bonuses and benefit costs. Most of our research 
and development expenses are related to developing new products and services as well as to enhancing our current product and 
software capabilities. Consulting expenses are related to research and development activities as well as clinical and regulatory 
activities. Fabrication services include certain third-party engineering costs. Research and development expenses are expensed as 
incurred. We expect to continue to make substantial investments in research and development. 

General and administrative 

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel costs and benefits, including stock-based compensation, patent and 
filing fees, office expenses, technology expenses and outside services. Outside services consist of professional services, legal and 
other professional fees. Other related costs include additional facilities expenses and general corporate overhead to support the 
employee base. 
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Sales and marketing 

Sales and marketing costs primarily consist of personnel costs and benefits including stock-based compensation, advertising and 
promotional costs, as well as costs for conferences, meetings, and other events. We will seek to control sales and marketing expenses 
while continuing to promote our brand through marketing and advertising irnitiatives and expand our market presence and awareness. 

Interest income 

Interest income primarily consists of interest earned on our cash equivalents invested in money market securities. 

Other expense, net 

Other expense, net primarily relates to foreign exchange gain or loss. 

Provision for income taxes 

We utilize the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, as set forth in Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 
740, Income Taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using the enacted statutory tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A 
valuation allowance is established against net deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than­
not that some or all of the net deferred tax assets will not be realized. We recorded a full valuation allowance as of December 31, 2024 
and 2023. Based! on available evidence, we believe that it is more-likely-than-not that we will be unable to utilize all of our deferred 
tax assets in the future. 

Results of Operations 

The following is a discussion of our results of operations for the periods shown below, and our accounting poliicies are described under 
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" in Note 2 in our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023 included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 1 0-K. 

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31,2024 and 2023 ($Amounts in thousands) 

Year Ended December 3lz Change 
{$ Amounts in thousands} 2024 2023 o/o 

Sales 
Device $ 10,450 $ 8,746 19.5% 
Service 2,440 2,286 6.7% 
Total sales $ 12,890 $ 11 ,032 16.8% 

Cost of Sales 
Device $ 5,387 $ 4,463 20.7% 
Service 1,612 1,812 (ll.O)% 
Total cost of sales $ 6,999 $ 6,275 11.5% 

Gross margin 5,891 4,757 23.8% 
Operating expenses: 

Research and development $ 22,499 $ 22,493 0.0% 
General and administrative 17,494 20,276 (13.7)% 
Sales and marketing 9,122 10,103 (9.7)% 

Total operating expenses 49,115 52,872 (7.1)% 
Loss from operations $ {43,224) $ (48,11~ (10.2)% 

Interest income $ 2,492 $ 3,842 (35.1)% 
Other expense, net 12 35 (65.7)% 

Loss before provision for income taxes $ (40,720) $ (44,238) (8.0)% 
Provision for income taxes 
Net loss and comprehensive loss $ {40,720) $ (44,238) (8.0)% 
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Sales 

Year Ended December 31, Change 
2024 2023 Amount "/o 

Device $ 10,450 $ 8,746 $ 1,704 19.5% 
Service 2,440 2,286 154 6.7% 
Total sales $ 12,890 $ 11 ,032 $ 1,858 16.8% 

Device sales increased by $ 1.7 million, or 19 .5%, for the year ended December 31 , 2024 compared to the year ended December 31 , 
2023. The increase in device revenue is mainly due an increase in units sold. 

Service sales increased by $0.2 million, or 6.7%, for the year ended December 3 1, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31 , 
2023. The increase is mainly due to the increased l!lnit install-base. 

Cost of sales 

Yen Ended December 312 Change 
2024 2023 Amount 

Device $ 5,387 $ 4,463 $ 924 
Service 1,612 1,812 {200) 
Total cost of sales $ 6,999 $ 6,275 $ 724 
Percentage of revenue 54.3% 56.9% 

Cost of device sales increased by $0.9 million, or 20.7%, for the year ended December 31 , 2024 compared to the year ended 
December 31 , 2023. This increase was driven primarily by increased units sold. 

0/o 

20.7% 
(11.0)% 
11.5% 

Cost of service sales decreased by $0.2 million, or 11 .0%, for the year ended December 11, 2024 compared to the year ended 
December 31 , 2023. This decrease is due to a decrease in personnel-related costs driven by lower headcount and increased efficiency. 

Research and development 

2024 2023 Amount % 
Research and development $ 22,499 $ 22,493 $ 6 NM 

Research and development expenses in dollars remained flat for the year ended December 3 1, 2024 compared to the year ended 
December 31 , 2023. 

Genera l and administrative 

Year Ended December 31, Change 
2024 2023 Amount 0/o 

General and administrative $ 17,494 $ 20,276 $ (2,782) (13.7)% 

General and administrative expenses decreased by $2.8 million, or 13. 7%, for the year ended December 31 , 2024 compared to the year 
ended December 31 , 2023. This decrease was driven primarily by a decrease in personnel-related costs and stock-based compensation 
expenses of$1.5 million, a decrease in legal and patent expenses of$0.6 million, a decrease in insurance expenses of$0.4 million, a 
decrease in accounting, auditing and SEC expenses of $0.4 million, and a decrease in subscriptions of $0.2 mi Ilion, partially offset by 
an increase in allowance for credi.t losses of $0.5 million. 

Sales and marketing 

Yea1· Ended December 31, Change 
2024 2023 Amount % 

Sales and marketing $ 9,122 $ 10,103 $ (981) (9.7)% 

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by $ 1.0 million, or 9.7%, for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended 
December 31 , 2023. This decrease was driven primarily by a decrease in marketing research and advertising of $0.6 million, and a 
decrease in sales and marketing infrastructure of $0.4 million, while we continue to focus on sales and sales support activities. 

Interest income 
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Yearr E nded December 31, Change 
2024 2023 Amount % 

Interes t income $ 2,492 $ 3,842 $ (1 ,350) (35.1)% 

Interest income decreased by $1.4 million, or 35.1% for the year ended December 31 , 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2023. The decrease was driven primarily by a lower interest rates and lower cash balances in money market funds and demand deposit 
accounts. 

Other income (expense), net 

Yearr Ended December 31, Change 
2024 2023 Amount 

Other income (expense), net $ 12 $ 35 $ (23) (65.7)% 

Other income (expense), net had a decrease in other income of $23 thousand, or 65.7%, for the year ended December 31 , 2024 
compared to the year ended December 31 , 2023. This decrease in other income was driven primarily by a decrease in net realized gain 
on foreign currencies of approximately $67 thousand partially offset by an increase in interest income from customer financing and 
other of approximately $44 thousand. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

We have funded our operations pr imarily with proceeds from the issuance of common and preferred stock. We have incurred cash 
bum and recurring net losses, which includes a net loss of$40.7 million for the year ended December 31 , 2024, and an accumulated 
deficit of$294.4 million as of December 31 , 2024. As of December 31 , 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of$37.6 million. As 
we continue to invest in research and development of our products and sales and marketing, we expect to continue to incur cash bum 
and recurring net losses for the foreseeable future until such time that our product and services sales generate enough gross profit to 
cover our operating expenses. However, we can provide no assurance that our product and service sales will generate a net profi t in 
the future or that our cash resources will be sufficient to continue our commercialization and development activities. 

In November 2023, we filed the Shelf Registration Statement with the SEC pursuant to which we registered for sale up to $150 
million of any combination of our Class A common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants, rights and/or units from time to 
time and at prices and on terms that we may detennine. Our shelf registration statement on Fonn S-3 also included a prospectus 
covering up to an aggregate of$50.0 million in shares of Class A common stock that we may issue and sell from time to time, ll.hrougb 
B. Riley acting as our sales agent, pursuant to the Sales Agreement, for our " at-the-market" equity program (" A TM"). We are not 
obligated to make any sales of Class A common stock under the Sales Agreement. As of December 31, 2024, a total of 771 ,721 shares 
of our Class A common stock, for total gross proceeds of $881 thousand and net proceeds of $828 thousand, a fter deducting 
commissions and other offering expenses related to the A TM, have been issued and sold under the Sales Agreement. 

On February II , 2025, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with the Investors, pursuant to which we agreed to issue and 
sell, in a registered direct offering by us directly to the Investors the Shares and the Warrants. Each Share and accompanying Warrant 
were sold together at a combined offering price of $1.33. The aggregate gross proceeds to from the Offering were $6.0 million before 
deducting the placement agent's fees and estimated offering expenses. 

Our ability to access capital when needed is not assured and, if capital is not available when, and in the amounts needed, we could be 
required to delay, scale back or abandon some or all of our development programs, commercialization of our products, and other 
operations which could materially harm our operations, fmancial condition and operating results. We expect tlhat our existing cash and 
cash equivalents, together with proceeds from the sales of our products and services, will enable us to conduct our planned operations 
for at least the next 12 months. Factors that could accelerate cash needs incl11.1de: (i) delays in achieving scient£fic and technical 
milestones; (ii) unforeseen capital expenditures and fabrication costs related to manufacturing; (iii) changes we may make in our 
business or commercialization and hiring strategy; (iv) costs of running a public company; (v) higher inflation and increases in 
product transportation and labor costs; and (vi) other items affecting our forecasted level of expenditures and use of cash resources 
including potential acquisitions. 

We expect to use our funds to further invest in the development of our products and services, commercial expansion, and for working 
capital and general corporate purposes. 

Our future cash requirements will depend on many factors, including market adoption of our products; the cost and timing of 
establishing additional sales, marketing and distribution capabilities; the cost of our research and development activities; our ability to 
enter into and maintain collaborations; the cost and timing of potential future regulatory clearances or approvals for our products; and 
the effect of competing technological and market developments. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain additional funds 
on acceptable terms, or at all. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or equity-linked securities, our stockholders may 
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experience dilution. Future debt fmancing, if available, may involve covenants restricting our operations or our ability to incur 
additional debt. Any debt or equity financing that we raise may contain tenus that are not favorable to us or our stockholders. If we 
raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties, it may be necessary to relinquish some 
rights to our technologies or our products, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If we do not have or are not able to 
obtain sufficient funds, we may have to delay development or commercialization of our products. We also may have to reduce 
marketing, customer support or other resources devoted to our products and services or cease operations. 

Cash 

As of December 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $37.6 million. Our future capital requirements may vary from t110se 
currently planned and will depend on various factors including further development costs, commercialization strategy, regulatory 
developments, supply constraints, manufacturing costs and international expansion. If we need additional funds and are unable to 
obtain fi.mding on a timely basis, we may need to curtail significantly our product development and commercialization efforts to 
provide sufficient funds to continue our operations, which could adversely affect our business prospects. 

Cash flows 

The following table swnmarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated: 

Year Ended December 31, 
(In thousands) 
Net cash used in operating activities 
Net cash used in investing activities 
Net cash provided by financing activities 
Net decrease in casb and casb equivalents and restricted cash 

Net cash used in operating activities 

2024 
$ 

$ 

2023 
(38,767) $ (41,809) 

(383) (804) 
1,019 174 

{38,131) $ {42,439) 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash used in operating activities of $38.8 million was due primarily to a net loss of $40.7 
million, non-cash items of$5.6 million and changes in operating assets and liabilities of$3.6 million. Non-cash items were primarily 
stock based compensation expense of $4.4 million, depreciation expense of $1 .0 million, and loss on disposal of property and 
equipment of$0.2 million. Changes in operating assets and liabilities were driven primarily by an increase in accounts receivable and 
unbilled receivables of$4.2 million, a decrease in accrued expense and other current liabilities of$0.6 million, and a decrease in 
deferred grant funding of $0.6 mi Ilion, partially offset by a decrease in inventory and prepaid inventory of $1.3 million, an increase in 
accounts payable of $0.4 million, and a decrease in other long tenn assets of $0.3 million. 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in operating activities of$41.8 million was due primarily to a net loss of $44.2 
million, non-cash items of$6.0 million and changes in operating assets and liabilities of$3.6 million. Non-cash items were primarily 
stock based compensation expense of$4.7 million and depreciation expense of$ 1.1 million. Changes in operating assets and liabilities 
were driven primarily by an increase in inventory of$2.2 million due to increased inventory units-on-hand, an increase in accounts 
receivable of $ 1.1 million due to increased revenue, a decrease in accrued expenses and other liabilities of $0.7 million, an increase in 
unbilled receivables of$0.5 million, an increase in prepaid inventory of$0.4 million and an increase ofotl1er long tenn assets of$0.2 
million, partially offset by a decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $1.5 million mainly due to tl1e timing of directors 
and officers liability insurance prepayment. 

Net cash used for investing activities 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash used in investing activities of$0.4 million was from fixed assets purchased. 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in investing activities of $0.8 million was from fixed assets purchased. 

Net cash provided by financing activities 

For tl1e year ended December 31, 2024, net cash provided by financing activities of $ 1.0 million consisting primarily of proceeds from 
issuance of Class A common stock under the Sales Agreement of $0.8 million and proceeds from stock options exercises of $0.2 
million. 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by financing activities of $0.2 mill ion was proceeds from option exercises. 
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Contractual obligations 

We sponsor a 40l(k) deflned contribution plan covering all eligible U.S. employees. Contributions to the 40l(k) plan are 
discretionary. We did not make any matching contributions to the 401(k) plan for the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023. 

Through our engagement with the BMGF, we have deployed and continue to deploy the Swoop® system in low-middle income 
settings without readily-accessible MRI teclmology. The multiple grants provided by our research partnership with the BMGF, which 
commenced fimding in the spring of 2020, support the deployment of 25 Swoop® system and accessories to investigators. The 
ongoing investigation is designed to provide data to validate the potential use of the Swoop® system in measuring the impact of 
maternal anemia., malnutrition, infection, and birth-related injury. In May 2023, we were awarded an additional three-year grant from 
the BMGF to continue to develop a scalable approach to measuring neurodevelopment via ULF brain imaging in neonates, infants, 
and yotmg children in low-to-middle income countries. 

Any grant fimds, plus any income, that have not been used for, or committed to, the project must be returned promptly to the BMGF 
upon expiration of or termination of the agreement. Refer to Note 13 in the notes to our consolidated financial statements for the years 
ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K for a further discussion of the BMGF 
grants. 

Our purchase commitments and obligations include all open purchase orders and contractual obligations in the ordinary course of 
business, including commitments with contract manufacturers and suppliers, for which we have not received the goods or services. A 
majority of these purchase obligations are due within a year. Although open purchase orders are considered enforceable and legally 
binding, the terms generally allow us the option to cancel, reschedule, and adjust our requirements based on our business needs prior 
to the delivery of goods or performance of services. 

Our ability to access capital when needed is not assured and, if capital is not available when, and in the amounts needed, we could be 
required to delay, scale back or abandon some or all of our development programs, commercialization of our products, and other 
operations which could materially harm our operations, fmancial condition and operating results. We expect tlhat our existing cash and 
cash equivalents, together with proceeds from the sales of our products and services, will enable us to conduct our plan11ed operations 
for at least the next 12 months. Factors that could accelerate cash needs include: (i) delays in achieving scientiiftc and technical 
milestones; (ii) tmforeseen capital expenditures and fabrication costs related to manufacturing; (iii) changes we may make in our 
business or conm1ercialization and hiring strategy; (iv) costs of running a public company; (v) higher inflatio111 and increases in 
product transportation and labor costs; and (vi) other items affecting our forecasted level of e·xpenditures and use of cash resources 
including potential acquisitions. 

We had no other significant contractual obligations as of December 31 , 2024. 

For information on contingencies, refer to Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the years ended 
December 31 , 2024 and 2023 included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
("U.S. GAAP"). The preparation of our flnancial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported ammmts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amotmts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. While our significant 
accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 in our consolidated fmancial statements for the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023 included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K, we believe that the following accounting policies are those 
most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements. 

Revenue recognition 

We make judgments including detennination of the timing and pattern of sa tis faction of perfonnance obligations and determination of 
the standalone selling price ("SSP") of performance obligations. We offer alternative payment structures and "as-a-service" offerings 
that are assessed to detennine whether an embedded lease arrangement exists. Revenue from Device-as-a-Service ("DaaS") contracts 
are within the scope of ASC 842 and ASC 606. Upon adoption of ASC 842, for contracts in which we act as a. lessor and in which the 
lease component is an operating lease, we apply the practical expedient in ASC 842 to combine the lease component (the device itself 
in DaaS contracts) and non-lease (maintenance and SaaS) components, and to account for the combined components as a single lease 
component. Accordingly, we account for the monthly payments as lease revenue. For contracts in which the lease component is a 
sales-type lease, we derecognize the asset (the MRI device) and recognize a lease receivable in an amount that represents the present 
value of the lease payments. The bargain purchase option of the device at the end of the lease term is immaterial. 
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Inventories 

Inventories primarily consist of finished goods which are produced by our third-party contract manufacturer and raw materials ordered 
in advance by the third-party contract manufacturer due to long delivery-lead time and were billed to the Company. Inventories are 
stated at the lower of actual cost; determined using the average cost method. or net realizable value ("NRY"). We routinely evaluate 
quantities and value of our inventories in light of current market conditions and market trends and record a write-down against the cost 
of inventories for NRV below cost. NRV is based upon an estimated average selling price reduced by the estimated costs of disposal 
and transportation. The determination of NR V involves numerous judgments including estimating selling prices, existing customer 
orders, and estimated costs of disposal and transportation. If actual market conditions differ from our estimates, future results of 
operations could! be materially affected. 

The valuation of inventory also requires us to estimate excess and obsolete inventory. We periodically review the age, condition and 
turnover of our inventory to determine whether any inventory has become obsolete or has declined in value and incur a charge to 
operations for known and anticipated inventory obsolescence. We also consider how quickly customers will transition from older 
products to newer products, including whether older products can be re-manufactured into new products. The evaluation takes into 
consideration the effect that new products might have on the sale of existing products, product obsolescence, product merchantability 
and other factors. Market conditions are subject to change and if actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by 
management, additional inventory write-downs may be required, which would have a negative impact on gross margin. 

Stock-basetl compensation 

Our stock-based compensation program includes restricted stock unit and stock option grants to our employees, directors and 
consultants. Stock options are granted at exercise prices not less than the estimated fair market value of our common stock at the dates 
of grant. For purposes of restricted stock unit grants, the grant date fair value is calculated as the fair market value of the stock on the 
date of grant. 

The fair values of stock option grants are estimated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model Key inputs and assumptions include 
the expected tenn of the option, stock price volatility, risk free interest rate, dividend yield, stock price and exercise price. Many of the 
assumptions require significant judgment and changes in assumptions could have a significant impact in the determination of stock­
based compensation expense. 

Key assumptions include: 

• Risk free interest rate: The risk free interest rate for the expected term of the awards is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve 
in effect at the time of the grant. 

• Expected dividend yield: We have never declared or paid any cash dividends and do not expect to pay any cash dividends in 
the forese.eable future. 

• Expected term: We calculate expected term using the "simplified" method, which is the simple average of the vesting period 
and the contractual term. The simplified method is applied as we do not have sufficient historical data to provide a reasonable 
basis for an estimate of the expected term. We calculate the expected term for employee and non-employee directors awards 
that take into account the effects of expected employee or non-employee director exercise and post-vesting employment 
tennination behavior. 

• Expected volatility: We determined expected annual volatility based on the historica l stock volatility of a group of similar 
companies that are publicly traded over a period equivalent to the expected term of the stock-based awards, as we do not have 
sufficient historical data to provide a reasonable basis for an estimate of the expected volatility. 

Generally, stock options granted to employees fully vest four years from the grant date and have a contractual term of 10 years and 
stock options granted to non-employees fully vest one year from the grant date or upon performance of a service and have a 
contractual tem1 of I 0 years. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

A description of recently issued accounting pronouncements that may potentially impact our financial position and results of 
operations is disclosed in Note 2 to our consolidated fmancial statements and notes thereto for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 
2023 included elsewhere in this Alllual Report on Form I 0-K. 
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our results of 
operations or financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a 
result of fluctuations in interest rates, inflation risk; and foreign exchange risk. We do not hold, issue or enter into any financial 
instruments for speculative or trading purposes. We do not have significant exposure to foreign currencies. 

Interest rate risk 

Our cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash as of December 31 , 2024 consisted of $37.7 million in money market funds, demand 
deposit and savings accounts. Such interest-earning instmments carry a degree of interest rate risk. The goals of our investment policy 
are liquidity and capital preservation. We believe that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of these assets 
as a result of changes in interest rates due to the short-term nature of our cash equivalents. Based on our balance sheet position at 
December 31 , 2024, the annualized effect of a 0.5 percentage point decrease in interest rates would be to decrease earnings before 
income taxes by $0.2 million. 

Inflation Risk 

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations, other than its 
impact on the general economy. Nonetheless, if our costs were to become subject to inflationary pressures, we might not be able to 
fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial condition, 
and results of operations. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

We operate our business primarily within the United States. With respect to our sales outside the United States, the majority of our 
transactions are executed in U.S. dollars and, to a lesser extent, in foreign currency. We have not utilized hedging strategies wid1 
respect to such foreign exchange exposure. This limited foreign currency translation risk is not expected to have a material impact on 
our consolidated] financial statements. 

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

See financial statements included in ltem 15 "Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

Not applicable. 

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Our principal executive officer and principal financial officer evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a -15( e) and 15d-15( e)) as of December 3 n, 2024. Based upon that evaluation, our principal 
executive officer and principal financial officer concluded tllat, as of December 31 , 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were 
effective at the reasonable assurance level to ensure that infonnation required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit 
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within tlle time periods specified in the SEC's mles and 
fonns, and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, or 
persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
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Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal conttol over financial reporting. Internal control 
over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(t) and 15d-15(t) under the Exchange Act, as a process designed by, or under the 
supervision o( our principal executive and principal financial ofll.cers and eftected by our board of directors, management and other 
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fmancial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over fmancial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that: 

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly retlect the transactions and dispositions 
of our assets; 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and 

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection oftmauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with ilie policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over fmancial reporting as of December 31 , 2024 and, in making 
this assessment, used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 framework). 

Based on our assessment, our management believes that, as of December 31, 2024, our internal control over flinancial reporting is 
effective based on those criteria. 

Changes in Internal Controls 

There were no changes in our internal control over fmancial reporting, identified in connection with the evaluation of such internal 
control that occurred during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2024, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect, our internal conlrol over financial reporting. 

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 

Not applicable. 

Item 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS 

Not applicable. 
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PART ill 

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the ctiscussion responsive thereto under the headings "Management and 
Corporate Governance," and "Code of Conduct and Ethics" in our proxy statement for the 2025 annual meeting of stockholders (the 
"2025 Proxy Statement"). 

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the ctiscussion responsive thereto under the heading "Executive Officer 
and Director Compensation" in our 2025 Proxy Statement. 

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the ctiscussion responsive thereto tmder the headings "Security Ownership 
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and "Equity Compensation Plan Information" in our 2025 Proxy Statement. 

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTilONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the ctiscussion responsive thereto under the headings "Certain 
Relationships and Related Person Transactions" and "Management and Corporate Governance" in our 2025 Proxy Statement. 

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto tmder the heading "Ratification of 
Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accotmting Firm" in our 2025 Proxy Statement. 
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PART IV 

Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

Item lS(a)(l) Index to Audited Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for the years 
ended December 31,2024 and 2023 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (GRANT THORNTON LLP, PCAOB ID 248) 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 3 1, 2024 and 2023 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 

Page Number 

F-1 
F-2 
F-3 
F-4 
F-5 
F-6 

Item 15(a)(2) Financial statement schedules have not been included because they are not applicable or the infonnation is 
included in the financial statements or notes thereto. 

Item 15(a)(3) Exhibits 

The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

IncoqJOratcd by 
Refet·ence Herein 

Exhibit Filed fl·om I'orm o1· SEC File/ 
Numbet· Exhibit DesCJ"iption Hct·cwith Schedule Filing Date Reg. Numbet· 

2.l t Business Combination Agr eement, dated as of July 7, 2021 , Fonn 8-K 7/8/2021 001 -39949 
by and among Hyperfme, Inc. (formerly HealthCor Catalio (Exhibit 2.1) 
Acquisition Corp.), Optimus Merger Sub I, Inc., Optimus 
Merger Sub 0, Inc., Hyperfine Operations, Inc. (fonnerly 
Hyperftne, Inc.) and Liminal Sciences, Inc. 

3.1 Certificate oflncorporation ofHyperfine, Inc., as amended Form 10-Q 8/9/2024 001 -39949 
(Exhibit 3.1) 

3.2 Bylaws of Hyperfrne, !Inc. Form 8-K 6/12/2023 001-39949 
(Exhibit 3.1) 

4.1 Specimen Class A Common Stock Certificate Fonn S-4/A 9/29/2021 333-259148 
(Exhibit 4.2) 

4.2 Description of Securities X 

4.3 Fom1 ofWarrant Form 8-K 2/ll/2025 001-39949 
(Exhibit 4.1) 

10.1 Form of PIPE Investor Subscription Agreement for Form 8-K 7/8/2021 001-39949 
institutional investors, dated as of July 7, 2021 , by and (Exhibit 10.1) 
between Hyperfme, Inc. (formerly HealthCor Catalio 
Acquisition Corp.) and the subscriber parties thereto 

10.2 Form of PIPE Investor Subscription Agreement for Form 8-K 7/8/2021 001 -39949 
individual investors, dated as ofJuly 7, 2021 , by and (ExJ1ibit 1 0.2) 
between Hyperfme, Inc. (formerly HealthCor Catalio 
Acquisition Corp.) and the subscriber parties thereto 

10.3+ O ffer Letter, dated as of October 4, 2022, by and between Fonn 8-K 10/6/2022 001 -39949 
Hyperftne, Inc. and Maria Sainz (Exhibit I 0. 1) 

10.4+ Offer Letter, dated as of February 2, 2023, by and between Form 8-K 2/8/2023 001-39949 
Hyperfine, Inc. and Brett Hale (Exhibit I 0.1) 
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10.5+ Letter Agreement, dated as of July 17, 2023, by and Form 8-K (Exhibit 7/18/2023 001-39949 
between Hyperfme, Inc. and Thomas Teisseyre, Ph.D. 10.1) 

10.6+ Consulting Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2023, by Form 8-K 10/3/2023 001-39949 
and between Hyperfine, Inc. and Khan Siddiqui, M.D. (Exhibit 1 0.2) 

10.7+ Executive Severance Plan, as amended Form 8-K 7/ 18/2023 001-39949 
(Exhibit 1 0.3) 

10.8 Teclmology and Services Exchange Agreement, dated as of Fom1 S-4 8/30/2021 333-259148 
November 19,2020, by and among Butterfly Network, (ExJubit 10.17) 
Inc., Hyperfme Operations, Inc. (formerly Hyperfme, Inc.), 
Liminal Sciences, Inc. and the other participants nan1ed 
therein 

10.9 Teclmology and Services Exchange Agreement, dated as of Form S-4 8/30/2021 333-259148 
February 17, 2021 , by and among Quantum-Si (ExJubit 10.18) 
Incorporated, Hyperfine Operations, Inc. (formerly 
Hyperfine, Inc.), Liminal Sciences, Inc. and the other 
participants named therein 

10.10 Technology and Services Exchange Agreement, dated as of Fonn 8-K 12/28/2021 001 -39949 
July 7, 2021, by and among Hyperfme Operations, Inc. (Exhibit 10.16) 
(formerly Hyperfine, Inc.), Liminal Sciences, Inc. and the 
participants named therein 

10. 11@ Manufacture and Supply Agreement, dated as of October Form S-4 8/30/2021 333-259148 
15, 2018, by and between Hyperfine, Inc. and Benchmark (Exhibit I 0.1 0) 
Electronics, Inc. 

10.12 Master Services Agreement, by and between Hyperfme Form 10-Q 5/ 14/2024 001 -39949 
Operations, Inc. (fonnerly Hyperfine, Inc.) and 4Catalyzer (Exhibit l0.2) 
Corporation, dated July 7, 2021. 

10.13.1+ Hyperfine, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan Form 8-K 12/28/2021 001-39949 
(Exhibit 10.20.1) 

10.13.2+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2021 Equity Fonn 8-K 12/28/2021 001-39949 
Incentive Plan (Exhibit 1 0.20.2) 

I 0.13.3+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2021 X 
Equity Incentive Plan 

I 0.14.1+ Hypcrftne Operations, Inc. (formerly Hyperfinc, Inc.) 2014 Fonn 8-K 12/28/2021 001 -39949 
Employee, Director and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan, (Exhibit I 0.21.1) 
as amended 

I 0.14.2+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under Hyper fine Form 8-K 12/28/2021 001-39949 
Operations, Inc. (fonnerly Hyperfine, Inc.) 2014 Employee, (Exhibit 1 0.21.2) 
Director and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 

10.15+ Nonemployee Director Compensation Policy Form 10-Q 5/14/2024 001-39949 
{Exhibit I 0.1) 

10.16+ Form oflndemJufication Agreement Form 8-K 12/28/2021 001-39949 
(Exhibit 10.24) 

10.17 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, Form 10-Q 8/ 1112022 001-39949 
dated as of December 22, 2021 , by and among Hyperfine, (Exhibit I 0.1) 
Inc. (formerly HealthCor Catalio Acqunsition Corp.), HC 
Sponsor LLC and certain other security holders 

89 



10.18+ Inducement Non-Qual i tied Stock Option Agreement, dated Form 10-K 3/22/2023 001-39949 
as of February 13, 2023, by and between the Registrant and (Exhibit I 0.25) 
Brett Hale. 

10.19 Sales Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2023, by and Form S-3 1119/2023 333-275449 
between Hyperfme, Inc. and B. Riley Securities, Inc. (Exhibit 1.2) 

10.20 Fom1 of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Form 8-K 211 112025 001 -39949 
February II , 2025, by and among Hyperfine, Inc. and the (Exhibit I 0.1) 
purchasers party thereto. 

19 Hyperfine, Inc. Insider Trading Policy. X 

21.1 List of Subsidiaries Form 10-K 3/25/2022 001-39949 
(Exhibit 21.1) 

23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP X 

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer X 

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer X 

32* Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley X 
Act of2002 

97 Hyperftne, Inc. Clawback Policy Form 10-K 3/22/2024 001-39949 
(Exhibit 97) 

10 1.INS In line XBRL Instance Document X 

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X 

104 Cover Page Interactive Date File (formatted as Jnline X 
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) 

t Certain ofthe exhibits and schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The 
Registrant agrees to furnish a copy of aU omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request. 

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 

@ Certain confidential portions of this Exhibit were omitted by means of marking such portions with brackets("[***]") because the 
identified confidential portions (i) are not material and (ii) is the type of infonnation that the Company treats as private or confidential. 

* The certification attached as Exhibit 32 that accompanies this Annual Report on Form I 0-K is not deemed filed with the SEC and is 
not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Fonn I 0-K, irrespective of any general incorporation 
language contained in such filing. 

Item 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY 

Not applicable. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15( ell) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report 
to be signed on its behalf by the w1dersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

Date: March 17, 2025 
HYPERFJNE, INC. 
By: /sf Maria Sainz 

Maria Sainz 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of 
Maria Sainz and Brett Hale Ius or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution, for him or her and in 
his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and aU amendments to tlus Annual Report on Form 1 0-K, and to 
file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, 
granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent, full power and authority to do and perfonn each and every act and thing requisite and 
necessary to be done in connection tl1erewitl1, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby 
ratifying and confirnting all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his or her substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be 
done by virtue hereof. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of tile undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney as ofilie date indicated opposite his or her 
name. 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on 
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signatures 

By: Is/ Maria Sainz 

Maria Sainz 

By: Is/ Brett Hale 

Brett Hale 

By: Is/ R. Scott Huennekens 

R. Scott Huetmekens 

By: Is/ Jonat11an M. Rothberg, Ph.D. 

Jonathan M. Rothberg, Ph.D. 

By: Is! John Dab.ldorf 

John Dah.ldorf 

By: Is/ Ruth Fattori 

Rutl1 Fattori 

By: Is/ Daniel J . Wolterman 

Daniel J. Woltennan 

Title 

President, Chief Executive Officer and 
Director 

(principal executive officer) 

Chief Administrative Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer, Treasurer and 

Corporate Secretary (principal financial 
officer and principal accounting officer) 

Chairperson of the Board 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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March 17, 2025 

March 17, 2025 

March 17, 2025 

March 17, 2025 

March 17, 2025 

March 17, 2025 

March 17, 2025 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Hyperfine, Inc. 

Opinion on the fmancial statements 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets ofHyperftne, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in 
stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes 
(collectively referred to as the "consolidated fmancial statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in tlb.e United States of America. 

Basis for opinion 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to tlhe 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securi ties and Exclhange 
Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. 
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part 
of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company' s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence 
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fmancial statements. We believe 
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Is/ GRANT THORNTON LLP 

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2023. 

San Jose, California 
March 17, 2025 
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HYPERFINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 

ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 
Restricted cash 
Accounts receivable, less allowance of$651 and $321 in 2024 and 2023, respectively 
Unbilled receivables 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 

Total current assets $ 
Property and equipment, net 
OU1er long term assets 

Total assets $ 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
CURRENT LJABlLITIES: 

Accounts payable $ 
Deferred grant funding 
Deferred revenue 
Due to related parties 
Accmed expenses and other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities $ 
Long term deferred revenue 
Other noncurrent liabilities 

Total liabilities $ 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 13) 
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY: 

Class A Common stock, $.0001 par value; 600,000,000 shares aufuorized; 58,076,261 and 
56,840,949 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively 
Class B Common stock, $.0001 par value; 27,000,000 shares aufuorized; 15,055,288 shares 
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023 
Additional paid-in capital 
Accumulated deficit 

Total stockholders' equity $ 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 

December 31, 
2024 

37,645 $ 
28 

5,956 
2,349 
5,832 
1,900 

53,710 $ 
3,122 
2,069 

58,901 $ 

1,607 $ 
28 

1,460 
61 

5 573 
8,729 $ 
1,054 

78 
9,861 $ 

5 

2 
343,475 

{294,442) 
49 040 $ 
581901 $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral pa~t of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2023 

75,183 
621 

3,189 
942 

6,582 
2,391 

88,908 
2,999 
2,292 

94,199 

1,214 
621 

1,453 
61 

5 419 
8,768 

96& 
64 

9,800 

5 

2 
338,114 

{253,722) 
842 99 
94199 



HYPERFINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 

Sales 
Device 
Service 

Total sales 
Cost of sales 

Device 
Service 

Total cost of sales 
Gross margin 
Operating Expenses: 

Research and development 
General and administrative 
Sales and marketing 

Total operating expenses 
Loss from operations 

Interest income 
Other income (expense), net 

Loss before provision for income taxes 
Provision for income taxes 
Net loss and comprehensive loss 

Net loss per common share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted 
Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share attributable to common 
stockholders, basic and diluted 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Year ended December 31, 
2024 2023 

10,450 $ 
2,440 

12,890 $ 

8,746 
2,286 

11 ,032 

5,387 $ 4,463 
1,612 1,812 
6,999 ..:..$ _____ 6:..!:,2::..:.7..:..5 
5,891 4,757 

22,499 $ 22,493 
17,494 20,276 
9,122 10,103 

49,115 52,872 
( 43,224) .;:,.$ ___ __,(.._;_48=,1=1~5) 

2,492 $ 3,842 
12 35 

(40,720) $ (44,238) 

( 40, 720) ~$===~(:,;,44~,2;;3~8) 
(0.56) $ (0.62) 

72,413,541 71 ,316,424 

1l1e accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Balance, December 31,2022 
Net loss 
Issuance of restricted stock 
Exercise of stock options 
Stock-based compensation expense 

Balance, Decembe r 31, 2023 
Nc1loss 
Shares issued under "at-the-market'' (A TM) Sales Agreement, net 
Issuance of restricted stock 
Exercise o f stock options 
Stock-based compensation expense 

Balance, Decembe r 31, 2024 

HYPERFINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANCES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEM BER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(in thousands, except share amounts) 
C lass B Common 

Class A Common Stock Stock Add ;r;nmll 
Shares 

55,622,488 

1,008,267 
210,234 

56,840,989 

771 ,721 
180,728 
282,823 

58,076.261 

A nwunt 
$ 5 

s 5 

s 5 = 

Shares 
15,055,288 

15,055,288 

15,055.288 

Amount 
s 2 

s 

s 2 

Paicl-in C:apital 

$ 333,199 

$ 

s 

174 
4,741 

338,114 

828 
(I) 

171 
4.363 

343,475 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Tol•ll 
Accumulated Shareholders' 

Deficit EguiiY 
s (209,484) s 123,722 

(44,238) (44,238) 
-

174 
4,741 

s (253,722) s 84,399 
(40,720) (40,720) 

828 
( I) 

17 1 
4,363 

s (294,442) s. 49,040 



HYPERFINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(in thousands) 

Year ended December 31, 
2024 2023 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net loss $ (40,720) $ 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: 

Depreciation 1,009 
Stock-based compensation expense 4,362 
Write-off of equipment 215 
Other (ll) 
Changes in assets and liabilities 

Accounts receivable (2,767) 
Unbilled receivables (1 ,407) 
Inventory 562 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (222) 
Due from related parties 
Prepaid inventory 693 
Other long tenn assets 325 
Accounts payable 382 
Deferred grant funding (593) 
Deferred revenue 93 
Due to related parties 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (683) 
Operating lease liabilities, net 5 

Net cash qsed in operating activities $ {38,767) $ 
Cash flows from investing activit ies: 

Purchases of property and equipment {383) 
Net cash used in investing activities $ {383) $ 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 171 
Proceeds from shares issued under A TM Sales Agreement, net of selling costs 848 

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 1,019 $ 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents and resn·icted cash (38, 13 1) 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 75,804 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year $ 37,673 $ 

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash repor ted in the balance 
sheets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 37,645 $ 
Restricted cash 28 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 37,673 $ 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 
Cash received from exchange of research and development tax credits $ $ 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash infonnation: 
Noncash acquisition of fixed assets $ 765 $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral pmt of these consolidated financial statements. 
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(44,238) 

1,054 
4,741 

224 
25 

(1 ,086) 
(488) 

(2,209) 
1,496 

48 
(412) 
(220) 
533 

(123) 
(483) 

6 1 
(742) 

10 
~41,809) 

(804) 
{804) 

174 

174 
(42,439) 
118,243 
75,804 

75,183 
621 

75,804 

519 
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HYPERFINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARJES 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF AND FOR T HE YEARS END ED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(all amounts are in thousands, except share and per share data) 

1. ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

Hyperfine, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, as applicable, "Hyperfine" or the "Company"), formerly known as HealthCor 
Catalio Acquisition Corp. ("HealthCor"), was incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company on November 18, 2020. The 
Company' s legal name became Hyperfine, Inc. in connection with the closing (the "Closing") of the business combination with 
HealthCor (the "Business Combination") on December 22, 2021 (the "Closing Date"). In connection with the Closing, Hyperfine, 
Inc., a Delaware corporation ('Legacy Hyperfine"), and Liminal Sciences, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Liminal"), merged with 
and into separate wholly owned subsidiaries of HealthCor and became wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company (the 
"Mergers"), and changed their names to Hyper:fine Operations, Inc. and L iminal Operations, Inc., respectively. Liminal 
subsequently changed its name to Liminal Sciences, Inc. 

The Company is an innovative health technology business with a mission to revolutionize patient care globally through accessible, 
affordable, clinically relevant artificial intelligence ("AI")-powered portable ultra-low-field ("ULF") magnetic resonance ("MR") 
brain imaging. The Swoop® Portable MR Imaging® System ("Swoop® system") produces high-quality images at a lower 
magnetic field strength than conventional magnetic resonance imaging CMRI") scanners. The Swoop® system is designed to 
transform brain MR for the patient, the clinician and the provider, enabling a highly differentiated experience for patients, timely 
imaging for clinicians, and favorable economics for hospital administrators. The Swoop® system is a portable, ULF MR1 d·evice 
for producing images that display the internal structures of the head where full diagnostic examination is not clinically practical. 
When interpreted by a trained physician, these images provide information that can be useful in determining a diagnosis. 
Healthcare professionals can use the Swoop® system to make effective clinical diagnoses and decisions in various care settings 
where conventional MRI devices are inaccessible or when they are not readily available. The easy-to-use interface and portable 
design of the Company's Swoop® system make it easily and readily accessible anywhere in a hospital. clinic, or patient care site 
and it does not require any special facilities accommodations nor specialized personnel to operate safely. ULF MR does not expose 
patients to harmful ionizing radiation and compares favorably in this regard to X-ray computed tomography ("CT") or positron 
emission tomography ("PET"). 

The Company's Swoop® system received initial 51 O(k) clearance for brain imaging from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration 
(the "FDA") in 2020. In February and October 2023, the Company received 51 O(k) clearances from the FDA for our Swoop® 
system AI-powered software. The combination of these two software updates, incorporated deep-learning based denoising in the 
post-processing of images for crisper images, and improved image quality for all Swoop® system sequences. In July 2024, the 
Company received 51 O(k) clearance from the FDA of the ninth-generationAl-powered Swoop® system software. This latest 
software update released to date significantly reduces scan times across multiple MR sequences without sacrificing image quality. 
Outside of the United States, the Swoop® system has received marketing authorization for brain imaging in several COWl tries, 
including the· European Union (CE Mark), the United Kingdom (UK Conformity Assessment (''UKCA Mark")), Canada, Australia 
and New Zealand. In October and 2024 and February 2025, the Company received CE Mark and UKCA Mark approval for the 
latest generation of software. All of the Company's revenue to date has been generated from sales of the Swoop® system and 
related services. The Company has an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary in the United Kingdom that did not have any significant 
operations during 2024 nor 2023. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation 

The accompanying consolidated fmancial statements include the accounts of the Company and have been prepared in 
accordance with accmmting pr inciples generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") and pursuant to the 
accounting disclosure rules and regulations ofthe Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). All intercompany 
transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

Risks and Uncertainties 

The Company is subject to risks and uncertainties caused by events with significant geopolitical and macroeconomic impacts, 
including, but not limited to, the conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East, inflation and actions taken to collllter such impacts. 
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HYPERFINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARJES 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS END ED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(all amounts are in thousands, except share and per share data) 

The Company relies on single source manufacturers and suppliers for the supply of its products. Disruption from these 
manufacturers or suppliers has and would have a negative impact on the Company's business, financial position and results of 
operations in its consolidated financial statements. The Company continues to critically review its liquidity and anticipated 
capital requirements in light of the significant uncertainty created by geopolitical and macroeconomic conditions. Based on the 
Company's cash and cash equivalents balance, current business plan and revenue prospects, the Company believes that it will 
have sufficient cash resources and anticipated cash flows to fund its operations for at least the next 12 months. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash 
equivalents. At December 31 , 2024 and 2023, substantially all the Company's cash and cash equivalents were invested in three 
financial institutions, respectively. The Company also maintains balances in various operating accmmts above federally insured 
limits. The Company has not experienced any Eosses on such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any significant credit 
risk on cash and cash equivalents. 

For the year ended December 31 , 2024, there was one customer that represented I 0% or more of total net revenue and contributed 
$ 1,547 of revenue. For the year ended December 31 , 2023, there were two customers that each represented 10% or more of total 
net revenue of which one customer contributed $3,429 of revenue and the other customer contributed $1,729 of revenue. 

As of December 31 , 2024, there were three customers that each accounted for more than [ 0% of the Company's total accounts 
receivable in the amount of$1,439, $815, and $720, respectively. As of December 31 , 2023, there were four customers that each 
accounted for more than 10% of the Company's total accounts receivable in the amount of$1 ,281, $421 , $356, and $406, 
respectively. 

The Company utilizes a single exclusive manufacturer for its Swoop® system. Additionally, the Company purchases raw 
materials from this manufacturer. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in confonnity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company to make 
estimates and assumptions about future events t hat affect the amounts reported in its consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Future events and their effects cannot be determined with certainty. On an ongoing basis, management 
evaluates these estimates and assumptions. Significant estimates and assumptions included: 

• Revenue recognition, including determination of the timing and pattem of satisfaction of performance obligations, 
determination of the standalone selling price ("SSP") of performance obligations; 

• Allowance for doubtful accounts; 

• Net realizable value (the selling price as well as estimated costs of disposal and transportation) of inventory, and 
demand and future use of inventory; 

• Valuation allowances with respect to deferred tax assets; and 

• Asswnptions underlying the fair value used in calculation oftbe stock-based compensation expense. 

The Company bases these estimates 011 historical and anticipated results and trends a11d on various other assun1pti0lis that the 
Company believes are reasonable tmder the circumstances, including assumptions as to future events. Changes in estimates are 
recorded in the period in which they become known. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and any such differeTIIces 
may be material to the Company's consolidated financia l statements. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

All highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of three months or less are cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2024 
and 2023, cash and cash equivalents consist priincipally of cash, money market funds, and! demand deposits. The Company 
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HYPERFINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARJES 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS END ED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(all amounts are in thousands, except share and per share data) 

funded its operations primarily with proceeds from the issuance of comn1on stock. The Company incurred cash burn and 
recurring net losses, which includes a net loss of $40,720 for the year ended December 31, 2024, and an accumulated deficit of 
$294,442 as of December 31, 2024. As of December 31 , 2024, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $37,645. 

Restricted Cash 

Restricted cash balance represents funds received as part of grant funding and restricted in use to the purpose of the funding. 
For details, see the Note 2. Summa~y of Significant Accounting Policies - Grant Funding and Note 13. Commitments and 
Contingencies. 

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable are stated as the amount the Company expects to collect. The Company maintains an allowance for credit 
losses for estimated losses based upon the expected collectability of all accounts receivable. As of December 31 , 2024 and 
2023, the allowance for credit losses was $651 and $321, respectively. 

Inventories 

Inventories primarily consist of finished goods which are produced by the Company's third-party contract manufacturer as well 
as raw materials ordered in advance by the third-party contract manufacturer due to long delivery-lead time and which were 
billed to the Company. Inventories are stated at the lower of actual cost, detennined using the average cost method, or net 
realizable value. Cost includes an allocation of wages, taxes and benefits for employees involved in warehousing, logistics 
coordination, material sourcing, and production planning activities. Net realizable value is based upon an estimated average 
selling price reduced by the estimated costs of disposal and transportation. 

The valuation of inventory also requires the Company to estimate excess and obsolete inventory. The Company considers sales 
forecasts and historical experience to identify excess, close out, or slow-moving items as well as new product development 
schedules, product obsolescence and product merchantability, including whether older products can be remanufactured into 
new products, among other factors. The Company reduces the value of inventory for estimated obsolescence or lack of 
marketability by the difference between the cost of the affected inventory and the net realizable value. 

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets include amounts paid in advance for operating expenses as well as monies to be 
received from the State of Connecticut for research and development tax credits. These research and development tax credits 
are exchanged for a cash refimd and are typicaEiy collected within one year from the date the tax return is filed with the state. 
The credits are recognized as an offset to research and development expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss in the annual period in which the corresponding expenses were incurred. 

Property and Equipment, Net 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation expense is computed 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. MRl devices purchased from a third-party 
manufacturer that were intended for use as research tmits, for customer demonstration purposes to support sales efforts and 
training and as leased units are classified as Property and Equipment. 
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HYPERFINE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARJES 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF AND FOR T HE YEARS END ED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(all amounts are in thousands, except share and per share data) 

Useful lives of property and e{]uipment are as follows (in years): 

Propertv and equipment 
Laboratory equipment 
Research devices 
Sales and marketing devices 
Computer equipment 
Tooling 
Trade show assets 
Leased devices 
Other 

Estimated useful life 
5 
5 
5 
5 
3 
3 
5 

3-7 

Other property and equipment include fumiture and fixtures, software, vehicles, and machinery and equipment. 

Expenditures for major renewals and improvements are capitalized. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as 
incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost of these assets and related accumulated depreciation is 
eliminated from the balance sheet, and any resulting gains or losses are included in the consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive loss in the period of disposal. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment at least annually or whenever events or changes in business 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable using pretax undiscounted cash 
flows. If the recorded value of the asset is less than the undiscountcd cash flow, the asset is written down to its estimated fair 
value. There was no impainnent recorded for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

Right-of-use ("ROU") Assets and Leases Liabilities 

On January 1, 2022, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 842, Leases, whereby leases are 
classified as either operating leases or finance Leases. 

At the inception of a contract the Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. The Company's assessment is 
based on: ( 1) whether the contract involves the use of a distinct identified asset, (2) whether the Company obtains the right to 
substantially all the economic benefit from the use of the asset throughout the period, and (3) whether the Company has the 
right to direct the use of the asset. The commencement date of the contract is the date the lessor makes the tmderlying asset 
available for use by the lessee. 

Right-of-use ("ROU") assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset during the lease tem1 and lease liabilities 
represent obligations to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the 
commencement date based on the net present value of fixed lease payments over the lease term. ROU assets also include any 
initial direct costs and advance lease payments made and exclude lease incentives. Lease liabilities also include terminal 
purchase options when deemed reasonably certain to exercise. The Company's lease tenn includes options to extend when it is 
reasonably certain that it will exercise that option. The Company has elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities 
for short-term leases that have a term of 12 months or less; the Company recognizes lease expense for these leases on a 
straight-Line basis over the lease term. 

As most of the Company's operating leases do not have an implicit rate that can be readily detennined, the Company uses its 
secured incremental borrowing rate for the same term as the underlying lease based on information available at lease 
commencement. For finance leases, the Company uses the rate implicit in the lease. 

Capitalized Software Development Costs 

For the costs incurred in developing the firmware embedded in the hardware devices that the Company sells and leases to its 
customers, the Company applies the principles ofFASB Accounting Strundards Codification ("ASC") 985-20, Accounting for 
the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed ("ASC 985-20"). ASC 985-20 requires that 
software development costs incurred in conjunction with product development be charged to research and development 
expense until technological feasibility is established. Thereafter, until the product is released for sale, software development 
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costs must be capitalized and reported at the lower of unamortized cost or net realizable value of the related product. The 
Company has adopted the "tested working model" approach to establishing technological feasibility for its software products. 
Under this approach, the Company does not consider a product in development to have passed the technological feasibility 
milestone until the Company bas completed a model of the product that contains essentially all the functionality and features of 
the final product and has tested the model to ensure that it works as expected. The Company's hardware device, with the 
embedded firmware, was released for sale during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2020, when the Company 
had completed all of the research and development activity to establish the technological feasibility of the product. As of 
December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the Company had not incurred significant costs between the establislunent of technological 
feasibility and the release of a product for sale; thus, the Company had expensed all software development costs as incurred. 

For software developed or acquired for internal use, including software used in the provision of service and support to the 
Company' s customers, the Company applies the principles of ASC 350-40, Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software 
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use ("ASC 350-40"). ASC 350-40 requires that software development costs incurred 
before the preliminary project stage be expensed as incurred. The Company capitalizes development costs related to these 
software applications once the preliminary project stage is complete and it is probable that the project will be completed, and 
the software will be used to perform the function intended. Costs incurred during the preliminary project and post­
implementation stages, including training and maintenance, are expensed as incurred. Capitalized costs are amortized on a 
project-by-project basis using the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of the application, which is three years, 
beginning when the asset is substantially ready for use. As of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the Company did not have any 
amount of capitalized internal-use software development costs. 

Revenue Recognition 

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 606, "R evenue from Contracts with Customers. " 

Revenue is recognized when or as a customer obtains control of the promised goods and services. The amount of revenue 
recognized reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for these goods and services. To 
achieve titis core principle, ti1e Company applies ti1e following 5 steps: 

• Step 1: IdentifY Contracts with Customers: The Company executes signed contracts witi1 its customers for the sale of 
hardware devices and services. 

• Step 2: IdentifY Performance Obligations: The Company' s contracts with customers primarily include two performance 
obligations, namely ti1e hardware device and services, which include access to tlle Company' s hosted cloud-based software 
applications and hardware maintenance and support on an ongoing basis tllroughout ti1e service and support period. 

• Step 3: Detennine Transaction Price: The Company' s contracts with customers may include variable consideration in the 
form of discowlls and price concessions. The Company estimates variable consideration using ti1e expected value method based 
on the data available as of the end of each reporting period. 

• Step 4: Allocate Transaction Price to Performance Obligations: The Company allocates transaction price to tlle performance 
obligations in a contract witi1 a customer, based on the relative standalone selling prices oftl1e. goods and services. The 
standalone se lling prices of the hardware devices and services are detennined based on ma rket assessment of the standalone 
selling prices for which the Company sells the respective goods and services on a standalone basis, including renewals of 
services. 

• Step 5: Recognize Revenue as Pe1jormance Obligations are Satisfied: Each unit of hardware devices is a performance 
obligation satisfied at a point in time, when control of the good transfers from ti1e Company to the customer, which is typically 
upon shipment of the good to lhe customer. For sales of hardware where control of the product transfers to tl1e customer upon 
shipment, the Company has made an accounting policy election to account for shipping and handling as fulfillment activities 
rather ti1an a perfonnance obligation. The services are stand-ready obligations ti1at are satisfied over time by providing the 
customer with ongoing access to the Company' s resources tirroughout the service period. The Company uses the time elaps·ed 
(straight-line) measure of progress to recognize revenue as these performance obligations are satisfied evel!lly over the 
respective service period. 
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The Company offers alternative payment structures and "as-a-service" offerings that are assessed to detennine whether an 
embedded lease arrangement exists. The Company accounts for those contracts as a lease arrangement under ASC 842. The 
Company identifies certain Device-as-a-Service contracts to be within the scope of ASC 842 and ASC 606. For contracts that 
are in the scope of both ASC 842 and ASC 606, and in which the lease component is an operating lease, the Company applies 
the practical expedient in ASC 842 to combine the lease component (the device itself in device as a service, ("DaaS") contracts) 
and non-lease (maintenance and SaaS) components, and to account for the combined components as a single lease component. 
Accordingly, the Company accounts for the monthly payments as lease revenue. For contracts in which the lease component is 
a sales-type lease, the Company derecognizes the asset (the MRI device) and recognizes a lease receivable in an amount that 
represents the present value of the lease payments. At times, the Company may enter into arrangements with payment terms 
which exceed one year from tfue transfer of control of the product or service. In such cases, the Company assesses whether the 
arrangement contains a significant financing component. If a significant financing component exists, the transaction price is 
adjusted for the fmancing portion of the arrangement, which is recorded as interest income over the payment term using the 
effective interest method. The Company does not assess whether a significant financing component exists when, at contract 
inception, the period between the transfer of control to a customer and final payment is one year or less. The bargain purchase 
option of the device at the end of the lease tennis immaterial. 

Deferred Revenue 

Deferred revenue primarily consists of billings or payments received in advance of revenue recognition from services described 
above and is reduced as the revenue recognition criteria are met. Deferred revenue is classified as current or noncurrent based 
on expected revenue recognition timing. Specifically, deferred revenue that will be recognized as revenue within the 
succeeding 12 month period is recorded as deferred revenue as part of current liabilities and the remaining portion is recorded 
as long term deferred revenue in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. 

Warranties 

The Company offers a device warranty to customers usually for 12 months from delivery of the device as well as for devices 
obtained through a capital purchase. The Company's services include hardware maintenance and support. As noted in the 
accounting policy for revenue recognition, the Company recognizes revenue for service over time using the time elapsed 
measure of progress. The costs of hardware maintenance are recognized in costs of revenue as they are incurred. 

Research and Development 

Research and development costs consist of production costs for prototype, test and pre-production units, lab supplies, 
consulting and persmmel costs, including salaries, stock-based compensation, bonuses, benefit costs and depreciation. Certain 
research and development grant funding is recognized as a reduction to research and development costs (see Note 2. Summary 
of Significant Accounting PoUcies - Grant Funding) . The Company recognizes these costs as they are incurred. 

Grant Funding 

The Company received certain research and development ftmding through a grant issued by the Bill & Melinda Gates 
Foundation ("BMGF"). FundiJlg is recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as restricted cash upon recejpt. The funding is 
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensjve loss as a reduction to research and development 
expense in the period when milestone deliverables are fulfilled and mel. Grant funding payments received in advance of 
research and development expenses incurred are recorded as deferred grant funding as a current liability in the Company's 
consolidated balance sheets. 

Cost of Sales 

Cost of sales consists of product and service costs including personnel cost and benefits including stock-based compensation, 
product costs, production setup expenses, depreciation expenses, inventory excess and obsolescence expenses. 
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Patent costs have been charged to operations as incurred, as their realization is uncertain. These costs are imcluded in general 
and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 

General and Administrative 

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel costs and benefits including stock-based compensation, 
patent and filing fees, office expenses and outside services. Outside services consist of professional services, legal and other 
professional fees. 

Sales and Marketing 

Sales and marketing costs primarily consist of personnel costs and benefits including stock-based compensation, advertising, 
promotional, as well as conferences, meetings, and other events. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. For the years 
ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, advertising expenses were $4 70 and $762, respectively. 

Net Loss per Common Share 

Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributed to conunon stockholders by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration of potentially dilutive securities. 

Diluted net loss per common share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted 
average number of common shares plus the common equivalent shares of the period, including any dilutive effect from such 
shares. The Company' s diluted net loss per common share is the same as basic net loss per common share for all periods 
presented since the effect of potentially dilutive securities is anti-dilutive. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

The measurement of stock-based compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards, including stock options granted to 
employees, dlirectors, and consultants, is based on the estimated fair value of the awards on the date of grant. 

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense for stock option grants and incentive unit grants with only service 
conditions on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the individual grants, which is generally the vesting 
period, based on the estimated grant date fair values. Generally, stock option grants and incentive unit grants fully vest four 
years after the grant date, and stock option grants generally have a term of I 0 years. 

The Company recognizes the effect of forfeiture in compensation costs based on actual forfeitures when they occur. 

The Company's stock-based compensation program includes stock option grants to its employees, directors, and consultants. 
Stock options are granted at exercise prices not less than the estimated fair market value of the Company' s common stock at the 
date of grant. 

The fair values of stock option grants are estimated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Key inputs and assumptions 
include the expected term of the option, stock price volatility, risk free interest rate, dividend yield, stock price and exercise 
price. Many of the assumptions require significant judgment and any changes could have a material impact in the determination 
of stock-based compensation expense. 

Earn-Out Shares 

Earn-Out Shares, as defmed in Note 10. Net Loss Per Share, to which the Companies' pre-closing equity holders are entitled, 
fall within the scope of ASC 8 15, Derivatives and Hedging ("ASC 815") pursuant to which such Earn-Out Shares are equity 
classified and are to be recognized upon achievement of the market price milestone. 
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Earn-Out Shares to which certain employees are entitled to fall within the scope of ASC 718, Compensation - Stock 
Compensation ("ASC 718"), pursuant to which such Earn-Out Shares are equity classified and their grant date fair value will 
be recognized as compensation expense over the vesting period. 

As of December 22, 2024, the earn-out shares pursuant to the Business Combination agreement, Section 2.9 (the "Earn-Out 
Shares") have expired as a res11lt of the vesting conditions not being achieved. 

Commitments and Contingencies 

The Company periodically evaluates all pending or threatened contingencies and any commitments, if any. that are reasonably 
likely to have a material adverse effect on its results of operations, financial position or cash flows. The Company assesses the 
probability of an adverse outcome and determines if it is remote, reasonably possible or probable. If infonnation available prior 
to the issuance of the Company's financial statements indicates that it is probable that an asset had been impaired or a liability 
had been incurred at the date of the Company's financial statements, and the amount of the loss, or the range of probable loss 
can be reasonably estimated, then such loss is accrued and charged to operating expenses. If no accrual is made for a loss 
contingency because one or both of the conditions pursuant to the accounting guidance are not met, but the probability of an 
adverse outcome is at least reasonably possible, the Company discloses the nature of the contingency and provides an estimate 
of the possible loss or range ofloss, or states that such an estimate cannot be made. 

Research and Development Expenses and Research and Development Tax Credits 

The Company recognizes research and development tax credits as a reduction of research and developmem expense as earned. 
For State of Connecticut research and development tax credits, which are exchanged for a cash refund from the State of 
Cormecticut, such exchanged credits are recognized as earned as a reduction of research and development expense in the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 

Income Taxes 

The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, as se-t forth in ASC Topic 740, Income 
Taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using the enacted statutory tax 
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or 
settled. A valuation allowance is established against net deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is 
more likely than not that some or all of the net deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company bas recorded a fi.Jll 
valuation allowance as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. Based on the available evidence, the Company believes that it is more 
likely than not that it will be unable to util ize all of its deferred tax assets in the future. 

In accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 740, the Company accrues for the estimated amount of taxes for uncertain tax 
positions if it is more likely than not that the Company would be required to pay such additional taxes. An uncertain tax 
position will not be recognized if it has a less than 50% likelihood of being sustained. The Company's policy is to recognize 
any interest and penalties related to income taxes in income tax expense in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss. The Company's open tax years subject to examination by the relevant taxing authorities are 20 I 7 through 
2022. As ofDecernber 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had no uncertain tax positions. 

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance 

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The 
ASU requires that an entity disclose specific categories in the effective tax rate reconciliation as well as reconciling items that 
meet a quantitative threshold. Further, the ASU requires additional disclosures on income tax expense and taxes paid, net of 
refunds received, by jurisdiction. The new standard is effective for a1mual periods beginning after December 15, 2024 on a 
prospective basis with the option to apply it retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. l'he adoption of this guidance will 
result iri the Company being required to include enhanced income tax related disclosures. The Company adopted this guidance 
effective as of December 31, 2024, and the required disclosure is presented in Note 11. 
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In November 2023, the F ASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment 
Disclosures. This ASU includes amendments that expand the existing reportable segment disclosure requirements and requires 
disclosure of (i) significant expense categories and amounts by reportable segment as well as the segment's profit or loss 
measure(s) that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker (the "CODM") to allocate resources and assess 
performance; (ii) how the CODM uses each reported segment profit or loss measure to allocate resources and assess 
performance; (iii) the nature of other segment balances contributing to reported segment profit or loss that are not captured 
within segment revenues or expenses; and (iv) the title and position of the individual or name of the group or committee 
identified as the CODM. This guidance requires retrospective application to all prior periods presented in the financial 
statements and is effective for fiscal years begi1ming after December 15, 2023 and interin1 periods within fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2024. The Company adopted tilis guidance effective as ofDecember 31,2024, and the required disclosure 
is presented in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Recent Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted 

In November 2024, the F ASB issued ASU 2024-03, Disaggregation oflncome Statement Expenses, which requires the 
Company to disaggregate key expense categories such as employee compensation and depreciation within its financial 
statements. ASU 2024-03 is effective for annual periods beginning with the Company's fiscal year 2027, and interim periods 
witi1 the Company's fiscal year 2028, with early adoption pernlitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this ASU 
will have on its financial statements and related disclosures. 

3. REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Disaggregation of Revenue 

The Company disaggregates revenue from contracts with customers by product type. The Company believes that these 
categories aggregate the payor types by nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of its revenue streams. The following table 
summarizes the Company's disaggregated revenues: 

Device 
Service 
Total revenue 

Contract Bal'ances 

Pattern of 
Recognition 

Point in time $ 
Overtime 

$ 

2024 2023 
10,450 $ 8,746 
2,440 2,286 

12,890 $ 11,032 

Contract balances represent amounts presented in the consolidated balance sheets when eiti1er the Company has transferred 
goods or services to the customer, or the customer has paid consideration to the Company under ti1e contract. These contract 
balances include trade accounts receivable and deferred revenue. Deferred revenue represents consideration received from 
customers at the beginning of the service and support period for services that are transferred to the customer over the respective 
service and support period. The accounts receivable balances represent amounts billed to customers for goods and services 
where the Company has an unconditional right to payment of the amount billed. 

The following table provides Enformation about receivables and deferred revenue from contracts with customers: 

Accounts receivable 
Unbilled receivables - current 
Unbilled receivables - non-current ( I) 

Deferred revenue 
T .ong term deferred revenue 

(1) Recorded in other long term assets in the Company' s consolidated balance sheets. 

$ 
2024 

5,956 $ 
2,349 

825 
1,460 
1,054 

2023 
3,189 

942 
1,044 
1,453 

96R 

The Company recognizes a receivable when it has an unconditional right to payment, and payment tenns range from 30 days to 
less ti1an one year based on tile terms agreed upon with the respective customer. 
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Accounts Receivable, Unbilled Services, and Deferred Revenue 

Accounts receivable are recorded at net realizable value. Unbilled receivables arise when perfonnance obligations are satisfied 
for which revenue has been recognized but the customers have not been billed. Contractual provisions and payment schedules 
may or may not correspond to the timing of the performance of services under the contract. 

Deferred revenue is a contact liability that consists of customer payments received in advance of performance and billings in 
excess of revenue recognized, net of revenue recognized from the balance at the beginning of the period. 

The amount of revenue recognized during the years ended December 31. 2024 and 2023 that was included in the deferred 
revenue balance at the beginning ofthe period was $1,351 and $1,356, respectively. 

Timing of Billing and Petformance 

Difference in the timing of revenue recognition and associated billings and cash collections result in recording of bi lied 
accounts receivable, unbilled accounts receivable (including contract assets), and deferred revenue on the consolidated balance 
sheet. Amounts are billed in accordance with the agreed-upon contrach1al terms, resulting in recording unbilled accounts 
receivable in instances where the right to bill is contingent solely on the passage oftime, and contract assets in instances where 
the right to consideration is conditional on something other than the passage of time. 

Revenue from Leasing Arrangements 

Revenue from leasing arrangements is not subject to the revenue standard for contracts with customers and remains separately 
accounted for under ASC 842, including leases for the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023. The Company recorded 
service revenue from lease arrangements of $224 and $429 for years ended December 31. 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 
Company records revenue from the sale of hardware devices under sales-type leases as device revenue in an amount equal to 
the present value of minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease. Sales-type leases also produce frnancing income, 
which is included in device revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss and is recognized at 
effective rates of return over the lease term. 

Costs of Obtaining or Fulfilling Contracts 

The Company incurs incremental costs of obtaining contracts with customers. Incremental costs of obtaining contracts, which 
include commissions paid as a result of obtainii1g contracts with customers, are capitalized to the extent that the Company 
expects to recover such costs. Capitalized costs are amortized in a pattern that is consistent with the Company's transfer to the 
customer of the related goods and services. Such costs are recorded in Other long tem1 assets and were $490 and $391 as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. DUJring the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized 
$ 1,043 and $6 17, respectively, in expense related to the amortization of the capitalized contract costs. 

Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had remaining performance obligations amounting to $5,644 and $5,481 , 
respectively. The Company expects to recognize approximately 37% of its remaining performance obligations as revenue in 
2025, and an additional 63% in 2026 and thereafter. 

Significant Judgements 

The Company makes significant judgments applying the guidance related to the detem1ination of the timing and pattern of 
satisfaction ofperfonnance obligations, determination of the standalone selling price ofperfonnance obligations and estimation 
of variable consideration if any. 

The Company's products are generally sold without a right of return, and the Company's contracts generally provide a fixed 
transaction price. The Company reviews payment terms extending beyond one year. If it is detenruned that a material financing 
component exists, the Company recognize this as interest income over the financing tem1. The Company applies the practical 
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expedient to not adjust for a material financing component if the gap between payment and delivery was expected, at the 
contract inception, to be less than one year. 

The SSP ofperfonnance obligations is determined based on market assessment of the SSPs for which the Company expects to 
sell the respective goods and services on a standalone basis, including renewals of services. 

The contract consideration allocation is based on the SSP at contract inception. The consideration (net of any discounts) is 
allocated among separate products and services based on their relative SSPs. Contract modifications typically add additional 
goods or services or change pr icing. For such modifications, the most recent SSP is used for reallocation to the remaining 
performance obligations. 

The Company recognizes revenue for certain performance obligations at the point in time when control is transferred, such as 
the delivery of products. Service revenue is recognized over the tenn of the service period as the customer benefits from the 
services throughout the service period. 

Practical Expedients and Accounting Policy Elections 

As a practical expedient, the Company does not adjust transaction price for the effects of a significant financing component in 
contracts in which the period between when the Company transfers the promised good or service to the customer and when the 
customer pays for that good or service is one year or less. 

The Company has made an accounting policy election to exclude all sales taxes from the transaction price of its contracts with 
customers. Accordingly, sales taxes collected fTom customers and remitted to government authorities are not included in 
revenue and are accmmted for as a liability until they have been remitted to the respective government authority. 

4. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Fair value estimates offmanciial instruments are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant information about fmancial 
markets and specific financial instruments. As these estimates are subjective in nature, involving uncertainties and matters of 
significant judgment, they cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions can significantly affect estimated fa ir 
value. 

The Company measures fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit 
price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the reporting date. The Company utilizes a three-tier hierarchy, 
which prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value: 

Level 1 - Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that an entity has the 
ability to access. 

Level 2-Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities 
in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable data for substantially the 
full tenn of the assets or liabilities. 

Level3 - Valuations based on inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair 
value of the. assets or liabilities. The Company bas no assets or liabilities valued with Level 3 inputs. 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities 
approximates their fair values due to the short-term or on demand nature of these instruments. 

There were no transfers between fair value measurement levels during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

The Company had $37,451 and $74,685 of money market funds and demand deposit accotmts included in cash and cash 
equivalents and restricted cash as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, respectively. These assets were valued using quoted prices 
in active markets and accordingly were classified as Level I . 
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A summary of inventories are as follows at December 31: 

2024 2023 
Raw materials 
Finished goods 
Total inventories 

$ 3,070 $ 1,757 
2,762 4,825 

$ 5,832 =$ ====6::.1:,5=8=2 

Manufacturing overhead costs primarily include management's best estimate and allocation of the labor costs incurred related 
to acquiring finished goods from the Company's contract manufacturer. Labor costs include wages, taxes and benefits for 
employees involved in warehousing, logistics coordination, material sourcing, and production planning activities. The majority 
of these overhead costs have been written off based on the Company's analysis of net realizable value. 

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

Property and equipment, net, are recorded at historical cost and consist of the following at December 31: 

Laboratory equipment 
Research devices 
Sales and marketing devices 
Computer equipment 
Construction in progress 
Tooling 
Trade show assets 
Leased devices 
Other 
Gross property and equipment 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 
Property and equipment, net 

2024 
$ 

$ 

986 
1,398 

490 
689 

1,229 
857 
254 
181 
595 

6,679 
(3,557) 
3,122 

2023 
$ 

$ 

Depreciation expense amounted to $1,009 and $1 ,054 for the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

7. ROU ASSETS AND LEASES LIABILITIES 

986 
1,532 

490 
668 
595 
505 
254 
397 
611 

6,038 
{3,039) 
2,999 

The Company has operating leases for its corporate offices, including its Palo Alto, California lease agreement which expires 
on April 30, 2026 and a warehouse lease agreement in Guilford, Connecticut which expires on February 28, 2026. As of 
December 31, 2024, the balance of operating lease ROU assets of$341 , current lease liabilities of$269, and non-current lease 
liabilities of $78 which are included in the Company's condensed consoUdated balance sheets in other long term assets, accrued 
expenses and other current liabilities. 

The weighted-average remaining lease tenn associated with the measurement of our operating lease obligations is 16 months 
and the weighted-average discotmt rate is 9.13%. 

Future minimum c01runitments due under the lease agreements as of December 31 , 2024, are $269 for 2025 and $78 thereafter. 
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8. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist oftbe following at December 31: 

Bonuses 
Contracted services 
Legal fees 
Payroll and related benefits 
Operating lease liabilities 
Other 
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilit ies 

9. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Common Stock At-the-Market (ATM) Offering Program 

$ 

$ 

2024 
2,144 
1,755 

176 
756 
269 
473 

5,573 

2023 
$ 2,463 

1,237 
412 
676 
185 
446 

$ 5,419 

On November 9, 2023, the Company filed a $ 1 50,000 shelf registration statement on Form S-3, which became effective on 
November 22, 2023, and includes a prospectus (the "Sales Agreement Prospectus") covering up to an aggregate of $50,000 in 
shares of Class A common stock that the Company may issue and sell from time to time, through B. Riley Securities, Inc. ("B. 
Riley") acting as its sales agent, pursuant to the sales agreement that the Company entered into with B. Riley in November 
2023 (the "Sales Agreement"), for its "at-the-market" ("ATM") equity program. The shelf registration statement is effective 
for three years and pennits the Company to sell, from time to time, up to $ 150,000 in aggregate value of its Class A common 
stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants., and/or units. The shelf registration statement is intended to provide the 
Company with flexibility to access additional capital when market conditions are appropriate. 

As ofDecember 31, 2024 and during year ended December 31 , 2024, a total of771 ,721 shares of Class A common stock have 
been issued and sold under the Sales Agreement, for gross proceeds of $881 and net proceeds of $828, after deducting 
commissions and other offering expenses related to the ATM. 

Equity Incentive Plans 

Hypetjine Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan and Inducement Option Grant 

The Company's equity incentive plans include the Company's 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Hyperfme Plan") and the 
Company has made an inducement option grant outside of the Hyperfme Plan in accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 
5635(c)(4). The Hyperfine Plan is administered by the Company's board of directors. The board of directors may grant 
restricted stock and options to purchase shares either as incentive stock options or non-qualified stock options. The option 
grants are subject to certain terms and conditions, option periods and conditions, exercise rights and privileges as set forth in 
the Hyperfine Plan. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the number of shares available for grant increased by 2,875,851 
shares pursuant to the evergreen provision in the Hyperfine Plan that provides for an automatic annual increase in the number 
of shares available for grant under the Hyperfine Plan equal to the lesser of (i) 4% of the number of outstanding shares of 
common stock outstanding on the first day of the fiscal year, and (ii) an amount determined by the administrator of the 
Hyperfine Plan, beginning in fiscal year 2022 and ending on the second day of fiscal year 2031. At December 31 , 2024, 
4, 76 1 ,687 shares of conunon stock remain available for issuance under t!he H yperfine Plan. 

Prior to the Business Combination, Legacy Hyperftne and Liminal were distinct entities with separate equity incentive plans for 
their employees and nonemployees. Both plans were subsequently adopted and assumed by the Company as a consequence of 
the Business Combination. 

Stock option activity 

Each stock option grant carries varying vesting schedules whereby the options become exercisable at the participant's sole 
discretion provided they are an employee, director or consultant of the Company on the applicable vesting date. Each option 
shall terminate not more than ten years from the date of the grant. 
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company granted new hire employee grants of stock options to purchase 
927,000 shares of the Company's Class A common stock. In addition, the Company granted an annual employee grants of stock 
options and special employee grants of stock options to purchase 2,046, 783 shares of the Company's Class A common stock, 
and granted to executive officers stock options to purchase 2,435,000 shares of the Company's Class A common stock. Each of 
these grants vest as to 25% on the first anniversary date of the grant with the remainder vesting equally over the remaining 36 
months, subject to the employee's continued service to the Company through the applicable vesting dates. 

During the year ended December 31 , 2024, the Company's nonemployee directors were each granted non-qualified stock 
options to purchase 79,200 shares of the Company's Class A common stock effective as of June 12, 2024, for a total of396,000 
shares of the Company's Class A common stock underlying the options, which will vest on June 12, 2025. 

During the year ended December 31 , 2023, the Company granted new hire employee grants of stock options to purchase 
588,000 shares of the Company's Class A common stock. In addition, the Company granted an annual employee grants of stock 
options and special employee grants of stock options to purchase 2,014,211 shares of the Company's Class A common stock, 
and granted to executive officers of stock options to purchase 668,400 shares of the Company's Class A common stock. Each of 
these grants vest as to 25% on the first anniversary date of the grant with the remainder vesting equally over the remaining 36 
months, subject to the employee's continued service to the Company through the applicable vesting dates. 

During the first quarter of 2023, the Company granted inducement stock options to purchase I ,000,000 shares of Class A 
common stock to the Company's Chief Administrative Officer and Chief Financial Officer outside of the Hyperfine Plan and in 
accordance with Nasdaq Listil!lg Rule 5635(c)(4) which will vest based on continued service over a four year period. 

During the year ended December 31 , 2023, the Company' s nonemployee directors were each granted non-qualified stock 
options to purchase 112,000 shares of the Company's Class A common stock effective as of June 9, 2023, for a total of 560,000 
shares of the Company's Class A common stock underlying the options, which will vest on June 9, 2024. In addition, a one­
time special award was granted to three nonemployee directors of non-qualified stock options to purchase 85,000 shares 
effective as of June 9, 2023, for a total of255,000 shares of the Company's Class A common stock, which will vest as to 50% 
on June 9, 2024 and June 9, 2025. 

On June 9, 2023, a one-time special grant of non-qualified stock options to purchase 237,437 shares of the Company's Class A 
common stock was granted to the Company's Chairperson pursuant to the Hyperfine Plan effective as of June 9, 2023, which 
will vest as to I 00% on the fifth anniversary of June 9, 2023, subject to the Chairperson's continued service to the Company 
through the vesting date. Concurrently, one of the non-qualified options previously granted to the Company's Chairperson to 
purchase 237,437 shares of Class A common stock was cancelled. 

All options granted by the Company during the years ended December 3 I , 2024 and 2023 were granted with exercise prices 
equal to the estimated fair value of the Company's common stock at the date of grant, as detennjned by the Company's board of 
directors. 
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A summary of the stock option activity under the Hyperfrne Plan is presented in the table below: 

Weighted 
Average 

Number of Exercise 
O~tions Price 

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term 

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value 
Outstanding at January I , 2023 10,719,564 $ 1.34 8.75 $ 157 
Granted 5,323,048 
Exercised (210,234) 
Forfeited I Expired {1,560,791) 
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 14,271 ,587 
Granted 5,804,783 
Exercised (282,823) 
Forfeited I Expired {1!397!011) 
Outstanding at December 31, 2024 18,396,536 

Options exercisable at December 31, 2024 8,476,410 

Ves ted or expected to vest at December 3 I , 2024 18,396,536 

1.65 
0.83 
1.41 

$ 1.46 
0.99 
0.60 
1.19 

$ 1.34 
$ 1.61 

$ 1.34 

8.30 

7.11 

7.99 

$ 1,764 

$ 56 

$ 95 

The Company received cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options of$171 and $174 during the years ended December 
31 , 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The total intrinsic value (the amount by which the stock price exceeds the exercise price of the option on the date of exercise) 
of the stock options exercised during the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, was $ 114 and $156, respectively. The 
weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023 was $0.57 and 
$0.96, respectively. 

During the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized $3,614 and $3,800, respect ively, of share-based 
compensation expense for stock options granted to employees and nonemployee directors. 

Tax benefits from tax deductions for exercised options and disqualifying dispositions in excess of the deferred tax asset 
attributable to stock compensation costs for such options are credited to additional paid-in capital. The benefits are recognized 
against income taxes. Realized excess tax benefits related to stock options exercises was zero for each of the years ended 
December 31 , 2024 and 2023. 

As of December 31, 2024, there was approximately $6,163 of unrecognized compensation cost, related to unvested stock 
options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.63 years. 

Stock option valuation inputs 

The Company utilized the Black-Scholes option pricing model for determining the estimated fair value for service awards. The 
Black-Scholes model requires the use of subjective assumptions which detem1ine the fair value of stock-based awards. The 
assumptions used to value option grants to employees and nonemployees for the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023 
were as follows: 

Risk Free interest rate 
Expected dividend yield 
Expected term 
Expected volatility 
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2024 
3.59% - 4.66% 

0% 
5.50-6.76 years 

55% -66% 

2023 
3.32% -4.8% 

0 % 
5.50-7.50 years 

55% -66% 
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The risk free. interest rate for periods within the expected term of the awards is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect 
at the time of the grant. 

Expected dividend y ield 

The Company has never decla red or paid any cash dividends and does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable 
future. 

Expected term 

For employee awards, the Company calculates the expected term using the "simplified" method, which is the simple average of 
the vesting period and the contractual term. The simplified method is applied as the Company does not have sufficient 
historical data to provide a reasonable basis for an estimate of the expected tenn. The Company calculates expected term for 
employee awards that take into account the effects of employee's expected exercise and post-vesting employment tennination 
behavior. 

Expected volatility 

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the expected volatility was detennined using the historical volatilities of 
several publicly listed peer companies over a period equivalent to the expected term of the awards, as the Company does not 
have sufficient historical data to provide a reasonable basis for an estimate of the expected volatility. 

Exercise price 

The exercise price is taken directly from the grant notice issued to employees and nonemployees. 

The stock options granted to the Company's employees and nonemployees for the periods presented were as follows: 

Stock options granted to employees 
Stock options granted to nonemployee directors 
Total stock options granted 

Restricted Stock Units 

2024 
5,408,783 

396,000 
5,804,783 

2023 
4,270,61] 
1,052,437 
5,323,048 

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company's outstanding restricted stock units ("RSUs") for the year ended 
December 31, 2024: 

Outstanding at January I , 2023 
Granted 
Released 
Forfeited 
Expired 
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 
Granted 
Released 
Forfeited 
Outstanding at December 31 , 2024 
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Number of 
RSUs 

1,585,359 
29,000 

( 1,008,283) 
(237,050) 

369,026 

(181 ,694) 
(48,430) 
138,902 
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company did not grant runy RSUs. 

During the year ended December 31 , 2023, the Company granted 29,000 RSUs to employees of the Company. The RSUs vest 
over a four year period, contingent on the ongoing service of the employees. The grant date fair value of the RSUs was 
measured using the fair value of the underlying Class A common stock, which had prices ranging from $0.85 to $1.36 per share 
on the grant date. The total grant date fair value of $34 will be recognized evenly over the four year period as the service 
condition is satisfied. 

The Company recognized $747 and $941 of share-based compensation expense, related to RSUs during the years ended 
December 31,2024 and 2023. No RSUs were granted during the year ended December 31,2024 and the weighted average 
grant date fair value per share ofRSUs granted was $ 1.16 for the years ended December 31, 2023. The aggregate fair market 
value of RSUs that vested during the year ended December 31, 2024 was $177. 

Earn-Out Shares 

During the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, no Earn-Out Shares were granted. These Earn-Out Shares fall within the 
scope of ASC 718, pursuant to which such Earn-Out Shares are equity classified and their grant date fair value will be 
recognized as compensation expense over the derived service period. 

During the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the Company did not record any share-based compensation expense 
related to Earn-Out Shares. 

As of December 22, 2024, the earn-out shares pursuant to the Business Combination agreement, Section 2.9 (the "Earn-Out 
Shares") have expired as a result of the vesting conditions not being achieved. 

Stock-Based Cornpensation Expense 

The Company's stock-based compensation expense for the periods presented was as follows: 

Cost of sales 
Research and development 
General and administrative 
Sales and marketing 
Total stock-based compensation expense 

2024 

$ 

2023 
83 109 

1,449 1,283 
2,640 3,162 

190 187 
4,362 $ 4,741 

Total mrrecognized stock-based compensation expense as of December 31, 2024 was $6,499 which will be recognized over the 
remaining vesting period of2.35 years. 

10. NET LOSS PER SHARE 

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weigll!ed-average number of shares of common stock of the 
Company outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed by giving effect to all common equivalent 
shares of the Company, including outstanding stock options, RSUs and Earn-Out Shares, to the extent dilu'tive. Basic and 
diluted net loss per share was the same for each period presented as the inclusion of all common equivalent shares of the 
Company outstanding would have been anti-dilutive. 
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The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the Company's cotmnon stock: 

2024 2023 
Numerator: 
Net Loss $ {40,720) $ {44,238) 
Numerator for Basic and Di.lutive net loss per share -loss available to common 
stockholders $ {40,720) $ {44,238) 

Denominator: 
Common Stock 72,413,541 71,316,424 
Denominator for Basic and Dilutive net loss per share weighted - average common 
stock 72,413,541 71,316,424 
Basic and dil utive net loss per share $ (0.56) $ (0.62) 

Net loss per share attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders was the same on a basic and diluted basis, as the 
inclusion of all common equivalent shares outstanding would have been anti-dilutive. Anti-dilutive common equivalent shares 
were as follows: 

Outstanding options to purchase common stock 
Outstanding RSUs 
Earn-Out Shares (I) 
Total anti-dilutive common equivalent shares 

2024 
18,396,536 

138,902 

18,535,438 

2023 
14,271 ,587 

369,026 
9,357,835 

23,998,448 

( I) The Company will issue to holders of Hyper fine and Liminal securities as of immediately prior to the effective time of the Mergers, in 
accordance with their pro rata share, up to 10,000,000 shares of Class A common stock as earn-out considemtion (the "Eam-Out Shares") net 
of forfeitures, if at any time during the period between the Closing Date of December 22, 2021 and the third anniversary of the Closing Date 
(the "Earn-Out Period"), (i) the last rep011ed sale price of the Class A common stock is greater than or equal to $15.00 for any 20 trading days 
within any 30 consecutive trading day period, or (ii) there is a transaction that will result in shares of Class A common stock being converted 
or exchanged Ento the right to receive cash or other consideration having a value greater than or equal to $ 15.00. During the Earn-Out Period, 
if there is a transaction (other than for stock splits, stock dividends, special cash dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations or similar 
transactions affecting the Class A common stock) that will result in the shares of Class A common stock being converted or exchanged into 
the right to receive cash or other consideration having a value less than $15.00, then the right to receive Eam-Out Shares will terminate. As of 
December 22, 2024, the eam-out shares pursuant to the Eam-Out Shares expired as a result of the vesting conditions not being achieved. 

ll. INCOME TAXES 

Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows: 

Gross deferred tax assets (liabilities): 
Net operati.ng loss carryforwards 
Tax credit carryforwards 
Fixed assets 
Stock-based compensation 
Capitalized R&D 
Deferred revenue 
Other 

Total deferred tax assets 
Valuation allowance 
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) 

$ 

$ 
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As of December 31, 
2024 2023 

52,441 $ 
4,173 
(130) 

3,044 
11 ,780 

612 
256 

72,176 
02,176) 

$ 

45,197 
3,975 
(138) 

2,398 
8,594 

669 
122 

60,817 
(60,817) 
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The Company had no income tax expense due t o federal and state net operating losses incurred for the years ended December 
31 , 2024 and 2023. The Company has also not recorded any income tax benefits for its federal and state net operating losses 
incurred in each period due to uncertainty of realizing the benefit from those items. All of the Company's losses before income 
taxes were generated in the United States. The effective tax rate for the Company for the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 
2023 was zero percent. A reconciliation of the income tax expense at the federal statutory tax rate to the Company's effective 
income tax rate follows: 

Statutory tax rate 
State taxes, net of federal benefit 
Federal research and development credit 
Stock-based compensation 
Deferred tax adjustment resulting from tax rate change 
Other 
Valuation allowance 
Effective tax rate 

As of December 31, 
2024 2023 

21.0% 
5.7% 
-% 

(1.2)% 
2.6% 

(0.2)% 
(27.9)% 

0.0% 

21.0% 
1.9% 

(3.9)% 
(1.8)% 
(0.2)% 
(0.2)% 

(16.8)% 
0 .. 0% 

The Company's effective tax rate for December 31, 2024 and 2023 differs from the federal statutory tax rate of21 % mainly 
due to the effect of deferred state income tax benefits resulting from state net operating loss carryforwards, the tax effects 
related to fed!eral and state research and development tax credits, and the effects of nondeductible stock based compensation. 
The net effect of these items is fully offset by the increase in the Company's valuation allowance from the prior year. 

The Company has established a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of the 
Company's ability to generate sufficient taxable income to realize the deferred tax assets, and therefore has not recognized any 
benefits from the net operating losses, tax credits and other deferred tax assets. The Company's valuation allowance increased 
$ 11 ,360 and $7,451 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

As of December 31,2024, the Company had the following tax net operating loss carryforwards available to reduce future 
federal and state taxable income, and tax credit carryforwards available to offset future federal and state income taxes: 

Hyperfme tax net operating loss carry forwards: 
Federal (pre-2018 NOLs) 
Federal (post-2017 NOLs) 
States 

Tax credit carryforwards: 
Federal research and development 
Connecticut research and development 
Connecticut others 
Federal others 

Liminal tax net operating loss carryforwards: 
Federal (pre-2018 NOLs) 
Federal (post-2017 NOLs) 
Stales 

Tax credit carryforwards: 
Federal research and development 
C01mecticut research and development 
Federal and state other 

$ 

$ 
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Hl:~erfine 
Amount Begin to Ex~ire in 

12,084 2034 
183,030 No Expiration 
124,274 2031 

2,440 2034 
1,538 No Expiration 

6 2025 
2 2025 

Liminal 
Amount B£gin to Ex~ ir e in 

15,625 No Expiration 
15,621 2038 

448 2038 
81 No Expiration 
2 2025 
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Under Internal Revenue Code Section 382, if a corporation undergoes an "ownership change," the corporation' s ability to use 
its pre-change net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards to offset its post-change income and tax liabEiities may be limited. 
Generally, an ownership change occurs when certain shareholders increase their aggregated ownership by more than 50 
percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage in a testing period (typically three years). The Company performed a 
Section 382 analysis in 2021 for Legacy Hyperfme to determine whether an ownership change had occurred. Based on this 
analysis, Legacy Hyperfine experienced two consecutive ownership changes, one on January 17,2017, and one on May 16, 
2017. As a result, Legacy Hyperfine's net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards as o f December 31, 2020 are subject to a 
Section 382 Limitation. The January 17, 2017 ownership change resulted in an annual limitation of $865 and the May 16, 2017 
ownership change resulted in an annual limitation of$3,008. The first (earlier) limitation will limit the deduction of pre-change 
losses and credits arising before the first ownership change. The second (later) ownership change creates another limit to 
deduction of those pre-change losses and credits. However, the second ownership change does not allow for a "step-up" of the 
first limitation and therefore the pre-January 17, 2017 losses and credits are still subject to the first limitation amount. Due to 
these limitations, the Company estimates that $3,125 and $249 of the federal net operating loss and research and development 
credit carryforwards, respectively, will expire before utilization. Accordingly, Legacy Hyperftne's gross deferred tax assets and 
corresponding valuation allowance have been adjusted to reflect the estimated expirations. In addition, as a result of the 
Business Combination and any other equity issuances since the last ownership change, the Company may have experienced 
additional ownership changes as of December 31, 2024. As of December 31 , 2024, the Company has not completed an 
additional Section 382 analysis to determine whether any successive ownership changes have occurred. 

The Company has adopted the accounting guidance within ASC Topic 740 on uncertainties in income taxes. ASC Topic 740 
prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the fmancial statement recognition and measurement of a tax 
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. 

As ofDecember 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not have any unrecognized tax benefits. To the extent penalties and 
interest would be assessed on any underpayment of income tax, the Company's policy is that such amounts would be accrued 
and classified as a component of income tax expense in the consolidated financial statements. To date, the Company has not 
recorded any such interest or penalties. 

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal and various state jurisdictions. As a result of the Company's net 
operating loss carry forwards, the Company's federal and state statutes oflimitations generally remain open for all tax years 
until its net operating loss and tax credit ca:rryforwards are utilized or expire prior to utilization. The Company does not 
currently have any federal or state income tax examinations in progress. 

Additionally, as a result of legislation in the state of Connecticut, companies have the opportunity to exchange certain research 
and development tax credit carryforwards for a cash payment of 65% of the research and development tax credit. The research 
and development expenses that qualify for Connecticut credits are limited to those costs incurred within Connecticut. The 
Company has elected to participate in the exchange program and, as a result, has recognized net benefits of$173 and $87 for 
the years ended December 31. 2024 and 2023, respectively, which is included in research and development expenses in the 
accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive loss. As of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the Company has 
recorded $254 and $168 of the research and development tax credit receivables in Prepaid expenses and other current assets on 
the Company's consolidated balance sheets, respectively. 

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Company utilizes and subleases office and lab space in Connecticut, which is being leased from an unrelated landlord by 
4Catalyzer Corporation ("4C''), which is owned by a related party. The Company pays rent to 4C on a month-to-month basis. A 
total of approximately $509 and $399 was paidl during years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Legacy Hyperfine entered into a Master Services Agreement (the "Master Services Agreement") with 4C effective as of July 7, 
2021 pursuant to which Hyperfine may engage 4C to provide services such as general administration, facilities, information 
technology, financing, legal, human resources and other services, through future statements of work and under tenns and 
conditions to be determined by the parties with respect to any services to be provided. The Company paid an aggregate of$ 132 
and $ 178 during the years ended December 3 1, 2024 and 2023, respectively, under the Master Services Agreement. As of each 
of December 31 , 2024 and December 31 , 2023, there was $61 due to 4C for expenses paid on the Company's behalf. These 
payables are included in due to related parties on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. 
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13. COMMITMENTS AND CO NTINGENCIES 

Commitments 

The Company sponsors a 40l(k) defmed contribution plan covering all eligible U.S. employees. Contributions to the 40l(k) 
plan are discretionary. The Company did not make any matching contributions to the 40 l(k) plan for the years ended December 
31, 2024 or 2023. 

During 2020 and 2021 , the Company was awarded multiple grants totaling $4,910 from the BMGF for the provision and equipping 
of sites with the Company's portable MR. brain imaging system to enable the perfonnance of a multi-site study focused on 
optimizing diagnostic image quality. These grants were designed to provide data to validate the use of the Swoop® system in 
measuring the impact of maternal anemia, malnutrition, infection and birth related injury. All of these grants were designed to 
support the deployment of a total of 25 Swoop® system devices and other services to investigators, which commenced in the 
spring of2021 and was completed by February 2024. In May 2023, the Company was awarded an additional $3,354 grant from the 
BMGF to continue to develop a scalable approach to measuring neurodevelopment via low-field MRI in neonates, infants, and 
young children in low-to-middle income countries through February 2026. The fimds were accounted for as restricted cash with a 
corresponding credit to deferred grant funding. Any grant funds, plus any interest income, that have not been used for, or 
committed to, the project must be returned promptly to the BMGF upon expiration of or tennination of the agreement. During the 
year ended December 31, 2024, the Company completed and fulfilled gTant deliverables and milestones amounting to $ 1,709 and 
received cash grant funding of$1 ,122. As of December 31 , 2024, the Company recorded restricted cash of $28 with an offset to 
deferred grant funding in the Company's unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, 
there were no grant f1md amounts that were required to be returned under the terms of the project. 

Purchase Commitments 

The Company's purchase commitments and obligations include all open purchase orders and contractual obligations in the 
ordinary course of business, including commitments with contract manufacturers and suppliers, for which the Company has not 
received the goods or services. A majority of these purchase obligations are due within a year. Although open purchase orders are 
considered enforceable and legally binding, the tenns generally allow the Company the option to cancel, reschedule, and adjust its 
requirements based on the Company's business needs prior to the delivery of goods or perfonnance of services. 

Contingencies 

The Company does not have any outst~mding or ongoing litigation and legal matters where, based on present information, 
including its assessment of the merits of the particular claims, the Company believes it is reasonably possible that any asserted 
or unasserted legal claims or proceedings, individually or in aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on its results of 
operations or financial condition. The ultimate outcome of any legal matter cannot be predicted with certainty. 

The Company has indemnification obligations under some agreements that the Company enters into with other parties in the 
ordinary course of business, including business partners, investors, contractors, and the Company's officers, directors and 
certain employees. The Company has agreed to indemnify and defend the indemnified party claims and related losses suffered 
or incurred by the indemnified party from actual or threatened third-party claim because of the Company's activities or non­
compliance with certain representations and warranties made by the Company. It is not possible to detemliine the maximum 
potential loss under these indemnification provisions due to the Company's limited history of prior indemnification claims and 
the tmique facts and circumstances involved in any particular case. To date, losses recorded in the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive loss in cmmection with the indemnification provisions have not been material. 

The Company agreed to pay $ 1,000 to a third-party service provider upon the receipt by the Companies' pre-closing equity 
holders of any Earn-Out Shares. The Company determined the probability of such payment based on the probability of vesting 
of such Earn-Out Shares to be not probable thus no liability was recognized. As of December 22, 2024, the eam-out shares 
have expired as a result of the vesting conditions not being achieved. 
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(all amounts are in thousands, except share and per share data) 

14. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION 

The Company operates in one business segment, which includes all activities related to production, supply, service and 
commercialization of the Swoop® system. The determination of a single business segment is consistent with the consolidated 
financial information regularly provided to the Company' s chief operating decision maker ("CODM"). The Company' s CODM 
is its Chief Executive Officer, who reviews consolidated net loss to measure segment profit or loss, allocate resources, and 
assess perfonnance. Further, the CODM is regularly provided with and utilizes consolidated functional expenses, as presented 
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, and total assets at the consolidated level, as included in the 
consolidated balance sheets herein, to manage the Company's operations. 

All of the Company's long-lived assets are located in the United States. Non-U.S. revenue is attributed to revenue from 
customer located in foreign countries. Other than $6,394 and $4,362 of revenue recognized in non-U.S. countries for the years 
ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, respectively, all of the revenues during these periods were earned in the United States. 
Since the Company has a sing le reportable segment, all required fmancial segment information is provided in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On January 28, 2025, the Company implemented an organizational restructuring designed to decrease its costs and create a 
more streamlined organization to support its business priorities. As a result, the Company has terminated approximately 14% of 
its global workforce. The restructuring affects employees predominantly in teclmical positions. In connectuon with the 
restructuring, the Company estimated it will incur up to $0.4 million of costs, consisting primarily of cash severance costs, 
other severance benefits and other related restmcturing costs_ The Company expects to substantially complete the restructuring 
in the first quarter of2025. 

On Febmary I I , 2025, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain institutional investors (the 
"Investors"), pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell, in a registered direct offering by the Company directly to 
the Investors (the "Offering"): (i) 4,511 ,278 shares (the "Shares") of the Company's Class A common stock and (ii) warrants to 
purchase up to 4,511 ,278 shares of the Company's Class A common stock (the "Warrants"). Each Share and accompanying 
Warrant were sold together at a combined offer ing price of $ 1.33. The aggregate gross proceeds to the Company from the 
Offering were $6,000 before deducting the placement agent's fees and offering expenses. 
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